INVERSE PROBLEMS FOR GRAPH LAPLACIANS

MARLENA NOWACZYK



LUND UNIVERSITY

Faculty of Engineering Centre for Mathematical Sciences Mathematics Mathematics Centre for Mathematical Sciences Lund University Box 118 SE-221 00 Lund Sweden

http://www.maths.lth.se/

Doctoral Theses in Mathematical Sciences 2007:8 ISSN 1404-0034

ISBN 978-91-628-7364-6 LUTFMA-1027-2007

© Marlena Nowaczyk, 2007

Printed in MEDIA-TRYCK by Lund, Sweden 2007

Preface

This thesis is devoted to inverse spectral problems for Laplace operators on metric graphs, and it is based on the following papers:

Paper I	P. Kurasov and M. Nowaczyk 2005 Inverse spectral problem for quantum
	graphs J. Phys. A: Math. Gen 38 4901–15

- Paper II M. Nowaczyk 2007 Inverse spectral problem for quantum graphs with rationally dependent edges *Operator Theory, Analysis and Mathematical Physics* Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 147 105–16
- Paper III P. Kurasov and M. Nowaczyk 2007 Geometric properties of quantum graphs and vertex scattering matrices, Preprint 2007:21 Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Lund University.
- Paper IV S. Avdonin, P. Kurasov and M. Nowaczyk 2007 On the Reconstruction of the Boundary Conditions for Star Graphs, Preprint 2007:29 Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Lund University.

In the first paper, we prove the trace formula and show that it can be used to reconstruct the metric graph in the case of rationally independent lengths of the edges and the Laplace operator with standard boundary conditions at the vertices.

The second paper generalises this result by showing that the condition of rational independence of lengths of the edges can be weakened.

In the third paper the possibility to parameterise vertex boundary conditions via the scattering matrix is investigated. The trace formula is generalised to include even arbitrary vertex boundary conditions leading to energy independent vertex scattering matrices, so-called non-resonant boundary conditions.

In the last paper, we turn to the problem of recovering boundary conditions and solve it for the special case of the star graph.

iv

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Pavel Kurasov for the great support he has been continuously offering to me during the whole period of my PhD studies, and especially for his encouragement and endless patience. I am grateful for all the time he has devoted to tutoring me.

I also wish to express my sincere thanks to Gunnar Sparr for his support and guidance.

I am deeply grateful to all the teachers, secretaries and librarians, as well as all the other people in the Department of Mathematics for the really outstanding research environment they have built here. Special thanks go to Anki for her energy, presence and steady help with administrative (and other) problems that I have encountered.

I warmly thank my colleagues, especially Svetlana and Jens for their friendship; it was great to share rooms with you in various periods of my studies and to be able to talk with you about anything.

Last but not least, my thanks go to my beloved husband Slawek, who has shown great understanding and help towards this work as well as everything else I do.

v

vi

Contents

1.	Historical background	1
2.	Isospectral graphs	4
	2.1. "Can one hear the shape of a drum?"	4
	2.2. "Can one hear the shape of a graph?"	5
3.	Quantum graphs - definition	6
	3.1. Differential operators	6
	3.2. Self-adjoint boundary conditions for the Laplace operator	7
	3.3. Boundary conditions via the vertex scattering matrix	8
	3.4. Parameterisations of boundary conditions	11
4.	Boundary conditions and vertex scattering properties	13
	4.1. High energy asymptotics	13
	4.2. Vertex scattering matrix and connectivity	14
	4.3. Hyperplanar matching conditions	16
5.	Trace formula for non-resonant boundary conditions	17
6.	Uniqueness theorems for standard boundary conditions	22
	6.1. Graphs with rationally independent edges	23
	6.2. Graphs with rationally dependent edges	24
7.	Reconstruction of the boundary conditions of star graphs	26
	7.1. Asymptotically properly connecting matching conditions	27
	7.2. Properly connecting matching conditions	28
Bibliogr	raphy	29
Paper I		37
Paper II	I s	57
Paper II	Paper III	
Paper IV		95

CONTENTS

viii

Introduction

1. Historical background

Although the spectral problems for quantum graphs have only recently become a rapidly developing field of mathematics and mathematical physics, the first problems of this kind have already been studied in the fifties by K. Ruedenberg and others [66]. In 1988, B. S. Pavlov and N. I. Gerasimenko gave the first mathematically rigorous definition for a Schrödinger operator on a metric graph [31]. They considered the Schrödinger equation with real potentials $q_i(x)$ (where index *i* goes over all edges) and with standard boundary conditions at the vertices, both for compact graphs and for graphs with several semi-infinite branches. They have proven that the spectrum of the Schrödinger operator is discrete, provided that the potential is real, bounded from below and integrable, that the boundary conditions at the vertices are standard and that the graph is compact. At the same time, P. Exner and P. Šeba analysed numerous examples of quantum graphs [22; 23]. Besides the pure one dimensional case, they also studied more complicated structures: graphs with higher dimensional inclusions, such as a wire attached to a plane or graph superlattices [21]. Since then P. Exner has contributed to virtually all directions of research involving quantum graphs.

The above research was based on theory developed for the case of a finite interval, which can be seen as the simplest example of a geometric graph. The inverse spectral problem for the Schrödinger operator on a finite interval has been studied extensively in the middle of the last century. This problem consists of recovering the potential in the Schrödinger operator from its spectrum. One of the first mathematicians to study this problem was V. A. Ambarzumian, who proved in 1929 that in one exceptional case the spectrum of the Schrödinger operator *does* determine the potential uniquely [2]. In general, one needs two spectra in order to determine the potential, a fact shown by G. Borg [11]. Later on, I. M. Gelfand and B. M. Levitan [29] gave an explicit method for calculating the potential q(x), known today as the Gelfand-Levitan equation. Studies of the inverse spectral problem were being developed in close connection with the investigations of the inverse scattering problem on the infinite interval. The latter problem has been considered by G. Borg and V. A. Marchenko [12; 53]. These results have to be taken into account while investigating the inverse problems for metric graphs.

In the nineties and at the beginning of this century the spectral theory of quantum graphs experienced renaissance due to many potential applications in modern technology. Therefore, properties of arbitrary quantum graphs and different inverse problems have been investigated by numerous authors. These studies include not only conventional "locally" one-dimensional graphs but graphs with inclusions in the form of billiards and manifolds.

V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader have given the most general mathematically rigorous definition for a Schrödinger operator on a metric graph [40]. Their paper plays an important role in the theory of quantum graphs since then. In particular, they have described the most general vertex boundary conditions. The question of how to parameterise the boundary conditions has also been discussed by M. Harmer and P. Kuchment [37; 44; 45]. A detailed analysis of this topic is presented in section 3.4. of this thesis. In particular, we present a slightly novel parameterisation of the boundary conditions via the vertex scattering matrix, which has an advantage of being unique and having a straightforward relation with the connectivity of the graph (see section 4.2.). Recently, there have appeared two volumes entirely devoted to quantum graphs and we refer the reader to these volumes for most state-of-the-art developments of this theory. They also contain excellent introductions written by P. Kuchment [45; 46]. In addition we would like to mention important studies of spectral problems for quantum graphs carried out in series of papers by Solomyak [55; 56; 68; 69; 70; 71] and interesting examples of the two-dimensional periodic square graph lattice studied by K. Pankrashkin, V. Geyler and J. Brüning in [60; 15].

This thesis focuses on inverse problems for quantum graphs. To solve such a problem, one has to reconstruct:

- the metric graph,
- the real potential on the edges,
- the boundary conditions at the vertices.

At this moment only the inverse problem for quantum trees is close to being fully solved.

The inverse spectral and scattering problems for trees have been studied intensively in recent years, among others, by S. Avdonin, M. Belishev, M. Brown, R. Carlson, G. Freiling, P. Kurasov, A. Vakulenko, R. Weikard and V. Yurko [3; 6; 7; 13; 14; 17; 26; 27; 74]. It has been shown that the knowledge of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann map, or Titchmarsh-Weyl matrix function, allows one to calculate the potential for standard boundary conditions at the vertices. The case of more general boundary conditions has been discussed in [27], but the whole family of boundary conditions has not been investigated yet. In general, the methods used in inverse spectral problems for quantum graphs resemble very much the methods developed for ordinary differential operators. In particular, we discuss the problem of recovering boundary conditions for the special case of the star graph in paper IV. We believe that combination of the methods developed there, together with the boundary control method applied to quantum graphs in [3], will lead to a complete solution of the inverse problem for quantum trees. This is the main topic of section 7.

The spectral problems for general quantum graphs (i. e. with cycles) are much more sophisticated than those for trees. Therefore, in the literature one can find many more papers dealing with trees than with arbitrary graphs. The main reason is that the Cauchy problem, on a graph with cycles and for arbitrary Cauchy data, may possess infinitely many solutions or even cannot be solved at all. This is the main reason why differential equations on graphs have properties of both ordinary and partial differential equations. The corresponding inverse scattering problems were discussed in [52] by P. Kurasov and F. Stenberg. They have shown that, in general, the scattering matrix does not determine neither the topology of the graph, the potentials on the edges, nor the boundary conditions. Methods used in this work have been generalised by J. Boman and P. Kurasov in [10], where it is proven that operators on graphs with internal symmetries cannot be recovered from the scattering matrices. On the other hand, P. Kurasov has shown that the Euler characteristics of the graph can be calculated from the scattering matrix and discrete spectrum of Schrödinger operator with essentially bounded compactly supported potential [48; 49]. The method used in these latest papers is based on the trace formula first presented (without proof) by J.-P. Roth in [64]. The trace formula used was first given by T. Kottos and U. Smilansky [43], but without paying attention to the fact that the secular equation describing the spectrum in general does not determine the correct multiplicity of the eigenvalue zero.

B. Gutkin and U. Smilansky [36] have applied the trace formula to the inverse spectral problem for graphs with rationally independent lengths of the edges. Mathematically rigorous proof of the trace formula for the case of standard boundary conditions is given in paper I. In the same paper, we also present the rigorous algorithm of reconstructing the metric graph with rationally independent lengths of the edges from the spectrum of the Laplace operator. In paper II it is shown that the condition of rational independence can be weakened. Moreover, in paper III, the trace formula has been derived even for arbitrary vertex boundary conditions leading to energy independent vertex scattering matrices, so-called non-resonant boundary conditions (see section 5.)

The trace formula can be used to prove that the Euler characteristic of the underlying graph is determined by the spectrum of the Laplace operator [48; 49]. An explicit formula for the Euler characteristics has been derived for standard boundary conditions in the case of Schrödinger operator in [49]. The spectral properties of the Laplace operator for discrete graphs and the topological invariants have been also investigated by S. Novikov and Y. Colin de Verdière [19; 57].

Applications of quantum graphs arise in many fields of science, such as chemistry (free electron theory of conjugated molecules [34; 35; 66]), superconductivity (thin superconducting networks [1; 65]), nanotechnology (quantum wires circuits [22]), optics (photonic crystals [24; 47; 67]), scattering theory [31], averaging in dynamical systems [25], spectral theory of differential operators in singular domains [20] and others. Quantum graphs are also used as testing models for more realistic operators, since solving ordinary differential equations is in general easier than solving partial differential ones. Such quantum graphs are used in quantum chaos theory [55] and to model effects of electron propagation in non-simply-connected media [5]. Another example of practical application of quantum graphs in nanowires has been presented by M.-E. Pistol in [62; 63].

2. **Isospectral graphs**

In this section we present an example of two isospectral Laplace operators on graphs, which shows that already the problem to reconstruct the metric graph is not trivial. This example shows that the inverse spectral problem in general cannot be solved uniquely. It has served as a motivation for our research. This also explains the reason why only the Laplace operator is investigated in this thesis.

2.1. "Can one hear the shape of a drum?"

For two-dimensional manifolds, a corresponding inverse spectral problem was formulated in 1966 by M. Kac as "Can one hear the shape of a drum?" It turns out that methods developed for certain partial differential operators can be applied successfully to quantum graphs.

Mark Kac's question "Can one hear the shape of a drum?" mathematically means that, if D_1 and D_2 are two isospectral domains in the Euclidean plane, must D_1 and D_2 be actually isometric? In his paper M. Kac showed that the eigenvalues do determine certain properties of domain D, for example the area, the circumference and the number of connected components [39]. Two years earlier, in 1964, Milnor found two 16-dimensional tori that are not congruent but are nevertheless isospectral [54]. Later, it was proven that there exist non-isometric pairs of Riemannian manifolds that are, nevertheless, isospectral.



Figure 1: Two isospectral planar domains

Finally, in 1992, the M. Kac's question was answered, and this answer was negative (see [32] and [33]). Gordon, Webb and Wolpert, using the method developed by T. Sunada in [72], gave an explicit example of two non-isometric, simply-connected domains in the Euclidean plane which are both Dirichlet and Neumann isospectral. The Fig. 1b shows these two isospectral domains. Moreover, the authors of that pa-



Figure 2: Two isospectral but non-isometric graphs. The edge lengths are expressed in terms of the two arbitrary lengths a and b.

per pointed out that one can make a simple geometric substitution (inverse mapping showed in Fig. 1c) to get another two isospectral domains shown in Fig. 1a.

2.2. "Can one hear the shape of a graph?"

We can follow Kac's question and ask "Can one hear the shape of the graph?" B. Gutkin and U. Smilansky in the paper [36] have shown that the answer is negative. Their counterexample was based on the ideas developed by C. Gordon, D. Webb and S. Wolpert [32] and by S. J. Chapman [18]. A similar problem for networks was analysed by J. von Below in [8].

Intuitively, one of the ways to construct isospectral graphs is to take two isospectral domains shown in Fig. 1a and to choose the subset of V-shape of each triangle as suggested on Fig. 1c in order to obtain the domains like those in Fig. 1b. Next, we shrink the width of the branches of V-shape in such a way that one branch has length a and the other has length b. We obtain graphs presented in Fig. 2. From this construction, it is clear that the two graphs have the same spectrum, provided the differential operator and the boundary conditions are chosen properly. It is natural to consider the Laplace operator with standard boundary conditions (see section 3.3.) at all internal vertices and at loose endpoints one can choose either Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions.

It is possible to calculate the spectra of corresponding Laplace operators explicitly and to compare them. Preliminary calculations were presented in [36], while complete analysis has been carried out by the author of this thesis in [58] and later by E. Wernersson in [73]. The cases of standard boundary conditions at all internal vertices and Dirichlet and Neumann conditions at loose endpoints were considered in [58] and [73], respectively.

3. Quantum graphs - definition

By **quantum graph** we mean a geometric graph Γ with symmetric differential expressions on the edges and with boundary conditions at the vertices, which guarantee the self-adjointness of the operator.

Let N be the total number of edges in Γ . We will identify each edge Δ_j , $j = 1, 2, \ldots, N$, of the graph with the interval of the real line $\Delta_j = [x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}] \subset \mathbb{R}$. We will denote the length of each edge by $d_j = |x_{2j} - x_{2j-1}|$. Furthermore, let us denote by M the number of vertices in the graph, where each vertex V_m is a set of equivalent endpoints from $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^{2N}$. The valence (degree) of the vertex, i.e. the number of endpoints joined at V_m , will be denoted by v_m .

A geometric graph Γ can be equipped with the natural metric $\rho(x, y)$ induced by the distances on the intervals Δ_j and thus can be considered as a metric space. Notice that the graph Γ , as a set, contains not only the vertices but all points on the edges. Therefore, one can define the Lebesgue measure dx on the graph in a natural way. Any function f(x) on Γ is defined along each edge rather than only at the vertices as it would be in a discrete model.

In order to define a self-adjoint differential operator on Γ , let us consider the Hilbert space of square integrable functions on Γ :

$$\mathcal{H} \equiv L^{2}(\Gamma) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{N} L^{2}(\Delta_{j}) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{N} L^{2}[x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}].$$
 (1)

3.1. Differential operators

For quantum graphs, the most commonly used operator is the *Laplace operator*, which is equal to the negative second derivative:

$$L = \oplus_{j=1}^{N} \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x^2} \right) \ . \tag{2}$$

An example of a more general operator is the *Schrödinger operator* with potential q(x) on the edges

$$H = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{N} \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x^2} + q(x) \right) , \quad q(x) \in \mathbb{R},$$

where q belongs to the space of integrable functions L^1 .

Finally, one can analyse an even more general *magnetic Schrödinger operator*, with real potentials q(x) and A(x) being sufficiently smooth

$$H_M = \bigoplus_{j=1}^N \left(\left(\frac{1}{i} \frac{d}{dx_j} - A(x) \right)^2 + q(x) \right).$$

Higher order differential and even pseudo-differential operators have been used by various researchers in studies of quantum graphs (see, for example, [45; 23] and references therein). The problem of reconstructing the potential is very difficult in general case, therefore in this thesis, we will limit ourselves to the Laplace operator (2) only. This differential expression does not determine a self-adjoint operator uniquely and two differential operators in $L^2(\Gamma)$ are naturally associated with expression (2): the minimal operator L_{\min} with the domain $\text{Dom}(L_{\min}) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^N C_0^\infty(\Delta_j)$ and the maximal operator L_{\max} with the domain $\text{Dom}(L_{\max}) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^N W_2^2(\Delta_j)$, where W_2^2 denotes the Sobolev space:

$$W_2^2(\Delta_j) = \{ f \in L^2(\Delta_j) \mid f', f'' \in L^2(\Delta_j) \}.$$

The operator L_{max} is simply the adjoint operator to L_{min} , $L_{\text{max}} = L_{\text{min}}^*$.

3.2. Self-adjoint boundary conditions for the Laplace operator

In this and following sections we are going to discuss how to define boundary conditions at a vertex in such a way that operator on the graph is self-adjoint and boundary conditions are consistent with the vertex structure. As we will see later, the boundary conditions also determine how the edges match each other. Thus, we will sometimes use the name *matching conditions*, instead of "boundary conditions". In order to make our presentation more readable, we will start by studying the star graph, having in mind to generalise our considerations later for the case of more complicated graphs.

Let us consider a star graph Γ_{star} with v semi-infinite nodes $\Delta_j = [0, \infty), j = 1, 2, \ldots, v$, connected at one vertex V with valence v (equal to the number of edges connected at the vertex). In this case the Hilbert space of square integrable functions is



equal to

$$\mathcal{H} \equiv L^2(\Gamma) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{v} L^2([0,\infty)). \tag{3}$$

The Laplace operator on Γ_{star} is the sum of the second derivative operators on each interval Δ_j ,

$$\oplus_{j=1}^{v} \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x^2} \right). \tag{4}$$

and the domains of the minimal and the maximal operator L_{\min} and L_{\max} are given as $\text{Dom}(L_{\min}) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{v} C_0^{\infty}((0,\infty))$ and $\text{Dom}(L_{\max}) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{v} W_2^2((0,\infty))$. Every self-adjoint operator L associated with the differential expression (4) can be obtained by extending the minimal operator or by restricting the maximal one so that $L_{\min} \subset L \subset L_{\max}$. The domain of every such operator can be described using certain boundary conditions connecting boundary values of the functions on Γ_{star} at the vertex V.

Such self-adjoint extensions can be described using von Neumann formulae taking into account that L_{\min} is symmetric and has deficiency indices (v, v), while parameterisation via boundary conditions appears more appropriate due to their local character.

Another parameterisation of extensions of L_{\min} can be obtained using Lagrangian planes. Consider the boundary form of the maximal operator:

$$B[\varphi,\psi] = \langle L_{\max}\varphi,\psi\rangle - \langle \varphi, L_{\max}\psi\rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{v} (\partial_n \varphi_j(0)\overline{\psi_j}(0) - \varphi_j(0)\partial_n\overline{\psi_j}(0)),$$

where $\partial_n \psi$ denotes the normal derivative of the function ψ at the vertex V. Let us denote by ψ and $\partial_n \psi$ the vectors of boundary values for φ and the values of its normal derivative at the vertex V, respectively. The boundary form gives a sesquilinear symplectic form in the finite dimensional space of boundary values $\mathbb{C}^{2v} = \{\psi, \partial_n \psi\}$. Then all Lagrangian planes π , i.e. all maximal subspaces in \mathbb{C}^{2v} annulating the boundary form such that $\varphi, \psi \in \pi$ implies $B[\varphi, \psi] = 0$, describe all self-adjoint extensions of the minimal operator L_{\min} to be denoted by L_{π} , so that $\text{Dom}(L_{\pi}) = \{\varphi \in \text{Dom}(L_{\max}) : (\varphi(0), \partial_n \varphi(0)) \in \pi\}$.

3.3. Boundary conditions via the vertex scattering matrix

In this section we are going to show that the boundary conditions at any vertex can be parameterised in a unique way by a certain unitary matrix. Our approach is a slight modification of that by M. Harmer [37], with the advantage of our parameterisation being that the parameter matrix S coincides with the value of the vertex scattering matrix at k = 1 (this explains our notation as well).

Theorem 1. The family of self-adjoint extensions of the minimal operator L_{\min} can be uniquely parameterised by an arbitrary $v \times v$ unitary matrix S, so that the operator L(S) is the restriction of $L_{\max} = L_{\min}^*$ to the set of functions satisfying the boundary conditions

$$i(S-I)\boldsymbol{\psi}(V) = (S+I)\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V).$$
(5)

The proof of this theorem can be found in paper III.

The advantage of parameterisation (5) is that there is one-to-one correspondence between S and self-adjoint extensions of L_{\min} and the parameter has a clear meaning being the vertex scattering matrix for E = 1. Let us have a look at two intensively studied families of boundary conditions.

EXAMPLE 1. Standard boundary conditions. Let in this and the following example $\psi_n = \psi_n(0)$ for any $n = 1, \dots, v$. To get standard boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} \psi_j = \psi_k, \ j, k = 1, \dots, v, \\ \sum_{j=1}^{v} \partial_n \psi_j = 0, \end{cases}$$
(6)

the matrix S should be chosen equal to

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2-v}{v} & \frac{2}{v} & \dots & \frac{2}{v} \\ \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2-v}{v} & & \frac{2}{v} \\ & & \dots & \\ \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2}{v} & & \frac{2-v}{v} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then

$$S - I = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2(1-v)}{v} & \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2}{v} \\ \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2(1-v)}{v} & \frac{2}{v} \\ & \ddots & \\ \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2(1-v)}{v} \end{pmatrix}, \quad S + I = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2}{v} \\ \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2}{v} \\ & \ddots & \\ \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2}{v} & \frac{2(1-v)}{v} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The boundary conditions (5) look as follows:

$$\begin{cases} i((1-v)\psi_1 + \psi_2 + \ldots + \psi_v) - (\partial_n\psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n\psi_v) = 0, \\ i(\psi_1 + (1-v)\psi_2 + \ldots + \psi_v) - (\partial_n\psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n\psi_v) = 0, \\ \vdots \\ i(\psi_1 + \psi_2 + \ldots + (1-v)\psi_v) - (\partial_n\psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n\psi_v) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Subtracting the first equation from each of the other ones we obtain:

$$\begin{cases} i((1-v)\psi_1 + \psi_2 + \ldots + \psi_v) - (\partial_n \psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n \psi_v) = 0, \\ i(v\psi_1 - v\psi_2) = 0, \\ \vdots \\ i(v\psi_1 - v\psi_v) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Finally we get $\psi_1 = \psi_2 = \ldots = \psi_v$ and $\partial_n \psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n \psi_v = 0$, which are exactly the standard boundary conditions.

EXAMPLE 2. Boundary conditions of δ -type. To get boundary conditions of δ -type:

$$\begin{cases} \psi_j = \psi_k, \quad j, k = 1, \dots, v, \\ \sum_{j=1}^{v} \partial_n \psi_j = \alpha \psi_1, \end{cases}$$
(7)

9

the scattering matrix for E = 1 should be chosen equal to

$$S = \frac{1}{vi - \alpha} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha - (v - 2)i & 2i & \dots & 2i \\ 2i & \alpha - (v - 2)i & \dots & 2i \\ & & \ddots & \\ 2i & 2i & \dots & \alpha - (v - 2)i \end{pmatrix},$$

where α is the real constant determining the strength of the δ -function at the vertex. Then

$$S - I = \frac{2}{vi - \alpha} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha - (v - 1)i & i & \dots & i \\ i & \alpha - (v - 1)i & \dots & i \\ & & \ddots & \\ i & i & \dots & \alpha - (v - 1)i \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$S + I = \frac{2i}{vi - \alpha} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & \dots & 1\\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1\\ & \ddots & \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Therefore, the boundary conditions (5) look as follows:

$$\begin{cases} (\alpha - (v-1)i)\psi_1 + i\psi_2 + \ldots + i\psi_v - (\partial_n\psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n\psi_v) = 0, \\ i\psi_1 + (\alpha - (v-1)i)\psi_2 + \ldots + i\psi_v - (\partial_n\psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n\psi_v) = 0, \\ \vdots \\ i\psi_1 + i\psi_2 + \ldots + (\alpha - (v-1)i)\psi_v - (\partial_n\psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n\psi_v) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Similarly as in the previous example, we subtract the first equation from every other one

$$\begin{cases} (\alpha - (v-1)i)\psi_1 + i\psi_2 + \ldots + i\psi_v - (\partial_n\psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n\psi_v) = 0, \\ (\alpha - vi)\psi_1 + (vi - \alpha)\psi_2 = 0, \\ \vdots \\ (\alpha - vi)\psi_1 + (vi - \alpha)\psi_v = 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus $\psi_1 = \psi_2 = \ldots = \psi_v$, i.e. the functions ψ are continuous at the vertex V and from the first equation we obtain

$$(\alpha - (v-1)i)\psi_1 + (v-1)i\psi_1) - (\partial_n\psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n\psi_v) = 0$$

and hence

$$\alpha\psi_1 = \partial_n\psi_1 + \ldots + \partial_n\psi_v.$$

Having considered these examples, let us establish the connection between the matrix S appearing in the boundary conditions and the vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k)$. Since S is a unitary matrix then it possesses the following spectral representation:

$$S\psi = \sum_{j=1}^{v} e^{i\theta_j} \langle \psi, \phi_j \rangle \phi_j, \qquad (8)$$

where $e^{i\theta_j}$ is the eigenvalue and ϕ_j ($\theta_j \in \mathbb{R}, \langle \phi_i, \phi_j \rangle = \delta_{ij}, j = 1, \dots, v$) is the corresponding eigenfunction.

In what follows the subspaces related to the eigenvalues 1 and -1

$$N_{\pm 1} = \ker (S - (\pm I)),$$
 (9)

are going to play a very important role.

To introduce the vertex scattering matrix let us first consider the solutions to the differential equation

$$-\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x^2}\psi(x) = k^2\psi(x), \quad x \in \Delta_j, \tag{10}$$

which satisfy the boundary conditions (5) at the vertex. Solution to the differential equation can be written in the basis of incoming and outgoing waves as shown below

$$\psi_j(x) = b_j e^{-ikx} + a_j e^{ikx}, \quad x \in \Delta_j.$$
(11)

The amplitudes **a** and **b** have to be chosen so that the function in (11) satisfies the boundary conditions at the vertex. The relation between the vectors of waves' amplitudes **a** and **b** is given by the vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ as $\mathbf{a} = S_v(k)\mathbf{b}$. The values of the functions and of its normal derivatives at the vertex are:

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}(V) = \boldsymbol{b} + \boldsymbol{a} = \boldsymbol{b} + S_v(k)\boldsymbol{b}$$

and

$$\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V) = -ik\boldsymbol{b} + ik\boldsymbol{a} = -ik\boldsymbol{b} + ikS_v(k)\boldsymbol{b}.$$

After substitution into equation (5) we obtain

$$i(S-I)(I+S_v(k)) = ik(S+I)(-I+S_v(k))$$

and then

$$S_v(k) = \frac{k(S+I) + (S-I)}{k(S+I) - (S-I)}, \quad k \neq 0.$$
 (12)

Thus $S_v(k)$ is a unitary vertex scattering matrix and S equals $S_v(1)$. In paper III we have shown that all boundary conditions at a vertex leading to self-adjoint extensions of L_{\min} can be described by the matrix S. We would like to point out that in 2000 V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader ([41], Theorem 1) showed that the knowledge of $S_v(k_0)$ for some fixed energy parameter k_0 allows one to calculate $S_v(k)$ for any arbitrary k, and therefore determines the boundary conditions at the vertex.

3.4. Parameterisations of boundary conditions

Kostrykin-Schrader's parameterisation

In 1999, V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader [40] gave a full description of self-adjoint boundary conditions. Let A and B be $v \times v$ matrices. Then all boundary conditions at the vertex V can be described in the following way:

$$A\boldsymbol{\psi}(V) + B\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V) = 0, \tag{13}$$

where ψ is the *v*-dimensional vector of functions and $\partial_n \psi$ - of normal derivatives defined on edges meeting at the vertex *V*.

Proposition 2 (Kostrykin, Schrader). All self-adjoint extensions of the minimal operator L_{\min} are described by the boundary conditions (13) where A and B are $v \times v$ matrices with the following properties:

- 1. the $v \times 2v$ matrix (A, B) has maximal rank v,
- 2. the matrix AB^* is Hermitian.

Notice that parameterisation of boundary conditions in equation (13) with matrices A and B is not unique. One can take any arbitrary invertible matrix D and use matrices A' = DA and B' = DB instead of A and B. These matrices determine the same Lagrangian plane of boundary values.

The relation between the scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ and the matrices A and B (see [41]) can be written as

$$S_v(k) = -(A + ikB)^{-1}(A - ikB)$$
(14)

and, in particular,

$$S = S_v(1) = -(A + iB)^{-1}(A - iB).$$
(15)

Harmer's parameterisation

Another way to parameterise boundary conditions in a unique way and using only one unitary matrix U was proposed by M. Harmer in 2000 [37]

$$-i(U+I)\boldsymbol{\psi}(V) + (U-I)\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V) = 0.$$
(16)

In this parameterisation the unitary matrix again does not coincide with the unitary matrix appearing in von Neumann formulae. One may obtain this parameterisation from (5) simply by putting S = -U. The only advantage of the parameterisation via the matrix S is that it has a clear meaning, since it is the vertex scattering matrix for k = 1.

Kuchment's parameterisation

In 2004 P. Kuchment noticed that boundary condition (13) can be rewritten equivalently as two conditions which use orthogonal projection on ker B. This makes Kostrykin-Schrader's parameterisation unique.

Proposition 3 (following Corollary 5 in [45]). Let (A, B) has maximal rank and AB^* be Hermitian matrix. Then the boundary condition (13) is equivalent to the pair of conditions $P_{M^{\perp}}\psi = 0$ and $LP_M\psi + P_M\partial_n\psi = 0$, where P_M is orthogonal projection onto space $M = (\text{Ker } B)^{\perp}$, $P_{M^{\perp}}$ is the complementary projector, and L is the self-adjoint operator $B^{-1}A$.

The operator $i\frac{\hat{S}-I}{\hat{S}+I}$, where $\hat{S} = P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}}SP_{N_{-1}^{\perp}}$, is hermitian in N_{-1}^{\perp} . Therefore, it can be shown that we obtain P. Kuchment's parameterisation by taking

$$M = N_{-1}^{\perp}$$
 and $L = i \frac{P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}} S P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}} - I}{P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}} S P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}} + I}$.

4. Boundary conditions and vertex scattering properties

In this section we shall describe how boundary conditions reflect the scattering properties of the vertex. We will start by looking at high energy asymptotics, showing that it is equal to some energy independent scattering matrix. Afterwards, we will discuss how does the vertex scattering matrix reflect connectivity of the vertex. Finally, we introduce and investigate in detail a new class of boundary conditions which we call hyperplanar matching conditions.

4.1. High energy asymptotics

In order to study the spectral asymptotics it is necessary to investigate the high energy behaviour of the vertex scattering matrix.

Let us remind that the unitary matrix S possesses the spectral representation (8) and that the vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ is given by (12). We then obtain the following representation for the matrix $S_v(k)$:

$$S_{v}(k)\psi = \sum_{j:\theta_{j}=\pi} (-1)\langle\psi,\phi_{j}\rangle\phi_{j} + \sum_{j:\theta_{j}=0} 1\langle\psi,\phi_{j}\rangle\phi_{j} + \sum_{j:\theta_{j}\neq\pi,0} \frac{k(e^{i\theta_{j}}+1) + (e^{i\theta_{j}}-1)}{k(e^{i\theta_{j}}+1) - (e^{i\theta_{j}}-1)}\langle\psi,\phi_{j}\rangle\phi_{j}.$$
(17)

Since S is unitary N_1 and N_{-1} are orthogonal to each other; if S has no other eigenvalues, then $N_1 \oplus N_{-1} = \mathbb{C}^v$. Formula (17) implies that the eigenvalues ± 1 are stable, whereas all other eigenvalues depend on k. The properties of this representation for $S_v(k)$ give us immediately the following two theorems.

Theorem 4. The scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ is energy independent if and only if the parameter matrix S has just eigenvalues 1 and -1, i.e. iff boundary conditions (5) take the form

$$P_{N_1}\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V) = 0, \quad P_{N_{-1}}\boldsymbol{\psi}(V) = 0, \tag{18}$$

where $N_1 \oplus N_{-1} = \mathbb{C}^v$.

Boundary conditions leading to energy independent vertex scattering matrices are going to play an important role in our studies, therefore we would like to introduce the following definition

Definition 5. Vertex boundary conditions are called **non-resonant** iff the corresponding vertex scattering matrix is energy independent.

The main motivation for this definition is that all other boundary conditions lead to vertex scattering matrices having singularities.

From spectral representation (8) we immediately obtain

Theorem 6. As $k \to \infty$, the vertex scattering matrix tends to the energy independent vertex scattering matrix

$$S_v^{\infty} = \sum_{j:\theta_j = \pi} (-1) \langle \cdot, \phi_j \rangle \phi_j + \sum_{j:\theta_j \neq \pi} \langle \cdot, \phi_j \rangle \phi_j \equiv -P_{N_{-1}} + P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}}, \qquad (19)$$

where N_{-1} is the eigensubspace for S (and hence for all S(k)). In addition, the following holds

$$S_v(k) = S_v^{\infty} + \mathcal{O}(1/k), \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

The above theorem is a modification of the result already given by M. Harmer in [37] and it implies, that for high energies, every vertex scattering matrix tends to a certain scattering matrix corresponding to non-resonant boundary conditions.

4.2. Vertex scattering matrix and connectivity

In this section we will discuss what additional conditions (beyond unitarity) are needed for the matrix S_v to connect all endpoints meeting at the vertex V. The only requirement we introduced so far is that the boundary conditions (5) connect together only boundary values corresponding to the vertex V. This alone is insufficient since it might happen that the endpoints can be divided into two classes $V = V_1 \cup V_2$ in such a way that the boundary conditions connect together the boundary values at V_1 and V_2 separately. Unfortunately, in a case like this, boundary conditions do not correspond to the vertex V but rather to two (independent) vertices V_1 and V_2 (see Fig. 3). In other



Figure 3: Boundary conditions and connectivity

words, if the vertex V can be chopped into two vertices in such a way that the boundary conditions are preserved, then those conditions are not properly connecting and should be excluded from our consideration if no special reason exists to do otherwise. This problem has been discussed in details in [52], [42], but we describe it using the parameterisation via the matrix S. Due to uniqueness of this parameterisation the discussion becomes much more transparent.

For energy dependent vertex scattering matrices, we are facing another interesting effect. It might happen that the corresponding boundary conditions are properly connecting, but the boundary conditions corresponding to the limit scattering matrix S_v^{∞} are not. However, it is the limit scattering matrix that is important in calculating spectral asymptotics. Therefore, we also need to define asymptotically properly connecting boundary conditions, but let us consider one example first.

EXAMPLE 3. Let the graph Γ be a loop formed by just one edge $\Delta_1 = [-\pi, \pi]$ with the endpoints $-\pi$ and π connected at the vertex V_1 . Consider the boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} \psi(-\pi) &= -\partial_n \psi(+\pi) \\ \psi(\pi) &= -\partial_n \psi(-\pi) \end{cases}$$

which are clearly properly connecting and correspond to $S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. The vertex scattering matrix can be calculated using (12) to be

$$S_v^1(k) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{k^2 - 1}{k^2 + 1} & \frac{2ik}{k^2 + 1} \\ \frac{2ik}{k^2 + 1} & \frac{k^2 - 1}{k^2 + 1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Clearly, it tends to the unit matrix as $k \to \infty$. The boundary conditions corresponding to unit scattering matrix are simply Neumann boundary conditions $\partial_n \psi(-\pi) = \partial_n \psi(\pi) = 0$, which do not connect the values at $\pm \pi$ together.

Let us summarise our discussion by giving the following definition.

Definition 7. Vertex boundary conditions are called **properly connecting** iff the vertex cannot be divided into two (or more) vertices in such a way that the boundary conditions connect together only boundary values belonging to each of the new vertices. Vertex boundary conditions are called **asymptotically properly connecting** iff the limit scattering matrix S_v^{∞} corresponds to certain properly connecting boundary conditions.

Characterisation of all properly connecting boundary conditions via the matrix S is rather straightforward, which again can be attributed to the uniqueness of our parameterisation of boundary conditions.

Theorem 8. Boundary conditions (5) are properly connecting if and only if the unitary matrix S cannot be turned into block-diagonal form by any permutation of the basis vectors.

We are now going to study the relation between the properly connecting boundary conditions and the space N_{-1} in more details. In order to do this, we need to introduce the notion of *coordinate subspace* — any subspace in \mathbb{C}^n spanned by a certain number of basic vectors from the standard basis in \mathbb{C}^n , but does not coincide with \mathbb{C}^n . This is a straightforward generalisation of the notion of coordinate planes in \mathbb{R}^3 . We say that a subspace N is *perpendicular* to a coordinate subspace K iff $P_K N \subset N \cap K$ and $P_N K \subset N \cap K$, where P denotes the orthogonal projection.

Theorem 9. The non-resonant boundary conditions corresponding to the matrix S are properly connecting iff N_{-1} is not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace.

This theorem can be generalised to describe all asymptotically properly connecting boundary conditions using the fact that the subspace N_{-1} is stable for $S_v(k)$.

Theorem 10. The boundary conditions are asymptotically properly connecting iff N_{-1} is not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace.

The energy independent scattering matrix S is not properly connecting for example in the following two cases:

- 1. $N_1 = \{0\}, N_{-1} = \mathbb{C}^v$, which corresponds to the Dirichlet boundary conditions at the endpoints forming the vertex;
- 2. $N_1 = \mathbb{C}^v, N_{-1} = \{0\}$, which corresponds to the Neumann boundary conditions at the endpoints forming the vertex.

Clearly, these boundary conditions are not properly connecting and they correspond to the case where the vertex V is maximally decomposed into v separate edges.

4.3. Hyperplanar matching conditions

Let $\psi(V) = (\psi(x_1), \psi(x_3), \dots, \psi(x_{2\nu-1}))$ and let us define the following two important families of properly connecting non-resonant boundary conditions:

1. Hyperplanar Neumann conditions — defined by a certain vector $w \in \mathbb{C}^{v}$ with all components different from zero

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\psi}(V) \parallel \boldsymbol{w}, \\ \partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V) \perp \boldsymbol{w}. \end{cases}$$
(20)

2. Hyperplanar Dirichlet conditions — defined by a certain vector $u \in \mathbb{C}^{v}$ with all components different from zero

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\psi}(V) \perp \boldsymbol{u}, \\ \partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V) \parallel \boldsymbol{u}.
\end{cases}$$
(21)

These boundary conditions correspond to the case where one of the subspaces N_1 and N_{-1} is one dimensional. For hyperplanar Dirichlet conditions N_{-1} is spanned by \boldsymbol{u} and, since all components of \boldsymbol{u} are different from zero, N_{-1} is not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace. For Neumann conditions it is N_1 that is spanned by \boldsymbol{w} and, again, N_1 , and therefore N_{-1} as well, is not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace. It follows that both hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet conditions are non-resonant properly connecting boundary conditions. In the case of vertex formed by one endpoint, hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet conditions reduce to classical Neumann and Dirichlet conditions respectively, which is the motivation their names. The word "hyperplanar" reflects the fact that one of the corresponding subspaces (N_1 or N_{-1}) has codimension 1. Note that if the vector \boldsymbol{w} is chosen equal to (1, 1, ..., 1), then hyperplanar Neumann conditions in the literature).

For hyperplanar Neumann matching conditions (in particular, for standard boundary conditions) for the vertex of valence 2, it may happen that the reflection coefficient is equal to zero. It is easy to show that the other reflection coefficient is zero as well and the transition coefficients are $e^{i\mu}$ and $e^{-i\mu}$ with a certain $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$. In such a case, one may apply the transformation (6) from paper IV, and as a result obtain a unitary equivalent Laplace operator with standard boundary conditions. Then the corresponding two edges can be substituted by one single edge with the length equal to the sum of the lengths of the removed edges. This procedure is called *cleaning* [52] and the graph without vertices of valence 2 is called *clean graph*.

5. Trace formula for non-resonant boundary conditions

This section is based on papers I and III.

Unlike in previous sections, from now on we consider an arbitrary graph Γ , consisting of N edges, M vertices and C connected components, as defined in section 3. We also assume that the graph Γ is clean, finite and simple, except in the case of standard boundary conditions, where we allow loops and multiple edges. A graph is called *simple* if it contains no loops and no multiple edges.

The theorems for a star graph can be easily generalised for any arbitrary graph Γ in the following way:

Theorem 11. The family of self-adjoint restrictions of L_{\max} can be described by boundary conditions connecting the boundary values $\boldsymbol{\psi} = (\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_1), \dots, \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_M))$ and $\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi} = (\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_1), \dots, \partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_M))$

$$i(S-I)\boldsymbol{\psi} = (S+I)\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}.$$
(22)

These boundary conditions are properly connecting iff they have the form

$$i(S^m - I)\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = (S^m + I)\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m), \tag{23}$$

where S^m is a unitary $v_m \times v_m$ matrix with $N_{-1}(S^m)$ not orthogonal to any coordinate subspace in \mathbb{C}^{v_m} .

The non-resonant boundary conditions are given by:

$$P_{N_1^m}\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = 0, \quad P_{N_{-1}^m}\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = 0, \tag{24}$$

where $N_1^m \oplus N_{-1}^m = \mathbb{C}^{v_m}$.

Assume that the boundary conditions at the vertices are non-resonant. Every eigenfunction $\psi(x,k)$, corresponding to the energy $\lambda = k^2$, is a solution of the differential equation

$$-\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x^2}\psi(x,k) = k^2\psi(x,k),\tag{25}$$

on the edges, satisfying the boundary conditions (24) at the vertices. For $k \neq 0$ every solution to (25) can be written using either a basis of incoming or one of outgoing waves (see Fig. 5.)

$$\psi(x,k) = a_{2j-1}e^{ik|x-x_{2j-1}|} + a_{2j}e^{ik|x-x_{2j}|} \quad x \in \Delta_j = [x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}].$$

= $b_{2j-1}e^{-ik|x-x_{2j-1}|} + b_{2j}e^{-ik|x-x_{2j}|}$ (26)

17

The amplitudes $\boldsymbol{a} = \{a_j\}_{j=1}^{2N}$ and $\boldsymbol{b} = \{b_j\}_{j=1}^{2N}$ are related to each other by the edge scattering matrix

$$\boldsymbol{b} = \mathbf{S}_{e}\boldsymbol{a}, \text{ where } \mathbf{S}_{e}(k) = \begin{pmatrix} S_{e}^{1} & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & S_{e}^{2} & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, S_{e}^{j}(k) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{ikd_{j}} \\ e^{ikd_{j}} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(27)

where d_j is the length of the edge Δ_j . The amplitudes are also connected by the vertex scattering matrices, which are obtained from the requirement that $\psi(x, k)$ satisfies (22).



Figure 4: Incoming waves at the edge Δ_j

It is convenient to use the following representation for the solution to (25), using only amplitudes related to every endpoint x_i from V_m

$$\psi(x,k) = a_j e^{ik|x-x_j|} + b_j e^{-ik|x-x_j|}$$

and corresponding vectors $a^m, b^m \in \mathbb{C}^{v_m}$ of amplitudes. Then for all $k \neq 0$ the boundary conditions (24) are equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} P_{N_{-1}^m}(\boldsymbol{a}^m + \boldsymbol{b}^m) = 0, \\ P_{N_1^m}(\boldsymbol{a}^m - \boldsymbol{b}^m) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(28)

It follows that \boldsymbol{a}^m and \boldsymbol{b}^m are related by the corresponding vertex scattering matrix S_v^m as follows

$$a^m = S_v^m b_m, m = 1, 2, ..., M.$$
 (29)

The last equation implies that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{a}^{1} \\ \boldsymbol{a}^{2} \\ \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{a}^{M} \end{pmatrix} = \mathbf{S}_{v} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{b}^{1} \\ \boldsymbol{b}^{2} \\ \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{b}^{M} \end{pmatrix}, \text{ with } \mathbf{S}_{v} = \begin{pmatrix} \underline{S_{v}^{1} \ 0 \ \dots} \\ \underline{0 \ S_{v}^{2} \ \dots} \\ \vdots \ \vdots \ \ddots \end{pmatrix}.$$
(30)

Note that the matrices S_e and S_v possess the block representations (27) and (30) in different bases. Clearly, vector **a** determines an eigenfunction of the Laplace operator if and only if the following equation holds:

$$\det \left(\mathbf{S}(k) - I \right) = 0, \text{ where } \mathbf{S}(k) = \mathbf{S}_v \mathbf{S}_e(k).$$
(31)

The matrix S(k) is unitary for real k since it is a product of two unitary matrices. It is easy to see that

 $\| \mathbf{S}(k) \| < 1 \text{ for } \mathrm{Im}k > 0, \text{ and } \| \mathbf{S}^{-1}(k) \| < 1 \text{ for } \mathrm{Im}k < 0,$ (32)

since the (independent of k) matrix \mathbf{S}_v is unitary and the matrix $\mathbf{S}_e(k)$ satisfies (32).

Equation (31) determines the spectrum of L with correct multiplicities for all nonzero values of the energy. On the other hand, the multiplicity $m_a(0)$ of the zero eigenvalue given by this equation (i. e. the dimension of ker $(\mathbf{S}(k) - I)$), to be called *algebraic multiplicity*, may be different from the dimension $m_s(0)$ of the zero eigensubspace of L, to be called *spectral multiplicity*.

In paper III we have calculated explicitly the spectral and algebraic multiplicities of zero eigenvalue in case of hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet matching conditions.

For a graph Γ with cycles and with hyperplanar boundary conditions at the vertices it looks natural to impose an extra consistency condition. Consider a closed path p of discrete length n(p). Every such path can uniquely be defined by a sequence of endpoints $(x_{l_1}, x_{l_2}, \ldots, x_{l_{2n(p)}})$ that the path comes across, where $x_{l_{2k}}$ and $x_{l_{2k+1}}$ (as well as $x_{l_{2n(p)}}$ and x_{l_1}) belong to the same vertex while $x_{l_{2k-1}}$ and $x_{l_{2k}}$ are different endpoints of the same edge.

Definition 12. We say that the hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions are consistent iff for every closed path $p = (x_{l_1}, x_{l_2}, \dots, x_{l_{2n(p)}})$ the following holds

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n(p)} w(x_{l_{2k}}) = \prod_{k=0}^{n(p)-1} w(x_{l_{2k+1}}).$$
(33)

Similarly, the hyperplanar Dirichlet boundary conditions are consistent iff

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n(p)} w(x_{l_{2k}}) = (-1)^{n(p)} \prod_{k=0}^{n(p)-1} w(x_{l_{2k+1}}).$$
(34)

These consistency conditions play an important role in calculating the multiplicities $m_s(0)$ and $m_a(0)$.

Theorem 13. The spectral and algebraic multiplicities of the ground state eigenvalue $\lambda = 0$ for the Laplace operator with consistent hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet boundary conditions are equal to:

$$m_s^N(0) = C, \qquad m_a^N(0) = m_a^D(0) = 2C - \chi, m_s^D(0) = C - \chi,$$
(35)

where C is the number of connected components and $\chi = M - N$ is the Euler characteristic.

We now introduce the distribution u connected with the spectral measure

$$u \equiv 2m_s(0)\delta(k) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\delta(k-k_n) + \delta(k+k_n)\right).$$

19

For any test function $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, the value of the distribution $u[\varphi]$ can be calculated, with the help of the function $f = \det(\mathbf{S}(k) - I)$ as follows

$$u[\varphi] = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{f'(k-i\varepsilon)}{f(k-i\varepsilon)} - \frac{f'(k+i\varepsilon)}{f(k+i\varepsilon)} \right) \varphi(k) dk + (2m_s(0) - m_a(0))\varphi(0).$$
(36)

Moreover we have the following relation

$$u[\varphi] - (2m_s(0) - m_a(0))\varphi(0) =$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{(\ln \det(\mathbf{S}(k - i0) - I))' - (\ln \det(\mathbf{S}(k + i0) - I))'\}\varphi(k)dk$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{(\operatorname{Tr}\ln(\mathbf{S}(k - i0) - I))' - (\operatorname{Tr}\ln(\mathbf{S}(k + i0) - I))'\}\varphi(k)dk$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{\operatorname{Tr}(\ln(\mathbf{S}(k - i0) - I))' - \operatorname{Tr}(\ln(\mathbf{S}(k + i0) - I))'\}\varphi(k)dk$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left\{\operatorname{Tr}\frac{\mathbf{S}'(k - i0)}{\mathbf{S}(k - i0) - I} - \operatorname{Tr}\frac{\mathbf{S}'(k + i0)}{\mathbf{S}(k + i0) - I}\right\}\varphi(k)dk.$$

Taking into account that the matrix S_v is independent of the energy we obtain

$$\mathbf{S}(k)' = \mathbf{S}_v \mathbf{S}_e(k) i\mathcal{D} = i\mathbf{S}(k)\mathcal{D}$$

where $\mathcal{D} = \text{diag}[d_1, d_1, d_2, d_2, d_3, d_3, \ldots]$ in the basis associated with the edges. This allows us to substitute $i\mathbf{S}(k)\mathcal{D}$ into the previous formula, leading to

$$u[\varphi] - (2m_s(0) - m_a(0))\varphi(0)$$

= $\frac{1}{2\pi i} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [\operatorname{Tr}((I + \mathbf{S}(k + i\varepsilon) + \ldots)\mathbf{S}(k + i\varepsilon)i\mathcal{D})$
+ $\operatorname{Tr}((\mathbf{S}^{-1}(k - i\varepsilon) + \mathbf{S}^{-2}(k - i\varepsilon) + \ldots)\mathbf{S}(k - i\varepsilon)i\mathcal{D})]\varphi(k)dk.$ (37)

In the formula above we can exchange the $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}$ and the integral sign, since the sum under the integral is absolutely converging (see Paper I for details). Thus we obtain the following formula

$$u[\varphi] = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr}((\ldots + \mathbf{S}^{-1}(k) + I + \mathbf{S}(k) + \ldots)i\mathcal{D})\varphi(k) dk + (2m_s(0) - m_a(0))\varphi(0),$$

i.e.

$$u = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \operatorname{Tr} \left[(\dots + \mathbf{S}^{-1}(k) + I + \mathbf{S}(k) + \dots) i \mathcal{D} \right] + (2m_s(0) - m_a(0)) \delta(k).$$
(38)

To calculate the trace, let us introduce the orthonormal basis of incoming waves to be $e_1 = (1, 0, 0, ...), e_2 = (0, 1, 0, ...), ..., e_{2N} = (..., 0, 0, 1)$. By a *periodic orbit* we understand any oriented closed path on Γ . It is not allowed for an orbit to turn back at any inner point of an edge, but it may turn back at a vertex. Note that the orbit so defined does not have a starting point. With every such (continuous) periodic orbit, we can associate a *discrete periodic orbit*, consisting of all edges that the orbit p comes across.

Also let:

- \mathcal{P} be the set of all periodic orbits for the graph Γ ,
- l(p) be the geometric length of a periodic orbit p,
- n(p) be the discrete length of p the number of edges that the orbit contains,
- \mathcal{P}_m^n be the set of all periodic orbits passing through the point x_m into the interval $\Delta_{\lceil \frac{m+1}{2} \rceil}$ (where $\lceil \cdot \rceil$ denotes the integer part) and having discrete length n,
- prim(p) denote a primitive periodic orbit of p, i. e. the shortest orbit such that p is a multiple of prim(p),
- d(p) = n(p)/n(prim(p)) be the degree of p.

The geometric length of an orbit is equal to the sum of lengths of the edges contained in the orbit (including multiplicities). When the orbit goes from one edge to another, passing through a vertex, we need to take into account the corresponding scattering coefficients.

The right-hand side of (38) can be divided into three parts: identity, all positive powers of S(k) and all negative powers of S(k). The contribution from the first part is equal to

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr}(I\mathcal{D}) = \frac{2\mathcal{L}}{2\pi} = \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\pi},$$

where $\mathcal{L} = d_1 + d_2 + \ldots + d_N$ is the total length of the graph Γ .

The second part (all positive powers of S(k)) is equal to

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr}[(\mathbf{S}(k)^{1} + \mathbf{S}(k)^{2} + \ldots)\mathcal{D}] = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{2N} \sum_{n=1}^{2N} \langle \mathbf{S}^{r} \mathcal{D} e_{n}, e_{n} \rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{2N} d_{\lfloor \frac{n+1}{2} \rfloor} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}_{n}^{r}} S(p) \ e^{ikl(p)}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) S(p) \ e^{ikl(p)},$$

where S(p) is the product of all vertex scattering coefficients along the path p. And the third part (all negative powers of S(k)) is equal to

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr}[(\dots + \mathbf{S}^{-2}(k) + \mathbf{S}^{-1}(k))\mathcal{D}] = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) S^*(p) \ e^{-ikl(p)}$$

Theorem 14 (Trace formula). Let Γ be a compact finite metric graph with the total length \mathcal{L} and let L be the Laplace operator in $L_2(\Gamma)$ determined by properly connecting non-resonant boundary conditions at the vertices. Then, the following two trace formulae establish the relation between the spectrum $\{k_n^2\}$ of L and the set \mathcal{P} of closed paths on the metric graph Γ

$$u(k) \equiv 2m_s(0)\delta(k) + \sum_{k_n \neq 0} \left(\delta(k - k_n) + \delta(k + k_n)\right)$$
(39)

 $= (2m_s(0) - m_a(0))\delta(k) + \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\pi} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) \left(S(p)e^{ikl(p)} + S^*(p)e^{-ikl(p)}\right)$

and

$$\sqrt{2\pi}\hat{u}(l) = 2m_s(0) + \sum_{k_n \neq 0} 2\cos k_n l$$
(40)

$$= 2m_s(0) - m_a(0) + 2\mathcal{L}\delta(l) + \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} l(\text{prim}\,(p)) \Big(S(p)\delta(l-l(p)) + S^*(p)\delta(l+l(p)) \Big).$$

6. Uniqueness theorems for standard boundary conditions

In this section we will consider the conditions on Γ which guarantee that the spectrum of L determines Γ uniquely.

The set of lengths of all periodic orbits Λ is usually called the *length spectrum*. In some cases, formula (40) allows us to recover the whole length spectrum from the energy spectrum. On the other hand, there are known graphs for which some lengths of periodic orbits cannot be recovered. Formula (40) implies directly that the spectrum of a graph allows one to recover the lengths l of all periodic orbits from the *reduced length spectrum* $\Lambda' \subset \Lambda$ defined as

$$\Lambda' = \{l : \left(\sum_{\substack{p \in \mathcal{P} \\ l(p) = l}} \mathcal{A}_p\right) \neq 0\}.$$
(41)

The following example shows that sets Λ and Λ' can differ.

EXAMPLE 4. In this example we will show a case of a vanishing coefficient A_p . Consider the graph presented at Fig. 5. There exist exactly three periodic orbits with the length equal to $2d_1 + d_2 + d_3 + d_4 + d_5$.

Assume that the degrees of the vertices V_2 and V_4 are arbitrary and $v_1 = v_3 = 3$. If $l = 2d_1 + d_2 + d_3 + d_4 + d_5$, then

$$\sum_{\substack{p \in \mathcal{P} \\ l(p) = l}} \mathcal{A}_p = \frac{16}{9v_2v_4} \left[\frac{-2}{9} + \frac{-2}{9} + \frac{4}{9} \right] l = 0.$$



Figure 5: Periodic orbits of length $2d_1 + d_2 + d_3 + d_4 + d_5$

6.1. Graphs with rationally independent edges

In this section we are going to describe the main results from Paper I, where we have studied graphs with rationally independent lengths of edges.

As we have just shown, some periodic orbits do not appear in the length spectrum, but we can prove that at least some specific ones *do* appear in it.

Lemma 15. Let Γ be a finite, clean and connected metric graph with rationally independent lengths of edges. The reduced length spectrum Λ' contains at least the following lengths:

- the shortest orbit formed by any interval Δ_j only (i. e. d_j or 2d_j depending on whether Δ_j is a loop or not);
- the shortest orbit formed by any two neighbouring edges Δ_j and Δ_k only (i. e. $2(d_j + d_k), d_j + 2d_k, 2d_j + d_k, d_j + d_k$ depending on how these edges are connected to each other).

The first step in the reconstruction of Γ is to recover the set of lengths of the edges from the total length of the graph and the set of reduced length spectrum Λ' .

Lemma 16. Let the lengths of the edges of a clean, finite and connected metric graph Γ be rationally independent. Then the total length \mathcal{L} of the graph and the reduced length spectrum Λ' (defined by (41)), determine the lengths of all edges and whether these edges form loops or not.

Once the lengths of all edges are known the graph can be reconstructed from the reduced length spectrum. Lemma 15 implies that by looking at the reduced length spectrum Λ' , one can determine whether any two edges Δ_j and Δ_k are neighbours or

not (i. e. whether they have at least one common endpoint): the edges Δ_j and Δ_k are neighbours if and only if Λ' contains at least one of the lengths $d_j + d_k$, $2d_j + d_k$, $d_j + 2d_k$ or $2(d_j + d_k)$.

Lemma 17. Every clean, finite and connected metric graph Γ can be reconstructed from the set $D = \{d_j\}$ of the lengths of all edges and the reduced length spectrum Λ' — the subset of all periodic orbits defined by (41), provided that d_j are rationally independent.

Any graph Γ can be reduced to a simple subgraph Γ^* by deleting all loops and removing all but one of the edges connecting the same two vertices.

We have, in Paper I, proven the following theorem in a constructive way, by first reconstructing a simple subgraph Γ^* and then by adding all multiple edges and loops.

Theorem 18. *The spectrum of a Laplace operator on a metric graph determines the graph uniquely, provided that:*

- the graph is clean, finite and connected,
- the lengths of edges are rationally independent.

6.2. Graphs with rationally dependent edges

In this section we are going to describe the main results from Paper II, in which we analysed graphs with rationally dependent lengths of edges.

Graphs with trivially rationally dependent edges

We say that the lengths of the edges are *trivially rationally dependent* if they are equal. We will now discuss graphs where the set of all lengths of edges is rationally independent, but where some edges can have equal lengths. We will call such entities *graphs with trivially rationally dependent edges*. We shall prove that even such graphs can be uniquely reconstructed from the length spectrum and total length of the graph — and, therefore, can be uniquely reconstructed from spectrum of Laplace operator on this graph — provided that the edges with the same length are separated by "sufficiently" many edges with rationally independent lengths. We restrict our considerations to graphs that are finite, clean, connected and simple (i. e. without loops or multiple edges).

We shall begin by generalising Lemma 15 to the case of graphs with trivially rationally dependent edges.

Lemma 19. Let Γ be a finite, clean, connected and simple graph with trivially rationally dependent edges. Assume that the edges of the same length are not neighbours to each other. Then the reduced length spectrum Λ' contains at least the following lengths:

- $4d_j$, for all j = 1, ..., N;
- $2d_j$ if there exist exactly one edge of length d_j ;

- $2(d_i + d_k)$ iff the edges having lengths d_i and d_k are neighbours;
- $2(d_i + d_j + d_k)$ if Δ_i , Δ_j and Δ_k form a path but do not form a cycle.

As before, from the reduced length spectrum, we can obtain the lengths of all the edges. However, we can also get the exact number of edges with the same length, that exist in the graph Γ .

Lemma 20. Assume that Γ is a finite, clean, connected and simple metric graph with trivially rationally dependent edges. Let us denote the number of edges of length d_1 by β_1 , number of edges of length d_2 by β_2 , ..., number of edges of length d_n by β_n (where $\beta_i \ge 1$ for i = 1 ... n).

Then the total length \mathcal{L} of the graph and the reduced length spectrum Λ' determine the lengths of all edges (d_j) , as well as the number of edges having these particular lengths (β_j) .

Lemma 21. Assume that Γ is a finite, clean, connected and simple metric graph with trivially rationally dependent edges. Also assume that any two edges Δ , Δ' with lengths d_i , d_j (where *i* can be equal to *j*), for which $\beta_i \ge 2$ and $\beta_j \ge 2$ (*i.e.* they are both repeating edges), are separated by at least two non-repeating edges (*i.e.* edges for which $\beta = 1$).

Then the graph Γ can be reconstructed from the set $D = \{d_j\}$ of the lengths of all edges and the reduced length spectrum Λ' .

Now, using these three lemmata, we can prove the following theorem

Theorem 22. *The spectrum of a Laplace operator on a metric graph determines the graph uniquely, provided that:*

- the graph is clean, finite, simple and connected,
- the edges are trivially rationally dependent,
- any two repeating edges are separated by at least two non-repeating edges (i. e. ones having rationally independent lengths).

Graphs with weakly rationally dependent edges

In the last part we shall consider a special class of graphs with rationally dependent edges and we will prove that for those graphs the unique reconstruction from the spectrum of the Laplace operator is still possible. We shall use, as before, the trace formula and some properties of mutually prime numbers.

Definition 23. Assume that the metric graph Γ is finite, clean, connected and simple. We say that the lengths of the edges are weakly rationally dependent if the lengths of edges belong to the set

$$\left\{d_1, \frac{p_{12}}{q_{12}}d_1, \frac{p_{13}}{q_{13}}d_1, \dots, \frac{p_{1r_1}}{q_{1r_1}}d_1, d_2, \frac{p_{22}}{q_{22}}d_2, \dots, \frac{p_{2r_2}}{q_{2r_2}}d_2, \dots, d_n, \frac{p_{n2}}{q_{n2}}d_n, \dots, \frac{p_{nr_n}}{q_{nr_n}}d_n\right\}$$

where $p_{ij}/q_{ij} > 1$ are proper fractions, $q_{i2}, q_{i3}, \ldots, q_{ir_i}$ are mutually prime for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_n are rationally independent.

Observe that if n = 1 then all edges in the graph are rationally dependent. On the other hand, if all $p_{ij} = 0$ for $j \ge 2$ and all *i*, then all edges in the graph are rationally independent. Note that the denominators q_{ij} are mutually prime but it does not immediately indicate that they are prime numbers.

Lemma 24. Assume that Γ is a finite, clean, connected and simple metric graph with weakly rationally dependent edges. Then the total length \mathcal{L} of the graph and the reduced length spectrum Λ' determine the lengths of all edges.

Lemma 25. Assume that Γ is a finite, clean, connected and simple metric graph with weakly rationally dependent edges. Then the graph Γ can be reconstructed from the sets $D = \{d_i\}$ and the reduced length spectrum Λ' .

From the two above lemmata we can easily prove the following theorem

Theorem 26. The spectrum of the Laplace operator L on a metric graph Γ determines the graph uniquely, provided that the graph is clean, finite, simple and connected, and the edges are weakly rationally dependent.

7. Reconstruction of the boundary conditions of star graphs

In paper [3] S. Avdonin and P. Kurasov have considered three data sets: (1) reduced by one dimension Titchmarsh-Weyl matrix, (2) reduced by one dimension the scattering matrix and (3) reduced by one dimension response operator for sufficiently large time parameter. They have shown that any one of those sets allows one to reconstruct uniquely the connectivity of the tree, the lengths of edges and the potential q for Schrödinger operator on a tree with m boundary points (equal to the dimension of the scattering matrix).

Similar inverse problem is described in this section and has been investigated in paper IV. We will show that for a star graph with the vertex V of valence v and for asymptotically properly connecting boundary conditions, the principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block of the scattering matrix known for one particular value of the energy, essentially determines the boundary conditions (up to one real parameter, which in principle cannot be recovered). Explicit interpretation of this free parameter is given using unitary equivalent operators. Later we will also show that knowing, in addition, the diagonal elements of the principal block for a finite number of energies one may reconstruct the boundary conditions even in the case of just properly connecting boundary conditions.

Let us remind that the vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ is given, after (12), as

$$S_v(k) = \frac{(k+1)S + k - 1}{(k-1)S + k + 1}, \ k \neq 0.$$
(42)

This formula allows one to establish explicit connection between vertex scattering matrices for different values of the energy parameter

$$S_v(k) = \frac{(k+k_0)S_v(k_0) + k - k_0}{(k-k_0)S_v(k_0) + k + k_0}, \ k, k_0 \neq 0.$$
(43)

7.1. Asymptotically properly connecting matching conditions

In this section we discuss the possibility to reconstruct the matching conditions from the principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block $(S_v(k))_{v;v}$ of the vertex scattering matrix. This part of the matrix is obtained when we send plane waves along the first v-1 edges and measure the reflected waves coming along the same edges. Let us discuss first whether this reconstruction is unique or not. Consider the following unitary transformation in $L_2(\Gamma_{\text{star}})$

$$(T_{\theta}f)(x) = \begin{cases} f(x), & x \in \Delta_j, j = 1, 2, ..., v - 1; \\ e^{i\theta}f(x), & x \in \Delta_v. \end{cases}$$
(44)

This transformation does not change the differential operator but do change the matching conditions at the vertex. The corresponding unitary matrix S^{θ} is changed as follows

$$S^{\theta} = R_{\theta} S^0 R_{-\theta}, \tag{45}$$

where R_{θ} is the following $v \times v$ matrix:

$$R_{\theta} = \operatorname{diag} \{1, 1, ..., 1, e^{i\theta}\} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & e^{i\theta} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (46)

It is clear that this transformation does not change the block $(S_v(k))_{v;v}$ of the matrix S. The same holds for the vertex scattering matrix, since (42) implies that

$$S_v^{\theta}(k) = R_{\theta} S_v^0(k) R_{-\theta}, \tag{47}$$

where $S_v^{\theta}(k)$ is the vertex scattering matrix corresponding to the new conditions.

Theorem 27. Consider the set of $v \times v$ vertex scattering matrices S_v determined by certain asymptotically properly connecting vertex boundary conditions and having the same principal $(v - 1) \times (v - 1)$ block $(S_v(k_0))_{v;v}$ with $det((S_v(k_0))_{v;v} + 1) \neq 0$. This family of matrices can be described by one real phase parameter so that

$$S_v^{\theta}(k) = R_{\theta} S_v^0(k) R_{-\theta}, \tag{48}$$

where R_{θ} is given by (46) and $S_{v}^{0}(k)$ is a certain particular member of the family.

It follows that in the case of asymptotically properly connecting matching conditions the vertex scattering matrix for all values of the energy can be recovered from its principal $(v - 1) \times (v - 1)$ block given for a certain value of the energy parameter k up to one real parameter connected with the unitary transformation given by (47) (provided det $((S_v(k_0))_{v;v} + I) \neq 0$). The corresponding Laplace operators are all unitary equivalent to each other.

We would like to mention that the result just proven is an extension of Theorem 1 from [41], where it is shown that the knowledge of the (whole) scattering matrix for a certain energy allows one to reconstruct the boundary conditions at the vertex and therefore determine the vertex scattering matrix for all other values of the energy.

7.2. Properly connecting matching conditions

In what follows, we discuss the possibility to recover the matching conditions from the principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block of the scattering matrix given for different energies, but without assuming that the boundary conditions are asymptotically properly connecting. It is only assumed that the boundary conditions are just properly connecting. This restriction is not essential, since in the case of not properly connecting conditions one may solve the inverse problem for each block separately. The only case that has to be excluded is where the last edge is not connected to the rest of the star graph. It is clear that in this case no information concerning the boundary condition for edge number v is contained in the principal $(v - 1) \times (v - 1)$ block of the scattering matrix.

In the following theorem we are proving that the knowledge of the principal block $(S_v(k))_{v;v}$ for several energies allows one to reconstruct the boundary conditions at the vertex up to the unitary transformation given by (45) and (46).

Theorem 28. Consider the set of $v \times v$ vertex scattering matrices S_v determined by certain properly connecting vertex boundary conditions and having the same principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block $(S_v(k_0))_{v;v}$, $k_0 > 0$. Assume in addition that these matrices have the same diagonal elements $s_{jj}(k_n)$, j = 1, 2, ..., v - 1 for certain different $k_n > 0, k_n \neq k_0$, n = 1, 2, ..., 2v - 3. Then this family of matrices can be described by one real phase parameter so that

$$S_v^{\theta}(k) = R_{\theta} S_v^0(k) R_{-\theta}, \tag{49}$$

where R_{θ} is given by (46) and $S_{v}^{0}(k)$ is a certain particular member of the family.

The family of vertex scattering matrices having the same principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block can be described by two real parameters so that

$$S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k_0) = R_\alpha S_v^0(k_0) R_\beta,\tag{50}$$

where $S_v^0(k_0)$ is a certain particular member of the family. Then the scattering matrix for all values of the energy parameter k can be calculated using (43)

$$S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k) = \frac{(k+k_0)S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k_0) + k - k_0}{(k-k_0)S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k_0) + k + k_0}.$$
(51)

The proof of this theorem is based on the analysis of the diagonal elements of the matrix $S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k)$ and their dependence on the parameter $\gamma = \alpha + \beta$. It appears that if all those diagonal elements are independent of γ then $S_v^0(k_0)$ has a block diagonal form and hence the corresponding boundary conditions are not properly connecting.
Bibliography

- Alexander S 1985 Superconductivity of networks. A percolation approach to the effects of disorder *Phys. Rev. B* 27 1541–57
- [2] Ambarzumian V A 1929 Über eine Frage der Eigenwerttheorie Z. Physik 53 690–5
- [3] Avdonin S A and Kurasov P 2007 Inverse problems for quantum trees, to appear in Inverse Problems and Imaging (Report Ni07022 Isaac Newton Institute for Mathematical Sciences)
- [4] Avdonin S, Kurasov P and Nowaczyk M 2007 On the Reconstruction of the Boundary Conditions for Star Graphs, Preprint 2007:29 Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Lund University
- [5] Avron J, Raveh A and Zur B 1988 Adiabatic quantum transport in multiply connected systems *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 60 873–915
- [6] Belishev M I 2004 Boundary spectral inverse problem on a class of graphs (trees) by the BC method *Inverse Problems* 20 647–72
- [7] Belishev M I and Vakulenko A F 2006 Inverse problems on graphs: recovering the tree of strings by the BC-method J. Inv. Ill-Posed Problems 14 29–46
- [8] Below von J 2001 Can one hear the shape of a network? Lecture Notes in Pure and Applied Mathematics 219, Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, 19–36
- [9] Birman M S and Solomjak M Z 1987 Spectral theory of self-adjoint operators in Hilbert space *Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series)* (D. Reidel Publishing Company)
- [10] Boman J and Kurasov P 2005 Symmetries of quantum graphs and the inverse scattering problem Adv. in Appl. Math. 35 no. 1, 58–70
- [11] Borg G 1946 Eine Umkehrung der Sturm-Liouvilleschen Eigenwertaufgabe. Bestimmung der Differentialgleichung durch die Eigenwerte Acta Math. 78 1–96
- [12] Borg G 1952 Uniqueness theorems in the spectral theory of $y'' + (\lambda q(x))y = 0$ Den 11te Skandinaviske Matematikerkongress, Trondheim 276–87

- [13] Brown B M and Weikard R 2005 A Borg-Levinson theorem for trees Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 461 no. 2062, 3231–43
- [14] Brown B M and Weikard R On inverse problems for finite trees, to be published in *Proc. OTAMP 2006*
- [15] Brüning J, Greyler V and Pankrashkin K 2007 Cantor and band spectra for periodic quantum graphs with magnetic fields *Comm. Math. Phys.* 269 no.1, 87–105
- [16] Buser P, Conway J, Doyle P and Semmler K D 1994 Some planar isospectral domains *In. Math. Res. Not.* 9 391–400
- [17] Carlson R 1999 Inverse eigenvalue problems on directed graphs Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 351 4069–88
- [18] Chapman S J 1995 Drums That Sound the Same Am. Math. Mon. 102 124-38
- [19] Colin de Verdière 1987 Spectres de variétés riemanniennes et spectres de graphes Proc. ICM 1986 vol.1,2 Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 522–30
- [20] Evans W D and Saitō Y 2000 Neumann Laplacians on domains and operators on associated trees Q. J. Math. 51 313–42
- [21] Exner P 1996 Contact interactions on graph superlattices J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 29 87–102
- [22] Exner P and Seba P 1989 Electrons in semiconductor microstructures: a challenge to operator theorists Schrdinger Operators, Standard and Nonstandard (Dubna 1988) 79–100
- [23] Exner P and Šeba P 1989 Free quantum motion on a branching graph *Rep. Math. Phys.* 28 7-26
- [24] Figotin A and Kuchment P 1996 Band-gap structure of the spectrum of periodic and acoustic media II. 2D Photonic crystals SIAM J. Applied Math. 56 1561–620
- [25] Freidlin M and Wentzell A 1993 Diffusion processes on graphs and the averaging principle Ann. Prob. 21 2215–45
- [26] Freiling G and Yurko V 2007 Inverse problems for Strum-Liouville operators on noncompact trees *Results Math.* 50 no. 3-4, 195–212
- [27] Freiling G and Yurko V 2007 Inverse problems for differential operators on trees with general matching conditions *Applicable Analysis* 86 no. 6, 653–67
- [28] Friedlander L 2005 Genericity of simple eigenvalues for a metric graph *Israel Journal of Mathematics* 146 149–56
- [29] Gelfand I M and Levitan B M 1951 On the determination of a differential equation from its spectral function *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR* 15 309–60 (Eng. transl. 1955 *Amer. Math. Soc. Transl Ser.* 2 1 253–304)

- [30] Gerasimenko N I 1988 Inverse scattering problem on a noncompact graph *Teoret*. *Mat. Fiz.* **75** 187–200 (Eng. transl. 1988 *Theoret. and Math. Phys.* **75** 460–70)
- [31] Gerasimenko N I and Pavlov B S 1988 Scattering problems on noncompact graphs *Teoret. Mat. Fiz.* 74 345–59 (Eng. transl. 1988 *Theoret. and Math. Phys.* 74 230–40)
- [32] Gordon C, Webb D and Wolpert S 1992 You cannot hear the shape of a drum *B*. *Am. Math. S.* bf 27 134–8
- [33] Gordon C, Webb D and Wolpert S 1992 Isospectral plane domains and surfaces via Riemannian orbifolds *Invent. math.* **110** 1–22
- [34] Griffith J 1953 A free-electron theory of conjugated molecules I. Polycyclic Hydrocarbons *Trans. Faraday Soc.* 49 345–51
- [35] Griffith J 1953 A free-electron theory of conjugated molecules II. A derived algebraic scheme *Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc.* 49 650–8
- [36] Gutkin B and Smilansky U 2001 Can one hear the shape of a graph? J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 34 6061–8
- [37] Harmer M 2000 Hermitian symplectic geometry and extension theory J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 33 9193–203
- [38] Harmer M 2002 Inverse scattering for the matrix Schrödinger operator and Schrödinger operator on graphs with general self-adjoint boundary conditions ANZIAM J. 44 161–8
- [39] Kac M 1966 Can one hear the shape of a drum? Am. Math. Monthly 73 1-23
- [40] Kostrykin V and Schrader R 1999 Kirchoff's rule for quantum wires J. Phys. A:Math. Gen. **32** 595–630
- [41] Kostrykin V and Schrader R 2000 Kirchoff's rule for quantum wires. II: The inverse problem with possible applications to quantum computers *Fortschr. Phys.* 48 703–16
- [42] Kostrykin V and Schrader R 2006 The inverse scattering problem for metric graphs and the traveling salesman problem, arXiv:math-ph/0603010
- [43] Kottos T and Smilansky U 1999 Periodic orbit theory and spectral statistics for quantum graphs Ann. Physics 274 76–124
- [44] Kuchment P 2002 Graph models for waves in thin structures Waves Random Media 12 R1–R24
- [45] Kuchment P 2004 Quantum graphs. I. Some basic structures. Special section on quantum graphs Waves Random Media 14 S107–28
- [46] Kuchment P 2005 Quantum graphs. II. Some spectral properties of quantum and combinatorial graphs J. Phys. A 38 no. 22, 4887–900

- [47] Kuchment P and Kunyansky L 2002 Differential operators on graphs and photonic crystals Adv. Comput. Math. 16 263–90
- [48] Kurasov P 2007 Graph laplacians and topology, to appear in Arkiv för Matematik
- [49] Kurasov P 2007 Schrödinger operators on graphs and geometry I: essentially bounded potentials, to appear in *J.Func. Anal.*
- [50] Kurasov P and Nowaczyk M 2005 Inverse spectral problem for quantum graphs J. Phys. A: Math. Gen 38 4901–15
- [51] Kurasov P and Nowaczyk M 2007 Geometric properties of quantum graphs and vertex scattering matrices, Preprint 2007:21 Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Lund University.
- [52] Kurasov P and Stenberg F 2002 On the inverse scattering problem on branching graphs J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 35 101–21
- [53] Marchenko V A 1952 Some questions of the theory of one-dimensional linear differential operators of the second order *Trudy Moscov. Mat. Obsch.* **1** 327–420 (Eng. transl. 1973 Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2 **101** 1–104)
- [54] Milnor J 1964 Eigenvalues of the Laplace operator on certain manifolds Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 51 542
- [55] Naimark K and Solomyak M 2000 Eigenvalue estimates for the weighted Laplacian on metric trees *Proc. London Math. Soc.* **80** 690–724
- [56] Naimark K and Solomyak M 2001 Geometry of Sobolev spaces on regular trees and the Hardy inequalities *Russ. J. Math. Phys.* 8 322–35
- [57] Novikov S 1998 Discrete Schrödinger operators and topology Asian J. Math 2 921–34
- [58] Nowaczyk M 2005 Inverse Spectral Problems for Quantum Graphs Licentiate Theses in Mathematical Sciences 2005:10 Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Lund
- [59] Nowaczyk M 2007 Inverse spectral problem for quantum graphs with rationally dependent edges *Operator Theory, Analysis and Mathematical Physics* Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 147 105–16
- [60] Pankrashkin K 2006 Spectra of Schrdinger operators on equilateral quantum graphs Lett. Math. Phys. 77 139–54
- [61] Pavlov B S 1987 The theory of extensions, and explicitly solvable models (Russian) *Uspekhi Mat. Nauk* **42** 99–131, 247
- [62] Pistol M.-E. et al. 2006 Fabrication, optical characterization and modeling of strained core-shell nanowires *Thin Solid Films* 793–96
- 32

- [63] Pistol M.-E., Zanolli Z, Fröberg L E and Samuelson L 2007 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 19 295219 (8pp)
- [64] Roth J-P 1984 Le spectre du laplacien sur un graphe Lectures Notes in Mathematics: Theorie du Potentiel 1096 521–39
- [65] Rubinstein J and Schatzman M 1998 On multiply connected mesoscopic superconducting structures Sémin. Théor. Spectr. Géom. 15 Univ. Grenoble I, Saint-Martin-dHeres 207–20
- [66] Ruedenberg K and Scherr C 1953 Free-electron network model for conjugated systems I. Theory J. Chem. Phys. 21 1565–81
- [67] Shepherd T and Roberts P 1997 Soluble two-dimensional photonic-crystal model Phys. Rev. E 55 6024–38
- [68] Sobolev A V and Solomyak M 2002 Schrödinger operators on homogeneous metric trees: spectrum in gaps *Rev. Math. Phys.* **14** 421–67
- [69] Solomyak M 2003 Laplace and Schrödinger operators on regular metric trees: the discrete spectrum case. Function spaces, differential operators and nonlinear analysis (Teistungen, 2001) 161–81 (Basel: Birkhäuser)
- [70] Solomyak M 2003 On approximation of functions from Sobolev spaces on metric graphs J. Approx. Theory 121 199–219
- [71] Solomyak M 2004 On the spectrum of the Laplacian on regular metric trees. Special section on quantum graphs *Waves Random Media* **14** S155–71
- [72] Sunada T 1985 Riemannian coverings and isospectral manifolds Ann. Math. 121 248–77
- [73] Wernersson E *Spectral problems for some finite and infinite quantum graphs* MSc thesis at Lund University, to appear
- [74] Yurko V 2005 Inverse spectral problems for Sturm-Liouville operators on graphs Inverse Problems 21 1075–86

Paper I

Inverse Spectral Problem for Quantum Graphs*

Pavel Kurasov^{1,2} Marlena Nowaczyk¹

¹Department of Mathematics, Lund Institute of Technology, Box 118,210 00 Lund, Sweden ²Dept. of Physics, S:t Petersburg Univ., 198504 S:t Petersburg, Russia

E-mail: kurasov@maths.lth.se and marlena@maths.lth.se

Abstract

The inverse spectral problem for the Laplace operator on a finite metric graph is investigated. It is shown that this problem has a unique solution for graphs with rationally independent edges and without vertices having valence 2. To prove the result trace formula connecting the spectrum of the Laplace operator with the set of periodic orbits for the metric graph is established.

1. Introduction

Differential operators on metric graphs (quantum graphs) is a rather new and rapidly developing area of modern mathematical physics. Such operators can be used to model the motion of quantum particles confined to certain low dimensional structures. This explains recent interest to such problems due to possible applications to quantum computing and design of nanoelectronic devices [1].

Quantum graphs are differential (self-adjoint) operators on metric graphs determined on the functions satisfying certain boundary conditions at the vertices. Therefore these operators combine features of both ordinary and partial differential equations. On every edge the differential equation to solve is an ordinary differential equation which includes the spectral parameter. On the other hand the Cauchy problem on the whole graph is not solvable but for special values of the spectral parameter and Cauchy data only. The main mathematical tool used in this article - the trace formula - supports this point of view. This formula establishes the connection between the spectrum of the Laplace operator on a metric graph and *the length spectrum* - the set of all periodic orbits on the graph. This is in complete analogy with the semiclassical approach due to V. Guillemin and R. Melrose [19; 20] and the relations between the spectrum of a

^{*}Appeared in J. Phys. A: Math. Gen 38 (2005) 4901-15

Laplace operator on certain two-dimensional domains and operators on graphs established in [6; 7]. J.P. Roth [31] has proven trace formula for quantum graphs using the heat kernel approach. An independent way to derive trace formula using scattering approach was suggested by B. Gutkin, T. Kottos and U. Smilansky [21; 24]. We provide mathematically rigorous proof of this result. The trace formula is applied to reconstruct the graph from the spectrum of the corresponding Laplace operator. This procedure can be carried out in the case when the lengths of the edges are rationally independent and the graph has no vertices having valence 2. A rigorous proof of this fact is also provided in the current paper (Theorem 2). We decided to restrict our consideration to the case of the so-called Laplace operator on metric graphs - the second derivative operator with natural or free boundary conditions at the vertices. The results proven in the current paper are stronger than those proposed in [21]: it is not required that the graph is simple i.e. graphs with loops and multiple edges are allowed. We believe that our methods can now be extended to prove similar results for arbitrary quantum graphs with rationally independent edges.

Explicit examples constructed in [21; 27; 3] show that the inverse spectral and scattering problems for quantum graphs in general do not have a unique solution (if no restriction on the lengths of the edges is imposed).

The notion of quantum graphs was introduced in the 80-ies by B. Pavlov and N. Gerasimenko [17; 18; 30]. Many important examples including graphs with higher dimensional inclusions were considered by P. Exner and P. Šeba [13; 16] (see also two conference proceedings volumes [14; 15] collecting articles on this subject). The extension theory used in the current article is similar to one developed for multi-interval problems in [8; 9; 10; 11; 12]. One can find recent reference list with historical remarks in the book [2] and volumes [25; 26] devoted entirely to quantum graphs.

The spectral problem for quantum graphs has been investigated recently by K. Naimark, A. Sobolev and M. Solomyak [28; 29; 32; 33; 34; 35]. The inverse spectral problem was investigated by B. Gutkin and U. Smilansky [21] and for a special class of operators in [5]. Borg-Levison theorem for Sturm-Louville operator on trees was proven in [4]. The direct scattering problem was investigated by V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader [23]. The inverse scattering problem is discussed in [27] and [22].

2. Basic definitions

Consider arbitrary finite metric graph Γ consisting of N edges. The edges will be identified with the intervals of the real line $\Delta_j = [x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}] \subset \mathbb{R}, j = 1, 2, ..., N$. Their length will be denoted by $d_j = |x_{2j} - x_{2j-1}|$. Let us denote by M the number of vertices that can be obtained by dividing the set $\{x_k\}_{k=1}^{2N}$ of endpoints into equivalence classes $V_m, m = 1, 2, ..., M$. The coordinate parametrization of the edges does not play any important role, therefore we are going to identify metric graphs having the same topological structure and the same lengths of the edges. More precisely this equivalence is described in [27; 3]. A graph Γ is called *clean* if it contains no vertices of valence 2 can easily be removed by substituting the two edges joined at the vertex by one edge with the length equal to the sum of the lengths of the two edges. This procedure is called *cleaning* [27].

To define the self-adjoint differential operator on Γ consider the Hilbert space of square integrable functions on Γ

$$\mathcal{H} \equiv L^2(\Gamma) = \bigoplus \sum_{j=1}^N L^2(\Delta_j) = \bigoplus \sum_{n=1}^N L^2[x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}].$$
 (1)

The Laplace operator on Γ is the sum of second derivative operators in each space $L^2(\Delta_j)$,

$$H = \oplus \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(-\frac{d^2}{dx^2} \right).$$
⁽²⁾

This differential expression does not determine the self-adjoint operator uniquely. Two differential operators in $L^2(\Gamma)$ are naturally associated with the differential expression (2): the minimal operator with domain $\text{Dom}(H_{\min}) = \bigoplus \sum_{j=1}^{N} C_0^{\infty}(\Delta_j)$ the maximal operator H_{\max} with the domain $\text{Dom}(H_{\max}) = \bigoplus \sum_{j=1}^{N} W_2^2(\Delta_j)$, where W_2^2 denotes the Sobolev space.

All self-adjoint operators associated with (2) can be obtained by restricting the maximal operator to a subspace using certain boundary conditions connecting boundary values of the functions on Γ associated with the same vertex.

The functions from the domain $\text{Dom}(H_{\text{max}})$ are continuous and have continuous first derivatives on each edge Δ_j . The Hilbert space \mathcal{H} introduced above does not reflect the connectivity of the graph. It is the boundary conditions that connect values of the function on different edges. Therefore these conditions have to be chosen in a special way so that they reflect the connectivity of the graph. See [27] for the discussion how the most general boundary conditions can be chosen. In the current article we restrict our consideration to the case of natural, or free boundary conditions given by

$$\begin{cases} f(x_j) = f(x_k), & x_j, x_k \in V_m, \\ \sum_{x_j \in V_m} \partial_n f(x_j) = 0, & m = 1, 2, \dots, M, \end{cases}$$
(3)

where $\partial_n f(x_j)$ denotes the normal derivative of the function f at the endpoint x_j . The functions satisfying these conditions are continuous at the vertices. In the case of the vertex with valence 2 conditions (3) imply that the function and its first derivative are continuous at the vertex, i.e. the vertex can be removed as described above.

The Laplace operator $H(\Gamma)$ on the metric graph Γ is the operator H_{max} given by (2) restricted to the set of functions satisfying boundary conditions (3). This operator is self-adjoint [27] and uniquely determined by the graph Γ . Therefore the inverse spectral problem for $H(\Gamma)$ is to reconstruct the graph Γ from the set of eigenvalues.

The Laplace operator $H(\Gamma)$ can be considered as a finite rank (in the resolvent sense) perturbation of the operator H_{max} restricted to the set of functions satisfying Dirichlet boundary conditions at the vertices. This operator is equal to the orthogonal sum of the second derivative operators on the disjoined intervals and therefore has pure discrete spectrum. Hence the spectrum of the operator $H(\Gamma)$ is also pure discrete with unique accumulation point at $+\infty$. The quadratic form of the operator

$$\langle Hf, f \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{x_{2j-1}}^{x_{2j}} (-f''(x)) \overline{f(x)} dx = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{x_{2j-1}}^{x_{2j}} |f'(x)|^2 dx \ge 0$$

is nonnegative and therefore the operator H is nonnegative. Thus the spectrum of H contains of an infinite sequence of nonnegative real numbers accumulating to $+\infty$. The kernel of the operator contains only constant functions on Γ (see Lemma 1).

3. Trace formula

In this section we establish the correspondence between the positive spectrum of the operator $H(\Gamma)$ and *the length spectrum* of the metric graph Γ - the set L of lengths of all periodic orbits of Γ . Our presentation follows essentially [21; 24], but we were able to correct few minor mistakes making presentation mathematically rigorous.

Let us establish the secular equation determining all positive eigenvalues of the operator H. Suppose that ψ is an eigenfunction for the operator corresponding to the positive spectral parameter $E = k^2 > 0$. Then this function is a solution to the one-dimensional Schrödinger equation on the edges $-\frac{d^2\psi}{dx^2} = k^2\psi$. The general solution to the differential equation on the edge $\Delta_j = [x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}]$ with the length $d_j = |x_{2j} - x_{2j-1}|$ can be written in the basis of incoming waves as follows

$$\psi(x) = a_{2j-1}e^{ik|x-x_{2j-1}|} + a_{2j}e^{ik|x-x_{2j}|},\tag{4}$$

where a_m is the amplitude of the wave coming in from the end point x_m .



The same solution in the basis of outgoing waves possesses a similar representation

$$\psi(x) = b_{2j}e^{-ik|x-x_{2j}|} + b_{2j-1}e^{-ik|x-x_{2j-1}|}$$

where

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_{2j-1} \\ b_{2j} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{ikd_j} \\ e^{ikd_j} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_{2j-1} \\ a_{2j} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5)

The following notation will be useful

$$e^{j} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & e^{ikd_{j}} \\ e^{ikd_{j}} & 0 \end{array}\right).$$

40

If one introduces the 2N dimensional vectors of amplitudes of incoming and outgoing waves

$$\mathbf{a} = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{c} a_{2j-1} \\ a_{2j} \end{array} \right) \right\}_{j=1}^{N}; \ \mathbf{b} = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{c} b_{2j-1} \\ b_{2j} \end{array} \right) \right\}_{j=1}^{N};$$

the relation (5) can be written as

$$\mathbf{b} = \mathcal{E}\mathbf{a}, \text{ where } \mathcal{E} = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} e^1 & 0 & \dots \\ \hline 0 & e^2 & \dots \\ \hline \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{array}\right)$$
(6)

is a block matrix composed of matrices e^j on the diagonal.

Consider any vertex $V_m = \{x_{l_1}, x_{l_2}, ..., x_{l_{v_m}}\}$ of valence $v_m = \operatorname{val}(V_m)$ connecting exactly v_m edges (counting multiplicities). Then knowing the amplitudes $b_{l_j}, j = 1, 2, ..., v_m$ of all waves $b_{l_j} e^{-ik|x-x_{l_j}|}$ approaching the vertex V_m , the amplitudes $a_{l_j}, j = 1, 2, ..., v_m$ of all waves $a_{l_j} e^{ik|x-x_{l_j}|}$ going out from the vertex can be calculated from the boundary conditions (3).

We introduce the notations

$$\mathbf{a}^{m} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{l_{1}} \\ a_{l_{2}} \\ \vdots \\ a_{l_{v_{m}}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{b}^{m} = \begin{pmatrix} b_{l_{1}} \\ b_{l_{2}} \\ \vdots \\ b_{l_{v_{m}}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then the relation between the vector $\mathbf{a}^{\mathbf{m}}$ and $\mathbf{b}^{\mathbf{m}}$ is described by a certain vertex scattering matrix σ^{m} determined by the boundary condition

$$\mathbf{a}^{\mathbf{m}} = \sigma^{\mathbf{m}} \mathbf{b}^{\mathbf{m}}.\tag{7}$$

For natural boundary conditions the vertex scattering matrix does not depend on the energy

$$\sigma_{jk}^{m} = \begin{cases} \frac{2}{v_{m}}, & j \neq k, \\ \frac{2-v_{m}}{v_{m}}, & j = k, \end{cases} \quad v_{m} \neq 1.$$

$$(8)$$

Observe that for $v_m = 2$ and $v_m = 1$ the scattering matrices are trivial and equal to $\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^{\dagger}$ and $\sigma = 1$, respectively, which explains the reason to call the boundary conditions (3) free or natural (and the operator H the Laplace operator). For the same reason we have to exclude vertices with valence 2 from our consideration and consider clean graphs only, since one cannot "distinguish" vertices of valence 2 with natural boundary conditions from the other internal points of the edges. In the case $v_m = 1$ (loose endpoint) the boundary condition coincides with Neumann condition.

[†]Observe that in our parametrization the scattering matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ corresponds to zero reflection coefficient and unit transition coefficient — no scattering occurs in that case.

The connection between the amplitudes **b** and **a** given by the vertex scattering matrices appears in a simple way if one considers the basis associated with the vertices

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{a}^{1} \\ \mathbf{a}^{2} \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{a}^{M} \end{pmatrix} = \Sigma \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{b}^{1} \\ \mathbf{b}^{2} \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{b}^{M} \end{pmatrix}, \text{ where } \Sigma = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^{1} & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & \sigma^{2} & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}.$$
(9)

Then formulae (6) and (9) imply that the amplitudes a determine an eigenfunction of $H(\Gamma)$ for E > 0 if and only if $\mathbf{a} = \Sigma \mathcal{E} \mathbf{a}$, i.e. the matrix

$$U(k) = \Sigma \mathcal{E}(k) \tag{10}$$

has eigenvalue 1 and **a** is the corresponding eigenvector. Observe that the matrices Σ and \mathcal{E} have simple representations in different bases associated with the vertices and edges respectively. Thus the nonzero spectrum of the operator H can be calculated as zeroes of the following function:

$$f(k) = \det(U(k) - I) = 0$$
 (11)

on the positive axis. Let us denote the eigenvalues of the Laplace operator H in nondecreasing order as follows

$$E_0 = k_0^2 = 0 < E_1 = k_1^2 \le E_2 = k_2^2 \le \dots$$

Then the zeroes of the function f(k) are situated at the points

$$k = 0, \pm \sqrt{E_1}, \pm \sqrt{E_2}, \dots$$

(Lemma 1 see below, implies that $E_0 = 0$ has multiplicity 1). Together with the secular equation (11) we are going to consider the corresponding linear system

$$(U(k) - I)\mathbf{a} = 0, \tag{12}$$

which has nontrivial solutions if and only if (12) is satisfied.

Let us call by *spectral multiplicity* the multiplicity of the eigenvalue E of the operator H and by *algebraic multiplicity* the dimension of the linear space of solutions to the equation (11).

The spectral and algebraic multiplicities of all non-zero eigenvalues of H coincide, since for $E \neq 0$ there is a one to one correspondence between a and $\psi(x)$ (see (4)).

Let us study the point E = 0 in more details.

Lemma 1. Let Γ be a connected metric graph with N edges and M vertices. Then the point E = 0 is an eigenvalue for the Laplace operator H with the spectral multiplicity 1 and algebraic multiplicity N - M + 2.

PROOF. If E = 0 then the corresponding eigenfunction should satisfy the following equation $-\frac{d^2\psi}{dx^2} = 0$ on each edge. The solution to this equation is just a linear

function. In addition the function should satisfy the boundary conditions (3). To prove the first part of the lemma it is enough to show that the unique eigenfunction is constant (having equal values on all edges). Assume that there is an eigenfunction which is not constant. Since such function is linear on the edges it attains its maximum and minimum at the end points of the edges, i.e. at the vertices. Consider the vertex being the global maximum point for the function. Then the sum of the normal derivatives at this vertex is a sum of non-positive numbers but it is equal to zero. Therefore all normal derivatives are equal to zero and the function is constant on all edges meeting at the vertex in question. It follows that the eigenfunction attains maximum at all neighbouring vertices. Proceeding with the same argument and taking into account the continuity condition we conclude that the function is constant on the whole graph since it is connected.

The general solutions to the equation (12) are given by (4) on each edge. Now if E = 0 then k = 0 and using continuity of the eigenfunction at the vertices, the amplitudes a_j have to fulfill the relation $a_{2j-1} + a_{2j} = a_{2k-1} + a_{2k}$ where j, k are indices such that the edges Δ_j and Δ_k are connected. When the graph is connected there is always a path from Δ_1 to any other edge Δ_j . This system of equations is equivalent t the following system of N - 1 linearly independent equations: $a_1 + a_2 = a_{2j-1} + a_{2j}$, where $j = 2, \ldots, N$.

Moreover, the second boundary condition provides an additional M - 1 linearly independent relations among elements a_j . Thus the number of linearly independent solutions to (12) is equal to 2N - (N - 1) - (M - 1) = N - M + 2. Hence the algebraic multiplicity is N - M + 2. \Box

Thus the secular equation (11) gives all nonnegative eigenvalues of $H(\Gamma)$ with correct multiplicities except for the point E = 0.

The function f is analytic in \mathbb{C} , because all elements of the finite matrix U(k) are analytic functions of the variable k. Zeroes of this function cannot accumulate to any finite point, since f is analytic and it is not identically equal to zero. This gives another proof for the fact that the spectrum of the operator H is discrete.

Let us introduce the distribution u connected with the spectral measure

$$u \equiv \delta(k) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\delta(k - k_n) + \delta(k + k_n) \right).$$

For any test function $\varphi \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R})$ the value of the distribution $u[\varphi]$ can be calculated using the function f as follows

$$u[\varphi] = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{f'(k-i\varepsilon)}{f(k-i\varepsilon)} - \frac{f'(k+i\varepsilon)}{f(k+i\varepsilon)} \right) \varphi(k) dk - (N-M+1)\varphi(0),$$
(13)

where the correction term $-(N - M + 1)\varphi(0)$ appears due to the difference between the spectral and algebraic multiplicities at E = 0.

Since the function φ has compact support, say the interval [a, b], the sum is in fact finite and thus it is sufficient to study the case when the support of φ contains only one zero of f, say a simple zero k_j . In this case we have

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \delta(k-k_j)\varphi(k)dk = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{a}^{b} \left(\frac{f'(k-i\varepsilon)}{f(k-i\varepsilon)} - \frac{f'(k+i\varepsilon)}{f(k+i\varepsilon)}\right)\varphi(k)dk$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(\int_{a}^{k_{j}-\chi} + \int_{k_{j}-\chi}^{k_{j}+\chi} + \int_{k_{j}+\chi}^{b} \right) (\dots) \varphi(k) \mathrm{d}k,$$

where $\chi \ll 1$. The first and the third integrals have trivial limits

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(\int_a^{k_j - \chi} + \int_{k_j + \chi}^b (\dots) \varphi(k) \mathrm{d}k = 0, \right)$$

since $\frac{f'(k)}{f(k)}\varphi(k)$ is a continuous function outside $(k_j - \chi, k_j + \chi)$. We can split the middle integral into two as follows

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \varphi(k_j) \int_{k_j - \chi}^{k_j + \chi} (\ldots) dk + \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{k_j - \chi}^{k_j + \chi} (\ldots) (\varphi(k) - \varphi(k_j)) dk.$$

The integrand in the second integral is uniformly bounded, and therefore its absolute value is less than a constant times χ . The first integral can be transformed to the integral over a small circle around k_j , due to residue calculus equal to $\varphi(k_j)$. Therefore we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \varphi(k_j) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{f'(k-i\varepsilon)}{f(k-i\varepsilon)} - \frac{f'(k+i\varepsilon)}{f(k+i\varepsilon)} \right) \mathrm{d}k = \varphi(k_j) = \delta(k-k_j)[\varphi].$$

If the support of φ contains several zeroes of f, then the following formula holds

$$u[\varphi] = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [(\ln f(k-i0))' - (\ln f(k+i0))']\varphi(k) dk - (N-M+1)\varphi(0).$$
(14)

For any diagonalizable nonsingular matrix A the following equation holds modulo $2\pi i$:

$$\ln \det A = \operatorname{Tr} \ln A. \tag{15}$$

In the case when all entries of the matrix function A = A(k) are differentiable we get the equality:

$$(\ln \det A(k))' = (\operatorname{Tr} \ln A(k))'.$$
(16)

The matrix A(k) = U(k) - I is diagonalizable for real k, since $U(k) = \Sigma \mathcal{E}(k)$ is unitary there. This property holds true in a certain neighbourhood of the real line, since the entries of $\mathcal{E}(k)$ are analytic functions.

Moreover the matrix $U(k) - I = \Sigma \mathcal{E}(k) - I$ is nonsingular outside the real axis because

- 1. for Imk > 0, $||U(k)|| = ||\mathcal{E}(k)|| < 1$, this implies that $\det(U I) \neq 0$,
- 2. for Imk < 0, $||U^{-1}(k)|| = ||\mathcal{E}^{-1}(k)|| < 1$, this implies that $\det(U I) = \det(U(I U^{-1})) = \det U \cdot \det(I U^{-1}) \neq 0$.

Formula (16) holds for A(k) = U(k) - I and for $k \neq k_n$ from the neighbourhood of the real line.

With the function $f(k) = \det(U(k) - I)$ we have then

$$\begin{split} u[\varphi] &+ (N - M + 1)\varphi(0) = \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{(\ln \det(U(k - i0) - I))' - (\ln \det(U(k + i0) - I))'\}\varphi(k)dk \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{(\operatorname{Tr}\ln(U(k - i0) - I))' - (\operatorname{Tr}\ln(U(k + i0) - I))'\}\varphi(k)dk \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{\operatorname{Tr}(\ln(U(k - i0) - I))' - \operatorname{Tr}(\ln(U(k + i0) - I))'\}\varphi(k)dk \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left\{\operatorname{Tr}\frac{U'(k - i0)}{U(k - i0) - I} - \operatorname{Tr}\frac{U'(k + i0)}{U(k + i0) - I}\right\}\varphi(k)dk. \end{split}$$

Since $||\mathcal{E}(k+i\varepsilon)|| < 1$, the norm $||U(k+i\varepsilon)||$ is also less than 1 and the geometric expansion can be used

$$\operatorname{Tr}\frac{U'(k+i\varepsilon)}{I-U(k+i\varepsilon)} = \operatorname{Tr}\left((I+U(k+i\varepsilon)+U^2(k+i\varepsilon)+\ldots)U'(k+i\varepsilon)\right)$$

In the lower half-plane ${\rm Im}(k-i\varepsilon)<0,$ $||U^{-1}(k-i\varepsilon)||<1$ and we get:

$$\operatorname{Tr} \frac{U'(k-i\varepsilon)}{U(k-i\varepsilon)-I} = \operatorname{Tr} \frac{1}{U(k-i\varepsilon)} \frac{U'(k-i\varepsilon)}{I-U^{-1}(k-i\varepsilon)}$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr} U(k-i\varepsilon)^{-1} ((I+U^{-1}(k-i\varepsilon)+U^{-2}(k-i\varepsilon)+\ldots)U'(k-i\varepsilon))$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr} ((U^{-1}(k-i\varepsilon)+U^{-2}(k-i\varepsilon)+\ldots)U'(k-i\varepsilon)).$$

Putting together the last two expansions we have

$$u[\varphi] + (N - M + 1)\varphi(0) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [\operatorname{Tr}((I + U(k + i\varepsilon) + \ldots)U'(k + i\varepsilon)) + \operatorname{Tr}((U^{-1}(k - i\varepsilon) + U^{-2}(k - i\varepsilon) + \ldots)U'(k - i\varepsilon))]\varphi(k) dk.$$

Taking into account that the matrix Σ is independent of the energy one gets

$$U' = \Sigma \mathcal{E}i\mathcal{D} = iU\mathcal{D},$$

where $\mathcal{D} = \text{diag}[d_1, d_1, d_2, d_2, d_3, d_3, \ldots]$ (in the basis associated with the edges). Substitution into the previous formula implies

$$u[\varphi] + (N - M + 1)\varphi(0) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [\operatorname{Tr}((I + U(k + i\varepsilon) + \dots)U(k + i\varepsilon)i\mathcal{D})]$$

+Tr(
$$(U^{-1}(k-i\varepsilon) + U^{-2}(k-i\varepsilon) + \ldots)U(k-i\varepsilon)i\mathcal{D})]\varphi(k)dk$$
 (17)

In the last formula one can exchange the $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}$ and the integral sign, since the sum under the integral is absolutely converging. To prove that one can use the fact that the test function φ has compact support and is infinitely many times differentiable and

therefore its Fourier transform decays faster than any polynomial, i.e. in particular the following estimate holds

$$\left|\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i(k+i\varepsilon)d}\varphi(k)\mathrm{d}k\right| \leq \frac{C}{d^{N+1}}, \qquad |d| > 1$$

where C is a certain positive constant. Entries of the matrices U(k) are exponential functions $e^{i(k+i\varepsilon)d_j}$. Therefore the entries of the matrix $U^m(k+i\varepsilon)$ are equal to sums of exponentials $e^{i(k+i\varepsilon)\sum_{j=1}^m d_{\alpha_j}}$, where $\vec{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_m)$ is an *m*-dimensional vector with nonnegative integer coordinates less or equal to N. The number of all such vectors is less than m^{N-1} . Then the product of matrices $U^m(k)\mathcal{D}$ can be written as a finite sum with less than m^{N-1} items

$$U^{m}(k+i\varepsilon)\mathcal{D} = \sum_{\vec{\alpha}} B_{\vec{\alpha}} e^{i(k+i\varepsilon)\sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{\alpha_{j}}},$$

where the norms of the constant matrices $B_{\vec{\alpha}}$ are not greater than the norm of the matrix $U^m(k + i\varepsilon)\mathcal{D}$ equal to $\max\{d_j\}$. Therefore the traces $|\operatorname{Tr} B_{\vec{\alpha}}|$ are less than $2N\max\{d_j\}$. Then every item containing positive powers of U can be estimated as

$$\left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr}[U^{m}(k+i\varepsilon)\mathcal{D}]\varphi(k)\mathrm{d}k \right| = \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\sum_{\vec{\alpha}} B_{\vec{\alpha}} e^{i(k+i\varepsilon)\sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{\alpha_{j}}} \right] \varphi(k)\mathrm{d}k \right|$$
$$\leq \sum_{\vec{\alpha}} 2N \max\{d_{j}\} \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i(k+i\varepsilon)\sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{\alpha_{j}}} \varphi(k)\mathrm{d}k \right|$$
$$\leq m^{N-1} 2N \max\{d_{j}\} \frac{C}{m^{N+1}(\min\{d_{j}\})^{N+1}} \leq \frac{K}{m^{2}},$$
(18)

where K is another constant. Estimating the sum of negative powers of U in a similar way the following formula is now proven

$$u[\varphi] = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr}((\dots + U^{-1}(k) + I + U(k) + \dots)i\mathcal{D})\varphi(k) dk - (N - M + 1)\varphi(0),$$

i.e.

$$u = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \operatorname{Tr} \left[(\dots + U^{-1}(k) + I + U(k) + \dots) i \mathcal{D} \right] - N \delta(k).$$
 (19)

To calculate the trace, let us introduce the orthonormal basis of incoming waves to be $e_1 = (1, 0, 0, ...), e_2 = (0, 1, 0, ...), ..., e_{2N} = (..., 0, 0, 1)$. By a *periodic orbit* we understand any oriented closed path on Γ . Note that the orbit so defined does not have any starting point. To any such (continuous) periodic orbit p one can associate the *discrete periodic orbit* consisting of all edges that the orbit comes across. Also let:

- \mathcal{P} be the set of all periodic orbits for the graph Γ ,
- l(p) be the geometric length of a periodic orbit p,
- n(p) be the discrete length of p the number of edges that the orbit comes across,

- \mathcal{P}_m^n be the set of all periodic orbits going through the point x_m into the interval $\Delta_{\lceil \frac{m+1}{2} \rceil}$, where $\lceil \cdot \rceil$ denotes the integer part, and having discrete length n,
- $\operatorname{prim}(p)$ denotes a primitive periodic orbit, i.e. such that p is a multiple of $\operatorname{prim}(p)$
- d(p) = n(p)/n(prim(p)) is the degree of p.

The geometric length of an orbit is equal to the sum of lengths of the edges composing the orbit (with multiplicities of course). When the orbit goes from one edge to another it passes through a vertex and we will need to take into account the corresponding scattering coefficients. Then let us denote by $\mathcal{T}(p)$ the set of all scattering coefficients along the orbit p.

The right-hand side of (19) can be divided in three parts: identity, all positive powers of U and all negative powers of U. The first part gives

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr}(I\mathcal{D}) = \frac{2\mathcal{L}}{2\pi} = \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\pi},$$

where $\mathcal{L} = d_1 + d_2 + \ldots + d_N$ is the total length of the graph Γ .

Contribution from all other terms can be calculated using corresponding periodic orbits. Let us consider for example the contribution from U^4 :

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr}(U^4 \mathcal{D}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{2N} \langle U^4 \mathcal{D} e_n, e_n \rangle.$$

Using that $\mathcal{D}e_n = d_{\left[\frac{n+1}{2}\right]}e_n$ and definition (10), the trace can be calculated

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr}(U^{4}\mathcal{D}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{2N} d_{\left[\frac{n+1}{2}\right]} < U^{4}e_{n}, e_{n} >$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{2N} d_{\left[\frac{n+1}{2}\right]} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}_{n}^{4}} \left(\prod_{\sigma_{ij}^{m} \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \sigma_{(ij)}^{m}\right) e^{ikl(p)}$$

Now we will sum all positive powers

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr}[(U^{1} + U^{2} + U^{3} + \ldots)\mathcal{D}] = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{2N} \langle U^{s}\mathcal{D}e_{n}, e_{n} \rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{2N} d_{[\frac{n+1}{2}]} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}_{n}^{s}} \left(\prod_{\sigma_{ij}^{m} \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \sigma_{ij}^{m}\right) e^{ikl(p)}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) \left(\prod_{\sigma_{ij}^{m} \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \sigma_{ij}^{m}\right) e^{ikl(p)}$$

Similarly we have for negative powers

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr}[(\dots + U^{-3} + U^{-2} + U^{-1})\mathcal{D}] = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) \left(\prod_{\sigma_{ij}^m \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \overline{\sigma_{ij}^m}\right) e^{-ikl(p)}.$$

For the sake of simplicity one can introduce:

$$\mathcal{A}_p = l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) \Big(\prod_{\sigma_{ij}^m \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \sigma_{ij}^m \Big), \qquad \mathcal{A}_p^* = l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) \Big(\prod_{\sigma_{ij}^m \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \overline{\sigma_{ij}^m} \Big).$$
(20)

Thus we have proved the following trace formula (21), which is a rigorous counterpart of the formula derived by B. Gutkin, T. Kottos and U. Smilansky in [21; 24].

Theorem 1 (Trace formula). Let $H(\Gamma)$ be the Laplace operator on a finite connected metric graph Γ , then the following two trace formulae establishes the relation between the spectrum $\{k_j^2\}$ of $H(\Gamma)$ and the set of periodic orbits \mathcal{P} , the number of edges Nand the total length \mathcal{L} :

$$u(k) \equiv \delta(k) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\delta(k - k_n) + \delta(k + k_n) \right)$$
(21)
= $-(N - M + 1)\delta(k) + \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\pi} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathcal{A}_p \ e^{ikl(p)} + \mathcal{A}_p^* \ e^{-ikl(p)} \right),$

and

$$\hat{u}(l) \equiv 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(e^{-ik_n l} + e^{ik_n l} \right)$$

$$-(N - M + 1) + 2\mathcal{L}\delta(l) + \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathcal{A}_p \delta(l - l(p)) + \mathcal{A}_p^* \delta(l + l(p)) \right)$$

$$(22)$$

where \mathcal{A}_p , \mathcal{A}_p^* are independent of the energy complex numbers given by (20).

The second formula (22) is just a Fourier transform of (21). If the graph is not clean, then the coefficients A_p containing reflections from the vertices of valence 2 are equal to zero. If the graph is clean, then (8) implies that all coefficients A_p are different from zero, but it may happen that the singular support of $\hat{u}(l)$ does not contain lengths of all periodic orbits (see the following section).

4. The inverse spectral problem

In this section we are going to apply formula (22) to prove that the inverse spectral problem has unique solution for clean finite connected metric graphs, provided the lengths of the edges are rationally independent.

The set L of lengths of all periodic orbits is usually called the length spectrum. In principle formula (22) allows one to recover the length spectrum (of periodic orbits) from the energy spectrum (of the Laplace operator H). But this relation is not straightforward and we are able to prove it in certain special cases only (see the following section). Formula (22) implies directly that the spectrum of a graph allows one to recover the lengths l of all periodic orbits from the *reduced length spectrum* $L' \subset L$ defined as

$$L' = \{l : \left(\sum_{\substack{p \in \mathcal{P} \\ l(p) = l}} \mathcal{A}_p\right) \neq 0\}.$$
(23)

Lemma 2. Let Γ be a connected finite clean metric graph with rationally independent lengths of edges. The reduced length spectrum L' contains at least the following lengths:

- the shortest orbit formed by any interval Δ_j only (i.e. d_j or 2d_j depending on whether Δ_j forms a loop or not);
- the shortest orbit formed by any two neighbouring edges Δ_j and Δ_k only (i.e. 2(d_j + d_k), d_j + 2d_k, 2d_j + d_k, d_j + d_k depending on how do these edges are connected to each other).

PROOF. Note that if the graph is clean and there is a unique periodic orbit p_0 of a certain length $l(p_0)$ then the corresponding sum degenerates and is different from zero:

$$\sum_{\substack{p \in \mathcal{P} \\ l(p) = l(p_0)}} \mathcal{A}_p = \mathcal{A}_{p_0} \neq 0.$$
(24)

If there are several, say r, orbits having the same length as p_0 and all A - coefficients are equal, then the sum is different from zero:

$$\sum_{\substack{p \in \mathcal{P} \\ l(p) = l(p_0)}} \mathcal{A}_p = r \mathcal{A}_{p_0} \neq 0.$$
(25)

- In the case Δ_j is a loop, there are two orbits of length d_j with equal coefficients A. If Δ_j does not form a loop, then the shortest orbit is unique and has length 2d_j.
- Suppose that neither Δ_j nor Δ_k forms a loop and they do not form a double edge. Then the shortest possible length of an orbit formed by Δ_j and Δ_k is $2(d_j + d_k)$ and such orbit is unique.

Suppose that exactly one of the two neighbouring edges, say Δ_j , forms a loop. Then there are two orbits having the shortest possible length $d_j + 2d_k$ and the corresponding \mathcal{A} - coefficients are equal.

Suppose that Δ_j and Δ_k form a double edge. Then there are two orbits with the shortest possible length $d_j + d_k$ and the corresponding \mathcal{A} - coefficients are equal. Suppose that both Δ_j and Δ_k form loops. Then the number of orbits having the

shortest length $d_j + d_k$ is four and the A - coefficients are equal.

All possible cases have been considered. \Box

We are going to show now that the knowledge of the reduced length spectrum together with the total length of the graph is enough to reconstruct the graph. The first step in this direction is to recover the lengths of the edges from the total length of the graphs and the set L'. The following result can be proven by refining the method of B. Gutkin-U. Smilansky [21].

Lemma 3. Let the lengths of the edges of a clean finite connected metric graph Γ be rationally independent. Then the total length \mathcal{L} of the graph and the reduced length spectrum L' (defined by (23)) determine the lengths of all edges and whether these edges form loops or not.

PROOF. Consider the finite subset L'' of $L' \subset L$ consisting of all lengths less than or equal to $2\mathcal{L}$

$$L'' = \{l \in L' : l \le 2\mathcal{L}\}.$$

This finite set contains at least one of the numbers d_j or $2d_j$. Therefore there exists a basis s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_N , such that every length $l \in L''$ (as well as from L) can be written as a half-integer combination of s_j

$$l = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{N} n_j s_j, \ n_j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Such basis is not unique especially if the graph has loops. Any two bases $\{s_j\}$ and $\{s'_j\}$ are related as follows $s_j = n_j s'_{i_j}$, $n_j = \frac{1}{2}, 1, 2$, where i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_N is a permutation of $1, 2, \ldots, N$. Then among all possible bases consider a basis with the shortest total length $\sum_{j=1}^{N} s_j$.

The total length of the graph \mathcal{L} can also be written as a sum of s_j with the coefficients equal to 1 or 1/2

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \alpha_j s_j, \ \ \alpha_j = 1, 1/2.$$
(26)

The coefficients in this sum are equal to 1 if s_j is equal to the length of a certain edge Δ_j , i.e. when the edge forms a loop. The coefficient 1/2 appears if s_j is equal to double the length of an edge. In this case the edge does not form a loop. Therefore the lengths of the edges up to permutation can be recovered from (26) using the formula $d_j = \alpha_j s_j, j = 1, 2, \ldots, N$. To check whether an edge Δ_j forms a loop or not it is enough to check whether d_j belongs to L' or not. \Box

Once the lengths of all edges are known the graph can be reconstructed from the reduced length spectrum. Lemma 2 implies that looking at the reduced length spectrum L' one can determine whether any two edges Δ_j and Δ_k are neighbours or not (have at least one common end point): the edges Δ_j and Δ_k are neighbours if and only if L' contains at least one of the lengths $d_j + d_k$, $2d_j + d_k$, $d_j + 2d_k$, or $2(d_j + d_k)$.

Lemma 4. Every clean finite connected metric graph Γ can be reconstructed from the set $D = \{d_j\}$ of the lengths of all edges and the reduced length spectrum L' - the subset of all periodic orbits determined by (23), provided that d_j are rationally independent.

PROOF. Let us introduce the set of edges $E = \{\Delta_j\}_{j=1}^N$ uniquely determined by $D = \{d_j\}$. We shall prove lemma for simple graphs first. A graph is called *simple* if it contains no loops and no multiple edges. From an arbitrary graph one can obtain a simple graph by cancelling all loops and choosing only one edge from every multiple one:

- 1. If $d_k \in L'$ then the corresponding edge is a loop. Then remove Δ_k from E and all lengths containing d_k from L'.
- 2. If $d_k + d_j \in L'$ then there exists a double edge composed of Δ_j and Δ_k (since the loops have already been removed). Then remove either Δ_j or Δ_k from E and also all lengths containing the chosen length from L.

The new subsets $E^* \subset E$ containing $N^* \leq N$ elements and $L^* \subset L'$ obtained in this way correspond to a simple subgraph $\Gamma^* \subset \Gamma$ which can be obtained from Γ by removing all loops and reducing all multiple edges. One obtains different Γ^* by choosing different edges to be left during the reduction.

The reconstruction will be done iteratively and we will construct an increasing finite sequence of subgraphs such that $\Gamma_1 \subset \Gamma_2 \subset \ldots \Gamma_{N^*} = \Gamma^*$. The corresponding subsets of edges will be denoted by E_k .

For k = 1 take the graph Γ_1 consisting of one edge, say Δ_1 . By looking at L' pick up any edge, say Δ_2 , which is a neighbour of Δ_1 . Attach it to any endpoint of Δ_1 to get the graph Γ_2 .

Suppose that connected subgraph Γ_k consisting of k edges ($k \ge 2$) is reconstructed. Pick up any edge, say Δ_{k+1} , which is a neighbour of at least one of the edges in Γ_k . Let us denote by E_k^{nbh} the subset of E_k of all edges which are neighbours of Δ_{k+1} . We have to identify one or two vertices in Γ_k to which the new Δ_{k+1} is attached. Every such vertex is uniquely determined by listing the edges joined at this vertex, since the subgraph Γ_k is simple, connected and contains at least two edges. Therefore we have to separate E_k^{nbh} into two classes of edges attached to each endpoint of Δ_{k+1} . (One of the two sets can be empty, which corresponds to the case the edge Δ_{k+1} is attached to Γ_k at one vertex only.)

Take any two edges from $E_k^{\rm nbh}$, say Δ' and Δ'' . The edges Δ' and Δ'' belong to the same class if and only if:

- Δ' and Δ'' are neighbours themselves and
- d' + d'' + d_{k+1} ∉ L' i.e. the edges Δ', Δ'' and Δ_{k+1} do not build a cycle. Note that if Δ', Δ'' and Δ_{k+1} form a cycle, then there are two periodic orbits having with the length d' + d'' + d_{k+1} and the corresponding A-coefficients are equal, which implies that d' + d'' + d_{k+1} ∈ L'.

In this way we either separate E_k^{nbh} into two classes of edges or E_k^{nbh} consists of edges joined at one vertex. In the first case the new edge Δ_{k+1} connects the two unique vertices determined by the subclasses. In the second case Δ_{k+1} is attached by one endpoint to Γ_k at the vertex uniquely determined by E_k^{nbh} . It does not play any role which of the two end points of Δ_{k+1} is attached to the chosen vertex of Γ_k , since the two possible graphs are equivalent.

Denote the graph obtained in this way by Γ_{k+1} .

Since the graph Γ^* is connected and finite, after N^* steps one arrives at $\Gamma_{N^*} = \Gamma^*$.

It remains to add all loops and multiple edges to reconstruct the initial graph Γ . Suppose that the reconstructed subgraph Γ^* is not trivial, i.e. consists of more than one edge. Then every vertex is uniquely determined by listing all edges joined at it. Check first to which vertex the loop Δ_n is connected by checking if periodic orbits of the length $d_n + 2d_j$ belongs to L' or not. All such edges Δ_j determine the unique vertex to which Δ_n should be adjusted. To reconstruct multiple edges check whether $d_m + d_j$ is from L', where $\Delta_j \in E^*$. Substitute all such edges Δ_j with corresponding multiple edges.

In the case Γ^* is trivial, the proof is an easy exercise. \Box

Our main result can be obtained as a straightforward implication of Lemma 3 and Lemma 4.

Theorem 2. *The spectrum of a Laplace operator on a metric graph determines the graph uniquely, provided that:*

- the graph is clean, finite and connected,
- the edge lengths are rationally independent.

PROOF. The spectrum of the operator determines the left-hand side of the trace formula (21). Formula (22) shows that the spectrum of the graph determines the total length of the graph and the reduced length spectrum. Lemma 3 implies that the lengths of all edges can be extracted from this quantities under the conditions of the theorem. It follows from Lemma 4 that the whole graph can be reconstructed provided that its edges are rationally independent and it is clean, finite and connected. \Box

One can easily remove the condition that the graph is connected. The result can be generalized to include more general differential operators on the edges and boundary conditions at the vertices. Rigorous proofs of these results will be a subject of one of forthcoming publications.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank prof. J. Boman and A. Holst for important discussions. Fruitful criticism from the Referee helped us to improve the article considerably.

References

- Adamyan V 1992 Scattering matrices for microschemes Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 59 1-10
- [2] Albeverio S and Kurasov P 2000, Singular perturbations of differential operators(London Mathematical Society Lecture Notes N271)(Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press)
- [3] Boman J and Kurasov P Symmetries of quantum graphs and the inverse scattering problem. To appear in *Adv. Appl. Math.*
- [4] Brown B M and Wiekard R A Borg-Levinson theorem on trees. In publication.
- [5] Carlson R 1999 Inverse eigenvalue problems on directed graphs *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 351 4069–88
- [6] Evans W D and Saitō Y 2000 Neumann Laplacians on domains and operators on associated trees Q. J. Math. 51 313–42
- [7] Evans, W D and Harris D J 1993 Fractals, trees and the Neumann Laplacian *Math. Ann.* 296 493–527

- [8] Everitt W N and Zettl A 1992 Differential operators generated by a countable number of quasi-differential expressions on the real line *Proc. London Math. Soc.* 64 524–44
- [9] Everitt W N, Shubin C, Stolz G and Zettl A 1997 Sturm-Liouville problems with an infinite number of interior singularities. Spectral theory and computational methods of Sturm-Liouville problems (Knoxville, TN, 1996) *Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math.* **191** 211–49 (New York: Dekker)
- [10] Everitt W N and Markus L 2001 Multi-interval linear ordinary boundary value problems and complex symplectic algebra *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.* **151** no.715 p 64
- [11] Everitt W N and Markus L 2003 Elliptic partial differential operators and symplectic algebra *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.* 162 no.770 p 111
- [12] Everitt W N and Markus L 2004 Infinite dimensional complex symplectic spaces Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 171 no.810 p 76
- [13] Exner P and Šeba P 1987 Quantum motion on a half-line connected to a plane J. Math. Phys. 28 386–91
- [14] Exner P and Šeba P 1989 Schrödinger operators, standard and nonstandard. Papers from the conference held in Dubna, September 6–10, 1988 (Teaneck, NJ: World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc.) p 409
- [15] Exner P and Šeba P 1989 Applications of selfadjoint extensions in quantum physics. Proceedings of the conference held in Dubna, September 29–October 1, 1987 Lecture Notes in Physics, 324 (Berlin: Springer-Verlag) p 273
- [16] Exner P and Šeba P 1989 Free quantum motion on a branching graph *Rep. Math. Phys.* 28 7-26
- [17] Gerasimenko N I and Pavlov B S 1988 Scattering problems on noncompact graphs *Teoret. Mat. Fiz.* 74 345–59 (Eng. transl. 1988 *Theoret. and Math. Phys.* 74 230–40)
- [18] Gerasimenko N I 1988 Inverse scattering problem on a noncompact graph *Teoret*. *Mat. Fiz.* **75** 187–200 (Eng. transl. 1988 *Theoret. and Math. Phys.* **75** 460–70
- [19] Guillemin V and Melrose R 1979 An inverse spectral result for elliptical regions in R² Adv. in Math. 32 128–48
- [20] Guillemin V and Melrose R 1979 The Poisson summation formula for manifolds with boundary *Adv. in Math.* **32** 204–32
- [21] Gutkin B and Smilansky U 2001 Can one hear the shape of a graph? J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 34 6061–8

- [22] Harmer M 2002 Inverse scattering for the matrix Schrödinger operator and Schrödinger operator on graphs with general self-adjoint boundary conditions ANZIAM J. 44 161–8
- [23] Kostrykin V and Schrader R 1999 Kirchoff's rule for quantum wires J. Phys A:Math. Gen. 32 595–630
- [24] Kottos T and Smilansky U 1999 Periodic orbit theory and spectral statistics for quantum graphs *Ann. Physics* **274** 76–124
- [25] Kuchment P 2003 Waves in periodic and random media. Proceedings of the AMS-IMS-SIAM Joint Summer Research Conference held at Mount Holyoke College, South Hadley, MA, June 22–28, 2002 Contemporary Mathematics 339. (Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society)
- [26] Kuchment P 2004 Quantum graphs. I. Some basic structures. Special section on quantum graphs Waves Random Media 14 S107–28
- [27] Kurasov P and Stenberg F 2002 On the inverse scattering problem on branching graphs *J. Phys. A: Math. Gen.* **35** 101–21
- [28] Naimark K and Solomyak M 2000 Eigenvalue estimates for the weighted Laplacian on metric trees *Proc. London Math. Soc.* **80** 690–724
- [29] Naimark K and Solomyak M 2001 Geometry of Sobolev spaces on regular trees and the Hardy inequalities *Russ. J. Math. Phys.* 8 322–35
- [30] Pavlov B S 1987 The theory of extensions, and explicitly solvable models (Russian) *Uspekhi Mat. Nauk* **42** 99–131, 247
- [31] Roth J-P 1984 Le spectre du laplacien sur un graphe *Lectures Notes in Mathematics: Theorie du Potentiel* **1096** 521-39
- [32] Sobolev A V and Solomyak M 2002 Schrödinger operators on homogeneous metric trees: spectrum in gaps *Rev. Math. Phys.* **14** 421–67
- [33] Solomyak M 2003 Laplace and Schrödinger operators on regular metric trees: the discrete spectrum case. Function spaces, differential operators and nonlinear analysis (Teistungen, 2001) 161–181 (Basel: Birkhäuser)
- [34] Solomyak M 2003 On approximation of functions from Sobolev spaces on metric graphs J. Approx. Theory 121 199–219
- [35] Solomyak M 2004 On the spectrum of the Laplacian on regular metric trees. Special section on quantum graphs *Waves Random Media* 14 S155–71

Paper II

Inverse spectral problem for quantum graphs with rationally dependent edges*

Marlena Nowaczyk

Abstract. In this paper we study the problem of unique reconstruction of the quantum graphs. The idea is based on the trace formula which establishes the relation between the spectrum of Laplace operator and the set of periodic orbits, the number of edges and the total length of the graph. We analyse conditions under which is it possible to reconstruct simple graphs containing edges with rationally dependent lengths.

1. Introduction

Differential operators on metric graphs (quantum graphs) is a rather new and rapidly developing area of modern mathematical physics. Such operators can be used to model the motion of quantum particles confined to certain low dimensional structures. This has many possible applications to quantum computing and design of nanoelectronic devices [1], which explains recent interest in the area.

The main mathematical tool used in this article is the trace formula, which establishes the connection between the spectrum of the Laplace operator on a metric graph and *the length spectrum* (the set of all periodic orbits on the graph), the number of edges and the total length of the graph.

J.P. Roth [12] proved trace formula for quantum graphs using the heat kernel approach. An independent way to derive trace formula using scattering approach was suggested by B. Gutkin, T. Kottos and U. Smilansky [6; 8] and mathematically rigorous proof of this result was provided by P. Kurasov and M. Nowaczyk [10]. The trace formula is applied in order to reconstruct the graph from the spectrum of the corresponding Laplace operator. It has been proven that this procedure can be carried out in the case when the lengths of the edges are rationally independent and the graph has no vertices of valence 2. In current paper we go further and consider graphs with trivially and weakly rationally dependent edges. We have decided to restrict our considerations

^{*}Appeared in *Operator Theory: Advances and Applications* **147** (2007) Operator Theory, Analysis and Mathematical Physics 105-116.

to the case of the so-called Laplace operator on metric graphs — the second derivative operator with natural (free, standard, Kirchhoff) boundary conditions at vertices.

Explicit examples constructed in [6; 11; 2] show that the inverse spectral and scattering problems for quantum graphs do not have, in general, unique solutions.

For a historical background on quantum graphs, their applications and theory development see Introduction and References in our previous paper [10].

2. Basic definitions

All notations and definitions in this paper will follow those used in [10]. We are not going to repeat the rigorous derivation of the trace formula presented there, but in this section we will introduce the definitions which we are going to use.

Consider arbitrary finite metric graph Γ consisting of N edges. The edges will be identified with the intervals of the real line $\Delta_j = [x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}] \subset \mathbb{R}, j = 1, 2, ..., N$ and the set of all edges will be denoted by $E = {\Delta_j}_{j=1}^N$. Their lengths will be denoted by $d_j = |x_{2j} - x_{2j-1}|$ and corresponding set of all lengths by $D = {d_j}$. Let us denote by M the number of vertices in the graph Γ . Vertices can be obtained by dividing the set ${x_k}_{k=1}^{2N}$ of endpoints into equivalence classes $V_m, m = 1, 2, ..., M$. The coordinate parameterization of the edges does not play any important role, therefore we are going to identify metric graphs having the same topological structure and the same lengths of the edges. This equivalence is more precisely described in [11; 2].

Consider the Hilbert space of square integrable functions on Γ

$$\mathcal{H} \equiv L^{2}(\Gamma) = \bigoplus \sum_{j=1}^{N} L^{2}(\Delta_{j}) = \bigoplus \sum_{n=1}^{N} L^{2}[x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}].$$
 (1)

The Laplace operator H on Γ is the sum of second derivative operators acting in each space $L^2(\Delta_j)$,

$$H = \oplus \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(-\frac{d^2}{dx^2} \right).$$
⁽²⁾

This differential expression does not uniquely determine the self-adjoint operator. Two differential operators in $L^2(\Gamma)$ are naturally associated with the differential expression (2), namely the minimal operator with the domain $\text{Dom}(H_{\min}) = \bigoplus \sum_{j=1}^{N} C_0^{\infty}(\Delta_j)$ and the maximal operator H_{\max} with the domain $\text{Dom}(H_{\max}) = \bigoplus \sum_{j=1}^{N} W_2^2(\Delta_j)$, where W_2^2 denotes the Sobolev space.

The Hilbert space \mathcal{H} introduced above does not reflect the connectivity of the graph. It is the boundary conditions that connect values of the function on different edges. Therefore these conditions have to be chosen in a special way so that they reflect the connectivity of the graph. See [11] for the discussion how the most general boundary conditions can be chosen. In the current paper we restrict our consideration to the case of natural (free, standard, Kirchhoff) boundary conditions given by

$$\begin{cases} f(x_j) = f(x_k), & x_j, x_k \in V_m, \\ \sum_{x_j \in V_m} \partial_n f(x_j) = 0, & m = 1, 2, \dots, M, \end{cases}$$
(3)

where $\partial_n f(x_j)$ denotes the normal derivative of the function f at the endpoint x_j . The functions satisfying these conditions are continuous at the vertices. In the case of the vertex with valence 2 conditions (3) imply that the function and its first derivative are continuous at the vertex, i.e. the vertex can be removed by substituting the two edges joined at the vertex by one edge with the length equal to the sum of the lengths of the two edges. This procedure is called *cleaning* [11] and a graph Γ with no vertices of valence 2 is called *clean*.

The Laplace operator $H(\Gamma)$ on the metric graph Γ is the operator H_{\max} given by (2) restricted to the set of functions satisfying boundary conditions (3). This operator is self-adjoint [11] and uniquely determined by the graph Γ . The spectrum of the operator $H(\Gamma)$ is discrete and consists of positive eigenvalues accumulating at $+\infty$. Therefore the inverse spectral problem for $H(\Gamma)$ is to reconstruct the graph Γ from the set of eigenvalues.

3. Trace Formula

Let us establish the secular equation determining all positive eigenvalues of the operator H. Suppose that ψ is an eigenfunction for the operator corresponding to the positive spectral parameter $E = k^2 > 0$. Then this function is a solution to the one-dimensional Schrödinger equation on the edges $-\frac{d^2\psi}{dx^2} = k^2\psi$. The general solution to the differential equation on the edge $\Delta_j = [x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}]$ with the length $d_j = |x_{2j} - x_{2j-1}|$ can be written in the basis of incoming waves as follows

$$\psi(x) = a_{2j-1}e^{ik|x-x_{2j-1}|} + a_{2j}e^{ik|x-x_{2j}|},\tag{4}$$

where a_m is the amplitude of the wave coming in from the endpoint x_m .

Now let us introduce two matrices \mathcal{E} and Σ corresponding to evaluation of amplitudes through edges and vertices respectively. First matrix

$$\mathcal{E} = \begin{pmatrix} e^1 & 0 & \dots \\ \hline 0 & e^2 & \dots \\ \hline \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{where} \quad e^j = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{ikd_j} \\ e^{ikd_j} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5)

The second matrix is formed by blocks of vertex scattering matrices

$$\Sigma = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^1 & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & \sigma^2 & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6}$$

where for natural boundary conditions the vertex scattering matrices do not depend on the energy and elements are given by

$$\sigma_{jk}^{m} = \begin{cases} \frac{2}{v_m}, & j \neq k, \\ \frac{2-v_m}{v_m}, & j = k, \end{cases} \quad \text{for } v_m \neq 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \sigma = 1 \quad \text{for } v_m = 1.$$
(7)

59

After evaluation of the amplitudes through edges and then through vertices we arrive to the same incoming amplitudes. Therefore the amplitudes a determine an eigenfunction of $H(\Gamma)$ for E > 0 if and only if $\mathbf{a} = \Sigma \mathcal{E} \mathbf{a}$, i.e. when the matrix

$$U(k) = \Sigma \mathcal{E}(k) \tag{8}$$

has eigenvalue 1 and a is the corresponding eigenvector.

Let us denote the eigenvalues of the Laplace operator H in nondecreasing order as follows

$$E_0 = k_0^2 = 0 < E_1 = k_1^2 \le E_2 = k_2^2 \le \dots$$

and we will introduce the distribution u connected with the spectral measure

$$u \equiv \delta(k) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\delta(k - k_n) + \delta(k + k_n) \right).$$

Now we are going to present the relation between spectrum of Laplace operator H and lengths of periodic orbits, number of edges and total length of the graph. Before we do this, however, we need to give a few definitions related to periodic orbits of a graph.

By a *periodic orbit* we understand any oriented closed path on Γ . We do not allow to turn back at any internal point of the edge, but walking the same edge multiple times is allowed. Note that so defined orbit does not have any starting point. With any such (continuous) periodic orbit p one can associate the *discrete periodic orbit* consisting of all edges forming that orbit. Also let:

- \mathcal{P} be the set of all periodic orbits for the graph Γ ,
- l(p) be the geometric length of a periodic orbit p,
- prim(p) denote a primitive periodic orbit, i.e. such that p is a multiple of prim(p),
- $\mathcal{L} = d_1 + d_2 + \ldots + d_N$ be the total length of the graph Γ ,
- T(p) be the set of all scattering coefficients along the orbit p.

Let us introduce coefficients which are independent of the energy:

$$\mathcal{A}_{p} = l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) \Big(\prod_{\sigma_{ij}^{m} \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \sigma_{ij}^{m}\Big), \qquad \mathcal{A}_{p}^{*} = l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) \Big(\prod_{\sigma_{ij}^{m} \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \overline{\sigma_{ij}^{m}}\Big).$$
(9)

The following theorem has been proven in [10], following the ideas of B. Gutkin and U. Smilansky [6].

Proposition 1 (Theorem 1 from [10]). Let $H(\Gamma)$ be the Laplace operator on a finite connected metric graph Γ , then the following two trace formulae establishes the relation between the spectrum $\{k_j^2\}$ of $H(\Gamma)$ and the set of periodic orbits \mathcal{P} , the number of edges N and the total length \mathcal{L} of the graph:

$$u(k) \equiv \delta(k) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\delta(k - k_n) + \delta(k + k_n)\right)$$
(10)

$$= -(N-M+1)\delta(k) + \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\pi} + \frac{1}{2\pi}\sum_{p\in\mathcal{P}} \left(\mathcal{A}_p \ e^{ikl(p)} + \mathcal{A}_p^* \ e^{-ikl(p)}\right),$$

and

$$\hat{u}(l) \equiv 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(e^{-ik_n l} + e^{ik_n l} \right)$$
(11)

$$= -(N - M + 1) + 2\mathcal{L}\delta(l) + \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathcal{A}_p \delta(l - l(p)) + \mathcal{A}_p^* \delta(l + l(p)) \right)$$

where \mathcal{A}_p , \mathcal{A}_p^* are independent of the energy complex numbers given by (9).

The formula (11) converges in the sense of distributions (see [10] p. 4908–4909 for explicit calculations).

4. The inverse spectral problem

In this section we are going to apply formula (11) to prove that the inverse spectral problem has unique solution for certain simple (i.e. without loops or multiple edges), clean, finite connected metric graphs with rationally dependent lengths of edges.

The set L of lengths of all periodic orbits is usually called the length spectrum. In some cases, formula (11) allows us to recover the length spectrum (of periodic orbits) from the energy spectrum (of the Laplace operator H). On the other hand, there are known graphs for which some lengths of periodic orbits cannot be recovered. Formula (11) implies directly that the spectrum of a graph allows one to recover the lengths l of all periodic orbits from the *reduced length spectrum* $L' \subset L$ defined as

$$L' = \{l : \left(\sum_{\substack{p \in \mathcal{P} \\ l(p) = l}} \mathcal{A}_p\right) \neq 0\}.$$
(12)

Although for any periodic orbit p the coefficient A_p defined in (9) is non-zero it can happen that the sum of all coefficients in front of $\delta(l - l(p))$ is zero. This is the reason why we use reduced length spectrum instead of more common length spectrum.

4.1. Graphs with trivially rationally dependent edges

In this subsection we will discuss graphs where the set of all lengths of edges is rationally independent, while some edges can have equal lengths (we will call such case a graph with *trivially rationally dependent* edges). One can prove that such graphs can be uniquely reconstructed from length spectrum and total length of the graph — and, therefore, can be uniquely reconstructed from spectrum of Laplace operator on this graph.

We shall now remind Lemma 2 from paper [10] and we will re-state this lemma for graphs with trivially rationally dependent edges.

Lemma 2. Let Γ be a graph with trivially rationally dependent edges. Assume that the edges of the same length are not neighbours to each other. Then the reduced length spectrum L' contains at least the following lengths:

- $4d_j$, for all j = 1, ..., N;
- $2d_j$ if there exist exactly one edge of length d_j ;
- $2(d_j + d_k)$ iff the edges having lengths d_j and d_k are neighbours;
- $2(d_i + d_j + d_k)$ if Δ_i , Δ_j and Δ_k form a path but do not form a cycle.

PROOF. Consider any orbit p of the length $4d_j$. Then the coefficient \mathcal{A}_p product consists of exactly two squared reflection coefficients and therefore is strictly positive. The coefficient in front of $\delta(l - 4d_j)$ in the sum (11): $\sum_{p:l(p)=4d_j}$ is also strictly positive. Thus $4d_j$ belongs to the reduced length spectrum L'.

The other three parts of this proof follow from the Lemma 2 and its proof in [10] \Box

Lemma 3. Assume that Γ is a finite, clean, connected and simple metric graph with trivially rationally dependent edges. Let us denote number of edges of length d_1 by β_1 , number of edges of length d_2 by β_2 , ..., number of edges of length d_n by β_n (where $\beta_i \ge 1$ for i = 1 ... n).

Then the total length \mathcal{L} of the graph and the reduced length spectrum L' determine the lengths of all edges (d_j) , as well as the number of edges having these particular lengths (β_j) .

PROOF. Consider the finite subset L'' of $L' \subset L$, consisting of all lengths less than or equal to $4\mathcal{L}$

$$L'' = \{l \in L' : l \le 4\mathcal{L}\}.$$

This finite set contains at least the numbers $4d_j$ and those numbers form a basis for a set of all lengths of periodic orbits, i.e. every length $l \in L''$ (as well as in L) can be written as a combination of $4d_j$

$$l = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{n} n_j 4d_j, \quad n_j \in \mathbb{N},$$

where n_j are the smallest possible non-negative integers. Since all d_j are rationally independent then this combination is unique. Such a basis is not unique but any two bases $\{4d_j\}$ and $\{4d'_i\}$ are equal with respect to a permutations of its elements.

The total length of the graph \mathcal{L} can also be written as

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_j 4d_j, \quad \beta_j \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (13)

Because the graph Γ is simple (i.e. without loops or multiple edges), the coefficients β_j indicate the total number of edges of length d_j . \Box

Lemma 4. Assume that Γ is a finite, clean, connected and simple metric graph with trivially rationally dependent edges. Also assume that any two edges Δ , Δ' with lengths d_i, d_j (where *i* can be equal *j*), for which $\beta_i \ge 2$ and $\beta_j \ge 2$ (i.e. they are both repeating edges), are separated by at least two non-repeating edges (i.e. edges for which $\beta = 1$).

Then the graph Γ can be reconstructed from the set $D = \{d_j\}$ of the lengths of all edges and the reduced length spectrum L'.

PROOF. At the beginning we are going to reconstruct the graph Γ without repeating edges. In order to do this, we shall use the idea of reconstructing the simple subgraph in the proof of Lemma 4 in the paper [10].

Let us denote by Γ^* the subgraph of Γ which can be obtained by deleting all edges with $\beta_j \geq 2$. Γ^* does not have to be a connected graph, so let us denote its components by $\Gamma^{(1)}, \Gamma^{(2)}, \ldots, \Gamma^{(s)}$. The reconstruction will be done iteratively and we will construct an increasing finite sequence of subgraphs such that $\Gamma_1 \subset \Gamma_2 \subset \ldots \subset \Gamma_{N^*} =$ Γ^* . The corresponding subsets of edges will be denoted by E_k for $k = 1, \ldots, N^*$.

The reconstruction of any component $\Gamma^{(j)}$ is done in the following way. For k = 1 take the graph $\Gamma_1^{(j)}$, consisting of an arbitrary non-repeating edge, say Δ_1 . In order to get $\Gamma_2^{(j)}$, pick any neighbour of Δ_1 , say Δ_2 , and attach it to any of the endpoints of Δ_1 (the set of neighbours of Δ_1 can be easily obtained from the reduced length spectrum L').

Suppose that connected subgraph $\Gamma_k^{(j)}$ consisting of k edges $(k \ge 2)$ is already reconstructed. Pick any edge, say Δ_{k+1} , which is a neighbour of at least one of the edges in $\Gamma_k^{(j)}$. Let us denote by E_k^{nbh} the subset of E_k consisting of all edges which are neighbours of Δ_{k+1} . We have to identify (one or two) vertices in $\Gamma_k^{(j)}$ to which the new Δ_{k+1} is attached – every such vertex is uniquely determined by listing of the edges joined at this vertex (since the subgraph $\Gamma_k^{(j)}$ is simple, connected and contains at least two edges). Therefore we have to separate E_k^{nbh} into two classes of edges, each attached to one endpoint of Δ_{k+1} . Observe that one of the two sets can be empty, which corresponds to the case the edge Δ_{k+1} is attached to $\Gamma_k^{(j)}$ at one vertex only.

Take any two edges from E_k^{nbh} , say Δ' and Δ'' . The edges Δ' and Δ'' belong to the same class if and only if:

- Δ' and Δ'' are neighbours themselves and
- d' + d'' + d_{k+1} ∉ L' i.e. the edges Δ', Δ'' and Δ_{k+1} do not form a cycle (note that if Δ', Δ'' and Δ_{k+1} form a cycle, then there are two periodic orbits of length d' + d'' + d_{k+1} and the corresponding A-coefficients are equal which implies that d' + d'' + d_{k+1} ∈ L').

In this way we either separate the set E_k^{nbh} into two classes of edges or E_k^{nbh} consists of edges joined at one vertex. In the first case, the new edge Δ_{k+1} connects the two vertices uniquely determined by those two subclasses. In the second case, the edge Δ_{k+1} is attached at one end point to $\Gamma_k^{(j)}$ at the vertex uniquely determined by E_k^{nbh} . It does not matter which of the two end points of Δ_{k+1} is attached to the chosen vertex of $\Gamma_k^{(j)}$, since the two possible resulting graphs are equivalent.

Denote the graph created this way by $\Gamma_{k+1}^{(j)}$.

When there are no more edges left which are neighbours of $\Gamma_k^{(j)}$, then pick any new non-repeating edge from E and start the reconstruction procedure for new component of graph Γ^* , say $\Gamma^{(j')}$. After a finite number of steps one arrives at the graph Γ^* .

It remains now to add the repeating edges. Since each repeating edge of length d_n is separated from any other repeating edge of length d_m by at least two non-repeating edges, then there is no interference between adding edges d_n and d_m to Γ^* . Following previous lemma, from reduced length spectrum L' and total length of the graph \mathcal{L} we know that we have exactly β_n edges of length d_n .

As the first step we want to split all neighbours of all d_n edges into $2\beta_n$ classes (some of which can be empty). The set of all neighbours of d_n from graph Γ^* will be denoted by \mathbb{E}_n . We say that Δ_j and Δ_k from \mathbb{E}_n are in the same class if:

- Δ_j and Δ_k are neighbours to each other,
- they do not build a cycle of length $d_n + d_j + d_k$,
- if there is an edge Δ_m which is a neighbour to Δ_j and to Δ_k but is not a neighbour to any edge of length d_n, then there is a cycle of length d_m + d_j + d_k.

In that way we obtain non-empty sets $\mathbb{E}_n^1, \mathbb{E}_n^2, \ldots, \mathbb{E}_n^{\alpha_n}$ which correspond to vertices $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\alpha_n}$ where $\alpha_n \leq 2\beta_n$.

As the second step we have to identify, for any edge of length d_n , two vertices (or only one) to which this particular edge is attached. We are going to check all pairs of vertices v_i and v_j from the list above. An edge of length d_n is attached to those two vertices if

- v_i and v_j are connected by a path of two edges d' and d'' where $d' \in \mathbb{E}_n^i$ and $d'' \in \mathbb{E}_n^j$ and there exist a periodic orbit of length $d' + d'' + d_n$ in L', or
- v_i and v_j are not connected by any path of two edges and for each pair d' ∈ Eⁱ_n and d'' ∈ E^j_n there exist a periodic orbits of length 2(d' + d'' + d_n) in L'.

For each of those vertices $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\alpha_n}$ for which neither of the above conditions are satisfied, we attach a loose edge of length d_n .

We repeat this procedure for all edges of repeating lengths. Since the graph is finite, after finite number of steps we arrive at reconstruct the whole graph Γ . \Box

Theorem 5. *The spectrum of a Laplace operator on a metric graph determines the graph uniquely, provided that:*

- the graph is clean, finite, simple and connected,
- the edges are trivially rationally dependent,
- any two repeating edges are separated by at least two non-repeating edges (i.e. ones having rationally independent lengths).
PROOF. The spectrum of the operator determines the left-hand side of the trace formula (10). Formula (11) shows that the spectrum of the graph determines the total length of the graph and the reduced length spectrum. Lemma 3 implies that the lengths of all edges and their multiplicities can be extracted from this quantities under the conditions of the theorem. It follows from Lemma 4 that the whole graph can be reconstructed. \Box

4.2. Graphs with weakly rationally dependent edges

In the last part of this paper we shall consider some special kind of graph with rationally dependent edges and we will prove that for those graphs the unique reconstruction from the spectrum of Laplace operator is still possible. We shall use, as before, the trace formula and some properties of mutually prime numbers.

Definition 6. Assume that the metric graph Γ is finite, clean, connected and simple. We say that the edge lengths are weakly rationally dependent if the lengths of edges belong to the set

$$\left\{d_1, \frac{p_{12}}{q_{12}}d_1, \dots, \frac{p_{1r_1}}{q_{1r_1}}d_1, d_2, \frac{p_{22}}{q_{22}}d_2, \dots, \frac{p_{2r_2}}{q_{2r_2}}d_2, \dots, d_n, \frac{p_{n2}}{q_{n2}}d_n, \dots, \frac{p_{nr_n}}{q_{nr_n}}d_n\right\},$$

where $p_{ij}/q_{ij} > 1$ are proper fractions, $q_{i2}, q_{i3}, \ldots, q_{ir_i}$ are mutually prime for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_n are rationally independent.

Observe that if n = 1 then all edges in the graph are rationally dependent. On the other hand, if all $p_{ij} = 0$ for $j \ge 2$ and all *i*, then all edges in the graph are rationally independent. Note that the denominators q_{ij} are mutually prime but it does not immediately indicate that they are prime numbers.

Lemma 7. Assume that the metric graph Γ has weakly rationally dependent edges. Then the total length \mathcal{L} of the graph and the reduced length spectrum L' determine the lengths of all edges.

PROOF. As in Lemma 3 we will use an approach of finding a basis for all periodic orbits. We claim that the set $\{2s_j\}$, where s_j is length of any edge in the graph, is a basis for all periodic orbits. Consider as before the finite subset L'' of $L' \subset L$ consisting of all lengths less than or equal to $2\mathcal{L}$

$$L'' = \{l \in L' : l \le 2\mathcal{L}\}.$$

It is obvious that any periodic orbit can be written as a half-integer combination of $2s_j$ elements

$$l = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \alpha_j 2s_j, \quad \alpha_j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

We shall prove that for graph with weakly rationally dependent edges this combination is unique.

Among all periodic orbits there exist periodic orbits of length $2s_j$. Assume that for some arbitrary j such orbit is a linear combination of the other edges and since

 d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_n are rationally independent it is enough to consider only rationally dependent edges. For sake of notation clearness we will omit the first index in numbers p_{ij} and q_{ij} as well as index at d_i . Thus we have the following equation

$$2\frac{p_j}{q_j}d = \alpha_1 \frac{p_1}{q_1}d + \alpha_2 \frac{p_2}{q_2}d + \dots + \alpha_{j-1} \frac{p_{j-1}}{q_{j-1}}d + \alpha_{j+1} \frac{p_{j+1}}{q_{j+1}}d + \dots + \alpha_n \frac{p_n}{q_n}d \quad (14)$$
$$2\frac{p_j}{q_j} = \frac{\alpha_1 p_1 q_2 \dots q_{j-1} q_{j+1} \dots q_n + \dots + \alpha_n q_1 q_2 \dots q_{j-1} q_{j+1} \dots q_{n-1} p_n}{q_1 q_2 \dots q_{j-1} q_{j+1} \dots q_n}$$

$$2p_jq_1\dots q_{j-1}q_{j+1}\dots q_n = \alpha_1p_1q_2\dots q_n + \dots \alpha_{j-1}q_1q_2\dots p_{j-1}q_j\dots q_n + \alpha_{j+1}q_1q_2\dots q_jp_{j+1}\dots q_n + \dots \alpha_nq_1q_2\dots q_{n-1}p_n.$$

Let us compare both sides of the previous equation, one by one, modulo each of $q_1, q_2, \ldots, q_{j-1}, q_{j+1}, \ldots, q_n$, thus giving the following system of equations

$$\begin{cases} 0 = \alpha_1 p_1 q_2 \dots q_n & (\text{mod } q_1) \\ \vdots \\ 0 = \alpha_{j-1} q_1 q_2 \dots p_{j-1} q_j \dots q_n & (\text{mod } q_{j-1}) \\ 0 = \alpha_{j+1} q_1 q_2 \dots q_j p_{j+1} \dots q_n & (\text{mod } q_{j+1}) \\ \vdots \\ 0 = \alpha_n q_1 q_2 \dots q_{n-1} p_n & (\text{mod } q_n) \end{cases}$$

Since all q_i are mutually prime and p_i/q_i are proper fractions, the only solution to this system of equations is $\alpha_i = 0 \pmod{q_i}$ for all i = 1, 2, ..., j - 1, j + 1, ..., n. It means that all elements on the right hand side of (14) are nonnegative integers, while the left hand side of the same equation is an integer if and only if j = 1 or j = 2 (then $p_1 = q_1 = 1$ or, respectively, $q_2 = 2$ and $p_2 = 3$).

In the first case, the left hand side is equal 2, while at the same time the right hand side is either 0 or is strictly greater than 2. In the second case, the left hand side is equal to 3, while the right hand side is equal to $\alpha_1 + r$, where r is either 0 or is strictly greater than 3. Thus, to fulfill equation (14), r has to be 0 and α_1 has to be 3. This is, however, impossible — since there is exactly one periodic orbit of length 3 (consisting of double edge of length $\frac{p_2}{q_2} = \frac{3}{2}$).

Thus we have proven that the set $\{2s_j\}$ where s_j are lengths of all edges in the graph Γ form the basis for all lengths of periodic orbits.

Hence we have determined all lengths of edges if these edges are weakly rationally dependent. \Box

Lemma 8. Assume that the metric graph Γ has weakly rationally dependent edges. Then the graph Γ can be reconstructed from the sets $D = \{d_j\}$ and the reduced length spectrum L'. PROOF. As we have just shown in Lemma 7, from reduced length spectrum L' one can obtain lengths of all edges in graph Γ with weakly rationally dependent edges. Following Lemma 2 we can deduce that the reduced length spectrum L' contains at least the shortest orbit formed by any two neighbouring edges Δ_j and Δ_k i.e. $2(d_j + d_k)$. Thus we can identify all neighbours of each edge. The algorithm of reconstruction the graph Γ will be the same as in proof of Lemma 4 in part where we reconstruct components of Γ^* . \Box

Theorem 9. *The spectrum of a Laplace operator on a metric graph determines the graph uniquely, provided that:*

- the graph is clean, finite, simple and connected,
- the edges are weakly rationally dependent.

PROOF. The spectrum of the operator determines the left-hand side of the trace formula (10). Formula (11) shows that the spectrum of the graph determines the total length of the graph and the reduced length spectrum. Lemma 7 implies that the lengths of all edges can be extracted from this quantities under the conditions of the theorem. It follows from Lemma 8 that the whole graph can be reconstructed. \Box

References

- Adamyan V 1992 Scattering matrices for microschemes Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 59 1-10
- [2] Boman J and Kurasov P Symmetries of quantum graphs and the inverse scattering problem. To appear in *Adv. Appl. Math.*
- [3] Friedlander L 2005 Genericity of simple eigenvalues for a metric graph *Israel Journal of Mathematics* **146** 149–56
- [4] Gerasimenko N I and Pavlov B S 1988 Scattering problems on noncompact graphs *Teoret. Mat. Fiz.* 74 345–59 (Eng. transl. 1988 *Theoret. and Math. Phys.* 74 230–40)
- [5] Guillemin V and Melrose R 1979 An inverse spectral result for elliptical regions in R² Adv. in Math. 32 128–48
- [6] Gutkin B and Smilansky U 2001 Can one hear the shape of a graph? J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 34 6061–8
- [7] Kostrykin V and Schrader R 1999 Kirchoff's rule for quantum wires J. Phys A:Math. Gen. 32 595–630
- [8] Kottos T and Smilansky U 1999 Periodic orbit theory and spectral statistics for quantum graphs *Ann. Physics* 274 76–124
- [9] Kuchment P 2004 Quantum graphs. I. Some basic structures. Special section on quantum graphs *Waves Random Media* 14 S107–28

- [10] Kurasov P and Nowaczyk M Inverse spectral problem for quantum graphs, J. Phys. A. Math. Gen, **38**
- [11] Kurasov P and Stenberg F 2002 On the inverse scattering problem on branching graphs J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **35** 101–21
- [12] Roth J-P 1984 Le spectre du laplacien sur un graphe *Lectures Notes in Mathematics: Theorie du Potentiel* **1096** 521-39
- [13] Sobolev A V and Solomyak M 2002 Schrödinger operators on homogeneous metric trees: spectrum in gaps *Rev. Math. Phys.* **14** 421–67
- [14] Solomyak M 2004 On the spectrum of the Laplacian on regular metric trees. Special section on quantum graphs *Waves Random Media* 14 S155–71

Acknowledgment

The author would like to thank Pavel Kurasov for fruitful and important discussions.

Department of Mathematics, Lund Institute of Technology, Box 118, 210 00 Lund, Sweden

E-mail adress: marlena@maths.lth.se

Paper III

Geometric properties of quantum graphs and vertex scattering matrices*

Pavel Kurasov and Marlena Nowaczyk

ABSTRACT. Differential operators on metric graphs are investigated. It is proven that vertex boundary conditions can be successfully parameterized by the vertex scattering matrix at the energy equal to 1. Connectivity and high energy asymptotics are investigated in detail. The trace formula is proven for energy independent vertex scattering matrices. Two new families of boundary conditions are investigated: hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet conditions. It is proven that the Euler characteristic of the metric graph can be determined from the spectrum of the Laplace operator with the boundary conditions from any one of these classes.

1. Introduction

Quantum graphs is a rapidly developing area of research in mathematical physics with important prospective applications in nanotechnology and modern engineering, which was started in the 80-ies [4; 3]. Probably there is no necessity to explain the importance of such studies for the readers of the current volume. From the mathematical point of view this is exactly the area of research where ordinary and partial differential equations meet each other, in other words where methods developed originally for ordinary and partial differential equations are used simultaneously. In the current article we study differential operators on metric graphs coupled by boundary conditions at the vertices. These operators are studied using methods of spectral analysis of self-adjoint operators concentrating on the relations between their spectral properties and geometric structure of the underlying graph. To calculate an eigenfunction of such an operator one needs to solve first a certain ordinary differential equation on every edge separately, but solutions on different edges are connected through the boundary conditions and thus remind us about partial differential equations.

^{*}Submitted to Proceedings of *Quantum Graphs, their Spectra and Applications* 2-5 April 2007, Cambridge.

¹⁹⁹¹ Mathematics Subject classification. Primary 35R30, 47A10, 81U40, 81Q10.

Key words and phrases. Quantum graph, Laplace operator, Scattering matrix, Euler characteristic.

The authors would like to thank P. Exner, M. Harmer, P. Kuchment, A. Luger and B. Pavlov for fruitful discussions and references and Isaac Newton Institute in Cambridge for hospitality and stimulating atmosphere during the semester on Quantum graphs.

In a series of papers [13; 11; 12] it was proven that the spectrum in the case of a compact graph determines the Euler characteristic of the underlying graph as well as the number of connected components in the special case of so-called standard boundary conditions at the vertices. The main analytic tool developed there is celebrated trace formula proposed independently by J.-P. Roth [15] and B. Gutkin and U. Smilansky [5]. The aim of the current article is to develop this approach further in order to include most general boundary conditions at the vertices. Therefore the first part of the article is devoted to the discussion of most general boundary conditions at the vertices including studies of their high-energy asymptotics. In order to make our presentation clear only a star graph is considered in the first part. During these studies we found it useful to use a new parametrization of such boundary conditions by the matrix S, which is nothing else than the vertex scattering matrix for the energy equal to 1. The advantage of this parametrization is that it is unique and that the parameter has clear physical interpretation. This parametrization reminds very much of Harmer's parametrization, which is unique as well, but the parameter used there has not been given clear interpretation so far. We establish connection with classical (for the area of quantum graphs) Kostrykin-Schrader's and Kuchment's parameterizations of boundary conditions. We investigate the high energy asymptotics of the corresponding vertex scattering matrix proving that the limit always exists and coincides with a certain matrix which may be obtained by choosing the boundary conditions in a special way, so that the corresponding vertex scattering matrix does not depend on the energy. The set of all such energy independent vertex scattering matrices is characterized and relations with known parameterizations are established. The corresponding boundary conditions we call non-resonant.

In section 6. all properly connecting boundary conditions are classified which allows us to establish the correspondence between the families of boundary conditions and connectivity of the underlying graph. Studies of the high energy asymptotics lead us to the notion of asymptotically properly connecting boundary conditions - the boundary conditions leading to scattering matrices with proper limit at high energies. As we have already mentioned the high energy limit of every vertex scattering matrix coincides with a certain energy independent vertex scattering matrix. It might happen that even if the original boundary conditions are properly connecting, the boundary conditions corresponding to the limit (energy independent) matrix are not, which leads to spectral asymptotics reminding of the graphs with different connectivity than the underlying graph. The family of boundary conditions leading to asymptotically connecting boundary conditions is characterized. In particular we select two families of boundary conditions: hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet conditions (see Definitions 18 and 19). The first family is a direct generalization of standard boundary conditions. The second family generalizes the so-called δ'_s boundary conditions considered by P. Exner [2] and P. Kuchment [10].

In the second part of the article arbitrary finite compact graphs are considered. The corresponding Laplace operator is defined on the domain of functions satisfying boundary conditions at the vertices that are properly connecting and lead to energy independent vertex scattering matrices. These operators have pure discrete spectrum consisting of eigenvalues tending to $+\infty$. Following methods developed in [15; 5; 13; 12] we prove the trace formula for arbitrary boundary conditions leading to energy independent vertex scattering matrices. This formula connect the set of eigenvalues

(the energy spectrum) with the set of periodic orbits on the metric graph (the length spectrum), but includes so-called spectral and algebraic multiplicities of the eigenvalue zero. The first number is just the multiplicity of the eigenvalue zero whereas the second number is the multiplicity of the eigenvalue given by the characteristic equation used in the derivation of the trace formula. These numbers may be different and the Section 8. is devoted to calculation of these numbers for the special case of hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet conditions at the vertices. Both the spectral and algebraic multiplicities of the eigenvalue zero can be calculated from the spectrum. The first number is trivially given as multiplicity of $\lambda = 0$, the second number is determined by the asymptotics of the spectrum. It appears that for connected graphs these two numbers determine the Euler characteristic of the metric graph and therefore makes it possible to determine which sort of boundary conditions (hyperplanar Neumann or Dirichlet conditions) at the vertices is used to define the operator.

2. Star graph

In this and following sections we are going to discuss how to write boundary conditions at a vertex so that they connect properly together different edges meeting at this vertex. In order to make our presentation clear we study the star graph having in mind to generalize our consideration later for more complicated graphs.

Let us consider a star graph Γ with v_m semi-infinite nodes $\Delta_j = [0, \infty)$, $j = 1, 2, \ldots, v_m$, connected at one vertex V_m with valence v_m (equal to the number of edges connected at the vertex). Consider the Hilbert space of square integrable func-



tions on Γ

$$\mathcal{H} \equiv L^2(\Gamma) = \bigoplus_{n=1}^{v_m} L^2([0,\infty)). \tag{1}$$

The Laplace operator on Γ is the sum of second derivative operators on each interval Δ_i ,

$$L = \oplus_{j=1}^{v_m} \left(-\frac{d^2}{dx^2} \right). \tag{2}$$

This differential expression does not determine the self-adjoint operator uniquely. Two differential operators in $L^2(\Gamma)$ are naturally associated with the differential expression (2): the minimal operator with the domain $\text{Dom}(L_{\min}) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{v_m} C_0^{\infty}((0,\infty))$ and the

maximal operator L_{\max} with the domain $\text{Dom}(L_{\max}) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{v_m} W_2^2((0,\infty))$, where W_2^2 denotes the Sobolev space. The operator L_{\min} is symmetric and L_{\max} is its adjoint: $L_{\max} = L_{\min}^*$.

All self-adjoint operators associated with (2) can be obtained by extending the minimal operator to a subspace in the domain of L_{max} . Every such subspace can be described using certain boundary conditions connecting boundary values of the functions on Γ at the vertex.

Such self-adjoint extensions can be described using von Neumann formulas taking into account that L_{\min} is symmetric and has deficiency indices (v_m, v_m) . But parametrization via boundary conditions appears more appropriate due to its local character.

Another parametrization of extensions of L_{\min} can be obtained using Lagrangian planes. Consider the boundary form:

$$B[\varphi,\psi] = \langle L_{\max}\varphi,\psi\rangle - \langle \varphi, L_{\max}\psi\rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{v_m} (\partial_n \varphi_j(0)\overline{\psi_j}(0) - \varphi_j(0)\partial_n\overline{\psi_j}(0))$$

which gives a sesquilinear symplectic form in the finite dimensional space of boundary values \mathbb{C}^{2v_m} . Then all Lagrangian planes ϖ i.e. subspaces of \mathbb{C}^{2v_m} such that $\varphi, \psi \in \pi$, $B[\varphi, \psi] = 0$ and are maximal, describe all extensions of L_{\min} to self-adjoint operator L_{ϖ} , so that $\text{Dom}(L_{\varpi}) = \{\varphi \in \text{Dom}(L_{\max}) : (\varphi(0), \partial_n \varphi(0)) \in \varpi\}$, where $\varphi, \partial_n \varphi$ denote the vectors of boundary values for φ and its normal derivative at the vertex V_m .

3. Boundary conditions via the vertex scattering matrix

In the current section we are going to show that the boundary conditions at any vertex can be parameterized in the unique way by a certain unitary matrix. Our approach is a slight modification of that by M. Harmer [6], the advantage of our parametrization is that the parameter matrix S coincides with the value of the vertex scattering matrix at k = 1 (this explains our notation as well).

Theorem 1. The family of self-adjoint extensions of the minimal operator L_{\min} can uniquely be parameterized by an arbitrary $v_m \times v_m$ unitary matrix S, so that the operator L(S) is the restriction of $L_{\max} = L_{\min}^*$ to the set of functions satisfying the boundary conditions

$$i(S-I)\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = (S+I)\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) \tag{3}$$

Proof. As a first step we will determine the deficiency indices for the operator L_{\min} . Let λ be an arbitrary parameter in the upper half-plane, i.e. Im $\lambda > 0$. Every deficiency element $g(\lambda)$ is a solution to $(L_{\max} - \lambda)g(\lambda) = 0$. It is easy to see that the deficiency subspace $\mathcal{N}_{\overline{\lambda}}$ is spanned by $\{g_j(\lambda)\}$ given by:

$$g_j(\lambda) = \begin{cases} e^{i\sqrt{\lambda}x} & \text{for } x \in \Delta_j, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Similarly we can introduce a function $g_j(\bar{\lambda}) = \overline{g_j(\lambda)}$ as a solution to the equation $(L_{\max} - \bar{\lambda})g(\lambda) = 0$ and the deficiency subspace $\mathcal{N}_{\lambda} = span\{g_j(\bar{\lambda})\}$. As we can see from the form of solutions $g_j(\lambda)$ each of the spaces \mathcal{N}_{λ} and $\mathcal{N}_{\bar{\lambda}}$ is spanned by exactly v_m functions, thus the deficiency indices are (v_m, v_m) . Moreover any element $\psi_{\bar{\lambda}} \in \mathcal{N}_{\bar{\lambda}}$ can be written as $\psi_{\bar{\lambda}} = \sum_{j=1}^{v_m} \psi_j g_j(\lambda)$ and similarly $\psi_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{N}_{\lambda}$ as $\psi_{\lambda} = \sum_{j=1}^{v_m} \psi_j g_j(\bar{\lambda})$.

Every function ψ from $Dom(L_{max})$ can be written in the form:

$$\psi = \tilde{\psi} + \psi_{\lambda} + \psi_{\bar{\lambda}}, \quad \text{where } \tilde{\psi} \in \text{Dom}(\overline{L_{\min}}), \psi_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{N}_{\lambda}, \psi_{\bar{\lambda}} \in \mathcal{N}_{\bar{\lambda}}$$

and the sum is direct.

Consider a unitary operator \mathbb{W} mapping $\mathcal{N}_{\bar{\lambda}}$ onto \mathcal{N}_{λ} ; $\mathbb{W} : \mathcal{N}_{\bar{\lambda}} \to \mathcal{N}_{\lambda}$ and the matrix W representing the operator \mathbb{W} in the bases $\{g_j(\lambda)\} \subset \mathcal{N}_{\bar{\lambda}}$ and $\{g_j(\bar{\lambda})\} \subset \mathcal{N}_{\lambda}$. Then any self-adjoint extension of $\overline{L_{\min}}$ can be described as a restriction of L_{\max} to the set of functions possessing the following representation

$$\psi = \bar{\psi} + (\mathbb{W} - I)\psi_{\bar{\lambda}},$$

where $\tilde{\psi} \in \text{Dom}(\overline{L_{\min}})$ and $\psi_{\bar{\lambda}} \in \mathcal{N}_{\bar{\lambda}}$. In other words

$$Dom(L(\mathbb{W})) = Dom(\overline{L_{\min}}) \dot{+} (\mathbb{W} - I) \mathcal{N}_{\bar{\lambda}}.$$

Then the boundary values at the vertex of any such function can be calculated

$$\psi(V_m) = (W - I)\psi_{\bar{\lambda}}(V_m),$$

$$\partial_n \psi(V_m) = i(\sqrt{\lambda}W + \sqrt{\bar{\lambda}}I)\psi_{\bar{\lambda}}(V_m).$$
(4)

Comparing (4) and (3) we conclude that the matrix S has to satisfy the equation

$$(S-I)(W-I) = (S+I)(\sqrt{\lambda}W + \sqrt{\overline{\lambda}}I).$$

Therefore the relation between the matrix S describing the boundary conditions and the unitary matrix W used in von Neumann parametrization is

$$S = \frac{W - I + (\sqrt{\lambda}W + \sqrt{\lambda}I)}{W - I - (\sqrt{\lambda}W + \sqrt{\lambda}I)}.$$

Note that the matrix $W - I - (\sqrt{\lambda}W + \sqrt{\lambda}I)$ is invertible. Suppose that

$$(W - I - (\sqrt{\lambda}W + \sqrt{\overline{\lambda}}I))\varphi = 0$$

for some $\varphi \in \mathcal{N}_{\overline{\lambda}}$. Then

$$(1 - \sqrt{\lambda})W\varphi = (1 + \sqrt{\overline{\lambda}})\varphi.$$

Since W is unitary and φ in nonzero then $||W\varphi|| = ||\varphi|| \neq 0$. Thus comparing the norm on both sides of the last equation we obtain

$$|1 - \sqrt{\lambda}| = |1 + \sqrt{\bar{\lambda}}|$$

75

which is false since $\text{Im } \lambda > 0$.

Moreover the matrix S is unitary, since W is unitary

$$S^* = \frac{W^{-1} - I + (\sqrt{\lambda}W^{-1} + \sqrt{\lambda}I)}{W^{-1} - I - (\sqrt{\lambda}W^{-1} + \sqrt{\lambda}I)} = \frac{I - W + (\sqrt{\lambda}I + \sqrt{\lambda}W)}{I - W - (\sqrt{\lambda}I + \sqrt{\lambda}W)} = S^{-1}.$$

We have proven that any self-adjoint extension can be described by (3) with a unitary S. Let us show that S can be chosen arbitrarily. Really we have that

$$W = \frac{S - I + \sqrt{\lambda}(S + I)}{S - I - \sqrt{\lambda}(S + I)}$$

and every such W is unitary, provided that S is unitary. This parametrization is obviously unique.

As we already mentioned the advantage of parametrization (3) is that there is a one-to-one correspondence between the unitary matrices S and self-adjoint extensions of L_{\min} . Let us have a look at few intensively used families of boundary conditions. EXAMPLE 1.Standard boundary conditions. For standard boundary conditions the matrix S should be chosen equal to

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2-v_m}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} & \dots & \frac{2}{v_m} \\ \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2-v_m}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} \\ & \dots & & \\ \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2-v_m}{v_m} \end{pmatrix}$$

Then

$$S - I = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2(1 - v_m)}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} \\ \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2(1 - v_m)}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} \\ & \ddots & \\ \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2(1 - v_m)}{v_m} \end{pmatrix}, \quad S + I = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} \\ \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} \\ & \ddots & \\ \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} & \frac{2}{v_m} \end{pmatrix}$$

Subtracting the first equation in (3) from other ones we obtain that the functions ψ is continuous and the sum of its normal derivatives is equal to zero.

Let us establish the connection between the matrix S appearing in the boundary conditions and the vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k)$. Since S is an unitary matrix let us denote its eigenvalues and eigenvectors by $e^{i\theta_j}$ and ϕ_j respectively ($\theta_j \in \mathbb{R}, \langle \phi_i, \phi_j \rangle = \delta_{ij}, j = 1, \ldots, v_m$). Then S possesses the following spectral representation:

$$S\psi = \sum_{j=1}^{v_m} e^{i\theta_j} \langle \psi, \phi_j \rangle \phi_j.$$
(5)

In what follows the subspaces

$$N_{\pm 1} = \ker (S - (\pm I)),$$
 (6)

are going to play very important role.

To introduce the vertex scattering matrix let us first consider the solutions to the differential equation

$$-\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x^2}\psi(x) = k^2\psi(x),$$

which satisfy conditions (3) at the vertex. Solution to the differential equation can be written in the basis of incoming and outgoing waves as follows

$$\psi_j(x) = b_j e^{-ikx} + a_j e^{ikx}, \quad x \in \Delta_j.$$
(7)

The relation between the vectors of waves' amplitudes \boldsymbol{a} and \boldsymbol{b} is given by the vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k)$: $\boldsymbol{a} = S_v(k)\boldsymbol{b}$. The scattering matrix has to be chosen so that the function in (7) satisfies the boundary conditions at the vertex. The values of the functions and of normal derivatives at the vertex are:

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = \boldsymbol{b} + \boldsymbol{a} = \boldsymbol{b} + S_v(k)\boldsymbol{b}$$

and

$$\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = -ik\boldsymbol{b} + ik\boldsymbol{a} = -ik\boldsymbol{b} + ikS_v(k)\boldsymbol{b}$$

After substitution into equation (3) we obtain

$$i(S - I)(I + S_v(k)) = ik(S + I)(-I + S_v(k))$$

and then

$$S_v(k) = \frac{k(S+I) + (S-I)}{k(S+I) - (S-I)}, \quad k \neq 0.$$
 (8)

Similarly as in the last proof we can show that the matrix appearing in the denominator is invertible, so $S_v(k)$ is well defined. From equation (8) we can easily observe that $S_v(1) = S$. This is the reason for us to choose parametrization (3).

Let us show that the matrix $S_v(k)$ is unitary for any real $k \neq 0$:

$$S_v(k)S_v^*(k) = \frac{k(S+I) + (S-I)}{k(S+I) - (S-I)} \cdot \frac{k(S^*+I) + (S^*-I)}{k(S^*+I) - (S^*-I)} = I$$

Hence we have shown that all boundary conditions at a vertex leading to self-adjoint extensions of L_{\min} can be described by the matrix S equal to $S_v(1)$, where $S_v(k)$ is a unitary vertex scattering matrix. We would like to point out that in 2000 Kostrykin and Schrader ([8], Theorem 1.) showed that the knowledge of $S_v(k_0)$ for some fixed energy parameter k_0 allows one to calculate $S_v(k)$ for any arbitrary k, and therefore determines the boundary conditions at the vertex.

4. Different parameterizations of boundary conditions

The research on boundary conditions and self-adjoint operators on graphs goes back to 80-ies to works of B. Pavlov and N. Gerasimenko [4] and of P. Exner and P. Šeba [3] and is described in details by P. Kuchment in [10]

4.1. Kostrykin-Schrader's parametrization

In 1999 Kostrykin and Schrader [7] gave a full description how all self-adjoint extensions can be obtained from local boundary conditions. Let A and B be $v_m \times v_m$ matrices then all boundary conditions at the vertex can be described in the following way:

$$A\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) + B\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = 0 \tag{9}$$

where ψ is the v_m -dimensional vector of functions and $\partial_n \psi$ - of normal derivatives defined on edges of the graph Γ .

Proposition 2 (Kostrykin, Schrader). All self-adjoint extensions of the minimal operator L_{\min} are described by the boundary conditions (9) where A and B are $v_m \times v_m$ matrices with the following properties:

- 1. the $v_m \times 2v_m$ matrix (A, B) has maximal rank v_m ,
- 2. the matrix AB^* is Hermitian.

Notice that parametrization of boundary conditions in equation (9) with matrices A and B is not unique. One can take any arbitrary invertible matrix D and use matrices A' = DA and B' = DB instead of A and B. These matrices determine the same Lagrangian plane of boundary values.

The parametrization via vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ presented in the previous section is unique. Moreover to describe properties of boundary conditions and therefore self-adjoint extensions we will investigate properties of only one matrix $S_v(k)$.

The boundary conditions (9) can be rewritten as:

$$A(\boldsymbol{b} + S_v \boldsymbol{b}) + B(-ik\boldsymbol{b} + ikS_v \boldsymbol{b}) = 0.$$

Hence the relation between the scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ and the matrices A and B (see [8]) is

$$S_v(k) = -(A + ikB)^{-1}(A - ikB)$$
(10)

and in particular

$$S = S_v(1) = -(A + iB)^{-1}(A - iB).$$
(11)

4.2. Harmer's parametrization

Another parametrization of boundary conditions using only one unitary matrix U and which is unique was proposed by Harmer in 2000 [6]

$$-i(U+I)\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) + (U-I)\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = 0.$$
(12)

In this parametrization the unitary matrix again does not coincide with the unitary matrix appearing in von Neumann formulas. One may obtain this parametrization from (3) just by putting

S = -U.

The only advantage of the parametrization via the matrix S is that it has clear meaning being the vertex scattering matrix for k = 1.

4.3. Kuchment's parametrization

In 2004 Kuchment has noticed that boundary condition (9) can be rewritten equivalently as two conditions which use orthogonal projection on ker B. This makes Kostrykin-Schrader's parametrization unique.

Proposition 3 (following Corollary 5 in [10]). Let (A, B) has maximal rank and AB^* be Hermitian matrix. Then the boundary condition (9) is equivalent to the pair of conditions $P_{M^{\perp}}\psi = 0$ and $LP_M\psi + P_M\partial_n\psi = 0$, where P_M is orthogonal projection onto space $M = (\text{Ker } B)^{\perp}$, $P_{M^{\perp}}$ is the complementary projector, and L is the self-adjoint operator $B^{-1}A$.

The operator $i\frac{\hat{S}-I}{\hat{S}+I}$, where $\hat{S} = P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}}SP_{N_{-1}^{\perp}}$, in N_{-1}^{\perp} is hermitian. It follows that we get Kuchment's parametrization by taking

$$M = N_{-1}^{\perp} \quad \text{and} \quad L = i \frac{P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}} S P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}} - I}{P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}} S P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}} + I}.$$

5. High energy asymptotics and energy independent scattering matrices

For the studies of spectral asymptotics it is necessary to investigate the high energy behavior of the vertex scattering matrix.

Let us remind that the unitary matrix S possesses the spectral representation (5) and that the vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ is given by (8). Then we obtain the following representation for the matrix $S_v(k)$:

$$S_{v}(k)\psi = \sum_{j=1}^{v_{m}} \frac{k(e^{i\theta_{j}}+1) + (e^{i\theta_{j}}-1)}{k(e^{i\theta_{j}}+1) - (e^{i\theta_{j}}-1)} \langle \psi, \phi_{j} \rangle \phi_{j}$$

=
$$\sum_{j:\theta_{j}=\pi} (-1) \langle \psi, \phi_{j} \rangle \phi_{j} + \sum_{j:\theta_{j}=0} 1 \langle \psi, \phi_{j} \rangle \phi_{j} + \sum_{j:\theta_{j}\neq\pi,0} \frac{k(e^{i\theta_{j}}+1) + (e^{i\theta_{j}}-1)}{k(e^{i\theta_{j}}+1) - (e^{i\theta_{j}}-1)} \langle \psi, \phi_{j} \rangle \phi_{j}.$$

(13)

Since S is unitary N_1 and N_{-1} are orthogonal to each other; if S has no other eigenvalues, then $N_1 \oplus N_{-1} = \mathbb{C}^{v_m}$. Formula (13) implies that the eigenvalues ± 1 are stable, whereas all other eigenvalues depend on k. The properties of this representation for $S_v(k)$ gives us immediately the following two theorems.

Theorem 4. The scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ is energy independent if and only if the parameter matrix S has just eigenvalues 1 and -1, i.e. iff boundary conditions (3) take the form

$$P_{N_1}\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = 0, \quad P_{N_{-1}}\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = 0, \tag{14}$$

where $N_1 \oplus N_{-1} = \mathbb{C}^{v_m}$.

Proof. Observe that when $\theta_j \neq \pi$ and $\theta_j \neq 0$, the eigenvalues given by the fraction $\frac{k(e^{i\theta_j}+1)+(e^{i\theta_j}-1)}{k(e^{i\theta_j}+1)-(e^{i\theta_j}-1)}$ do depend on k. Therefore S(k) does not depend on k if and only if the unitary matrix S has eigenvalues 1 and -1 only.

Compare the conditions (14) with Kuchment's parametrization in Proposition 3. Notice also the connection between S + I and B (take into account equation (3) and (9)).

We would like to mention here Datta [1] and Taniguchi and Büttiker [16] who at the beginning of 90-ies solved one explicit example of energy independent scattering matrix for junction of 3 wires. The Theorem 4 has been proven by Kostrykin and Schrader in [9].

Boundary conditions leading to energy independent vertex scattering matrices are going to play an important role in our studies.

Definition 5. Vertex boundary conditions are called **non-resonant** iff the corresponding vertex scattering matrix is energy independent.

The main motivation for this definition is that all other boundary conditions lead to vertex scattering matrices having singularities.

Theorem 6. As $k \to \infty$ the vertex scattering matrix tends to the energy independent vertex scattering matrix

$$S_v^{m,\infty} = \sum_{j:\theta_j = \pi} (-1)\langle \cdot, \phi_j \rangle \phi_j + \sum_{j:\theta_j \neq \pi} \langle \cdot, \phi_j \rangle \phi_j \equiv -P_{N_{-1}} + P_{N_{-1}^{\perp}}, \qquad (15)$$

where N_{-1} is the eigensubspace for S (and hence for all S(k)). In addition it holds

$$S_v^m(k) = S_v^{m,\infty} + \mathcal{O}(1/k), \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

Proof. Notice that for $\theta_j \neq \pi$ each of the eigenvalues $\frac{k(e^{i\theta_j}+1)+(e^{i\theta_j}-1)}{k(e^{i\theta_j}+1)-(e^{i\theta_j}-1)}$ tends to 1 as k tends to infinity. Moreover it holds

$$\frac{k(e^{i\theta_j} + 1) + (e^{i\theta_j} - 1)}{k(e^{i\theta_j} + 1) - (e^{i\theta_j} - 1)} = 1 + \mathcal{O}(1/k), \text{ as } k \to \infty$$

Hence the limit of $S_v^m(k)$ is the matrix $S_v^{m,\infty}$ with eigenvalues 1 and -1 only. By preceding theorem, $S_v^{m,\infty}$ is an energy independent vertex scattering matrix.

This theorem is a modification of the result already proved by Harmer in [6] and implies that for high energies every vertex scattering matrix tends to a certain scattering matrix corresponding to non-resonant boundary conditions.

6. Vertex scattering matrix and connectivity

In this section we will discuss under which additional conditions (beyond unitarity) the matrix S do connect all end points meeting at the vertex V_m . The only requirement we introduced so far is that the boundary conditions (3) connect together only boundary values corresponding to the same vertex. But it might happen that the end points meeting at certain vertex V_m can be divided into two nonintersecting classes $V_m = V_{m_1} \cup V_{m_2}$ so that boundary conditions (3) connect together the boundary values at V_{m_1} and V_{m_2} separately. Such boundary conditions do not correspond to the

vertex V_m but rather to two (independent) vertices V_{m_1} and V_{m_2} . In other words, if the vertex V_m can be chopped into two vertices so that the boundary conditions are preserved, then such conditions are not properly connecting and should be excluded from our consideration if no special reason exists. This problem has been discussed in details in [14], [8], but we describe this problem using the parametrization via the matrix S. Due to uniqueness of this parametrization the discussion becomes much more transparent.

For energy dependent vertex scattering matrices we are meeting another interesting effect. It might happen that the corresponding boundary conditions are properly connecting, but the boundary conditions corresponding to the limit scattering matrix $S_v^{m,\infty}$ are not, but it is the limit scattering matrix that is important in calculating spectral asymptotics. Therefore we shall also define asymptotically properly connecting boundary conditions, but let us consider one example first.

EXAMPLE 2. Let the graph Γ be a loop formed by just one edge $\Delta_1 = [-\pi, \pi]$ with the endpoints $-\pi$ and π connected at the vertex V_1 . Consider the boundary conditions

$$\begin{cases} \psi(-\pi) &= -\partial_n \psi(+\pi) \\ \psi(\pi) &= -\partial_n \psi(-\pi) \end{cases}$$

which are clearly properly connecting and correspond to $S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. The vertex scattering matrix can be calculated using (8)

$$S_v^1(k) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{k^2 - 1}{k^2 + 1} & \frac{2ik}{k^2 + 1} \\ \frac{2ik}{k^2 + 1} & \frac{k^2 - 1}{k^2 + 1} \end{array}\right)$$

and it tends to the unit matrix as $k \to \infty$. The boundary conditions corresponding to unit scattering matrix are just Neumann boundary conditions $\partial_n \psi(-\pi) = \partial_n \psi(\pi) = 0$, which do not connect the values at $\pm \pi$ together.

Let us summarize our discussion by giving the following definition

Definition 7. Vertex boundary conditions are called **properly connecting** iff the vertex cannot be divided into two (or more) vertices so that the boundary conditions connect together only boundary values belonging to each of the new vertices. Vertex boundary conditions are called **asymptotically properly connecting** iff the limit scattering matrix S_v^{∞} corresponds to certain properly connecting boundary conditions.

Characterization of all properly connecting boundary conditions via the matrix S is rather straightforward, which is due to the uniqueness of our parametrization of boundary conditions.

Theorem 8. Boundary conditions (3) are properly connecting iff the unitary matrix S cannot be turned into block-diagonal form by permutation of the basis vectors.

Proof. Assume that S is block-diagonal after some permutation σ ,

$$\sigma S \sigma^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} S^1 & 0\\ 0 & S^2 \end{pmatrix} \tag{16}$$

81

where S^1 and S^2 are unitary matrices in \mathbb{C}^{v_1} and \mathbb{C}^{v_2} respectively, $v_1 + v_2 = v_m$. Let us separate the end points forming the vertex $V_m = \{x_{j_l}\}_{l=1}^{v_m}$ into two classes V_1 and $V_2: V_m = V_1 \cup V_2$. The permutation σ can be considered acting on the end points from V_m . Let us denote by V_1 the union of end-points that after permutation σ occupy the first v_1 positions, and by V_2 - the union of all other end-points. Then it is natural to consider the vectors of boundary values at V_1 and V_2 separately, since the boundary conditions (16) can be written as

$$\begin{cases} i(S^{1} - I)\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_{1}) = (S^{1} + I)\partial_{n}\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_{1}), \\ i(S^{2} - I)\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_{2}) = (S^{2} + I)\partial_{n}\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_{2}), \end{cases}$$
(17)

and obviously connect only values of $\psi(V_1)$ with $\partial_n \psi(V_1)$ and separately $\psi(V_2)$ with $\partial_n \psi(V_2)$.

Assume now that boundary conditions at a certain vertex V_m are not properly connecting. Then the vertex V_m can be divided into two vertices V_1 and V_2 and the boundary conditions connect together only boundary values corresponding to each new vertex. Therefore boundary conditions can be written in the form (17), which leads to block diagonal form of the matrix S corresponding to the original vertex V_m .

We are going to study in more details the relation between the properly connecting boundary conditions and the space N_{-1} . In order to do this we will need the notion of *coordinate subspace* - any subspace in \mathbb{C}^n spanned by a certain number of basic vectors from the standard basis in \mathbb{C}^n , but does not coincide with \mathbb{C}^n . This is a straightforward generalization of the notion of coordinate planes in \mathbb{R}^3 . We say that a subspace N is *perpendicular* to a coordinate subspace K iff $P_K N \subset N \cap K$ and $P_N K \subset N \cap K$, where P denotes the orthogonal projection.

Theorem 9. The non-resonant boundary conditions corresponding to the matrix S are properly connecting iff N_{-1} is not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace.

Proof. Let K denote some coordinate subspace of \mathbb{C}^{v_m} and K^{\perp} - its orthogonal complement. Assume that N_{-1} is perpendicular to K. Consider $P_K N_{-1} \equiv N_{-1}^1 \subset K$ and similarly $P_{K^{\perp}} N_{-1} \equiv N_{-1}^2 \subset K^{\perp}$ (where K^{\perp} is also a coordinate subspace). Take $S^1 = I_K - 2P_{N_{-1}^1}$ a unitary matrix in K and $S^2 = I_{K^{\perp}} - 2P_{N_{-1}^2}$ a unitary matrix in K^{\perp} . Then we have that $\mathbb{C}^{v_m} = K \oplus K^{\perp}$ and $S = S^1 \oplus S^2$, i.e. S is a block-diagonal matrix after certain permutation of coordinates. Thus S is not properly connecting.

Assume that S is not properly connecting then it has a block-diagonal structure after a certain permutation of coordinates, i. e. $S = S^1 \oplus S^2$ where S^1 is a unitary matrix in a certain coordinate subspace K and S^2 is a unitary matrix in K^{\perp} . Then N_{-1} possesses the representation: $N_{-1} = N_{-1}(S^1) \oplus N_{-1}(S^2)$. And hence $P_K N_{-1} = N_{-1}(S^1)$, *i.e.* N_{-1} is perpendicular to K.

This theorem can be generalized to describe all asymptotically properly connecting boundary conditions using the fact that the subspace N_{-1} is stable for $S_v(k)$.

Theorem 10. The boundary conditions are asymptotically properly connecting iff N_{-1} is not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace.

Proof. By Theorem (6) the limit of the scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ is a certain energy independent scattering matrix S_v^{∞} , which has the same eigensubspace N_{-1} . Then current theorem follows from Theorem (9).

The energy independent scattering matrix S_{V_m} is not properly connecting for example in the following two cases:

- 1. $N_1 = \{0\}, N_{-1} = \mathbb{C}^{v_m}$, which corresponds to Dirichlet boundary conditions at the endpoints forming the vertex;
- 2. $N_1 = \mathbb{C}^{v_m}, N_{-1} = \{0\}$, which leads to the Neumann boundary conditions at the endpoints forming the vertex.

Clearly these boundary conditions are not properly connecting and correspond to the case where the vertex V_m is maximally decomposed.

On the other hand it is possible to define the following two important families of properly connecting non-resonant boundary conditions:

1. Hyperplanar Neumann conditions - defined by a certain vector $w^m \in \mathbb{C}^{v_m}$ with all components different from zero

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) \parallel \boldsymbol{w}^m, \\ \partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) \perp \boldsymbol{w}^m \end{cases}$$
(18)

2. Hyperplanar Dirichlet conditions - defined by a certain vector $u^m \in \mathbb{C}^{v_m}$ with all components different from zero

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) \perp \boldsymbol{u}^m, \\ \partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) \parallel \boldsymbol{u}^m \end{cases}$$
(19)

These boundary conditions correspond to the case where one of the subspaces N_1 and N_{-1} is one dimensional. For hyperplanar Dirichlet conditions N_{-1} is spanned by \boldsymbol{u}^m and, since all components of \boldsymbol{u}^m are different from zero, N_{-1} is not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace. For Neumann conditions it is N_1 that is spanned by \boldsymbol{w}^m and again N_1 , and therefore N_{-1} as well, is not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace. It follows that both hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet conditions are non-resonant properly connecting boundary conditions. In the case of vertex formed by one end point hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet conditions reduce to classical Neumann and Dirichlet conditions respectively, which motivates their name. The word "hyperplanar" reflects the fact that one of the corresponding subspaces N_1 or N_{-1} has codimension 1. Note that if the vector \boldsymbol{w}^m is chosen equal to (1, 1, ..., 1), then hyperplanar Neumann conditions coincide with the standard boundary conditions (which are sometimes called Neumann conditions in the literature).

7. Trace formula for non-resonant boundary conditions

The trace formula connects together the spectrum of a quantum graph and the set of periodic orbits for the underlying metric graph. It was first suggested independently

by J.-P. Roth and B. Gutkin and U. Smilansky [15; 5]. In 2005 the authors provided a rigorous proof of this formula [13] discovering important relations with the Euler characteristic of the graph [11]. For considered there standard boundary conditions it was used that the vertex scattering matrix S_v is independent of the energy. Thus one can easily generalize the proof of the trace formula for any Laplace operator on a metric graph with any properly connecting non-resonant boundary conditions. The only difficulty appears when one tries to calculate the spectral and algebraic multiplicities of the zero eigenvalue.

Let L be the Laplace operator on a metric graph Γ formed by N edges connected at M vertices V_m of valence v_m and having C connected components. The set of all edges will be denoted by $E = \{\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_N\}, \Delta_j = [x_{2j-1,x_{2j}}]$ and the set of vertices $V = \{V_1, \ldots, V_M\}$ is a partition of the set of endpoints $\{x_j\}_{j=1}^{2N}$. The maximal Laplace operator L_{\max} is defined on the Sobolev space $W_2^2(\Gamma \setminus V)$. Consider the vectors of boundary values and normal partial derivatives associated with each vertex V_m , i.e. v_m -dimensional vectors $\psi(V_m)$ and $\partial_n \psi(V_m)$ with components $\psi(x_j)$ and $\partial_n \psi(x_j)$ respectively for $x_j \in V_m$. Then the boundary form of the maximal Laplace operator operator is given by

$$\langle L_{\max}\psi,\psi\rangle - \langle\psi,L_{\max}\psi\rangle = \sum_{V_m} \left(\langle \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m),\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m)\rangle - \langle\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m),\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m)\rangle\right)$$

The theorems for a star graph can now be easily generalized for any arbitrary graph Γ .

Theorem 11. The family of self-adjoint restrictions of L_{\max} can be described by boundary conditions connecting the boundary values $\boldsymbol{\psi} = (\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_1), \dots, \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_M))$ and $\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi} = (\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_1), \dots, \partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_M))$

$$\hat{u}(S-I)\boldsymbol{\psi} = (S+I)\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}.$$
(20)

This boundary conditions are properly connecting iff they have the form

$$i(S^m - I)\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = (S^m + I)\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m), \qquad (21)$$

where S^m is a unitary $v_m \times v_m$ matrix with $N_{-1}(S^m)$ not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace in \mathbb{C}^{v_m} .

The non-resonant boundary conditions are given by:

$$P_{N_1^m}\partial_n \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = 0, \quad P_{N_1^m} \boldsymbol{\psi}(V_m) = 0, \tag{22}$$

where $N_1^m \oplus N_{-1}^m = \mathbb{C}^{v_m}$.

Assume that the boundary conditions at the vertices are non-resonant. Then every eigenfunction $\psi(x,k)$, corresponding to the energy $\lambda = k^2$ is a solution to the differential equation

$$-\frac{d^2}{dx^2}\psi(x,k) = k^2\psi(x,k),$$
(23)

on the edges, satisfying the boundary conditions (20) at the vertices. For $k \neq 0$ every solution to (23) can be written using either a basis of incoming or one of outgoing

waves

$$\psi(x,k) = a_{2j-1}e^{ik|x-x_{2j-1}|} + a_{2j}e^{ik|x-x_{2j}|} \quad x \in \Delta_j = [x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}].$$

$$= b_{2j-1}e^{-ik|x-x_{2j-1}|} + b_{2j}e^{-ik|x-x_{2j}|} \quad x \in \Delta_j = [x_{2j-1}, x_{2j}].$$
(24)

The amplitudes $\boldsymbol{a} = \{a_j\}_{j=1}^{2N}$ and $\boldsymbol{b} = \{b_j\}_{j=1}^{2N}$ are related by the edge scattering matrix

$$\boldsymbol{b} = \mathbf{S}_{e}\boldsymbol{a}, \text{ where } \mathbf{S}_{e}(k) = \begin{pmatrix} S_{e}^{1} & 0 & \dots \\ 0 & S_{e}^{2} & \dots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}, S_{e}^{j}(k) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{ikd_{j}} \\ e^{ikd_{j}} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(25)

where d_j are the lengths of the edge Δ_j . The amplitudes are also related by the vertex scattering matrices, which are obtained from the requirement that $\psi(x, k)$ satisfies (3). For that purpose it is convenient to use the following representation for the solution to (23), using only amplitudes related to every end point x_i from V_m

$$\psi(x,k) = a_{i}e^{ik|x-x_{j}|} + b_{j}e^{-ik|x-x_{j}|}$$

and corresponding vectors $a^m, b^m \in \mathbb{C}^{v_m}$ of amplitudes. Then for all $k \neq 0$ the boundary conditions (22) are equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} P_{N_{-1}^m}(\boldsymbol{a}^m + \boldsymbol{b}^m) = 0, \\ P_{N_1^m}(\boldsymbol{a}^m - \boldsymbol{b}^m) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(26)

It follows that \boldsymbol{a}^m and \boldsymbol{b}^m are related by the corresponding vertex scattering matrix S_v^m as follows

$$a^m = S_v^m b_m, \ m = 1, 2, ..., M.$$
 (27)

The last equation implies that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{a}^{1} \\ \boldsymbol{a}^{2} \\ \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{a}^{M} \end{pmatrix} = \mathbf{S}_{v} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{b}^{1} \\ \boldsymbol{b}^{2} \\ \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{b}^{M} \end{pmatrix}, \text{ with } \mathbf{S}_{v} = \begin{pmatrix} \underline{S_{v}^{1} \mid 0 \mid \dots} \\ 0 \mid \underline{S_{v}^{2} \mid \dots} \\ \vdots \mid \vdots \mid \ddots \end{pmatrix}.$$
(28)

Note that the matrices S_e and S_v possess the block representations (25) and (28) in different bases. Clearly a vector **a** determines an eigenfunction of the Laplace operator if and only if the following equation holds

$$\det \left(\mathbf{S}(k) - I \right) = 0, \text{ where } \mathbf{S}(k) = \mathbf{S}_v \mathbf{S}_e(k).$$
(29)

The matrix S(k) is unitary for real k since it is a product of two unitary matrices. It is easy to see that

 $\| \mathbf{S}(k) \| < 1 \text{ for } \mathrm{Im}k > 0, \text{ and } \| \mathbf{S}^{-1}(k) \| < 1 \text{ for } \mathrm{Im}k < 0,$ (30)

since the (independent of k) matrix \mathbf{S}_v is unitary and the matrix $\mathbf{S}_e(k)$ satisfy (30).

Equation (29) determines the spectrum of $L(\Gamma)$ with correct multiplicities for all nonzero values of the energy, but the multiplicity $m_a(0)$ of the zero eigenvalue given by this equation, i.e. the dimension of ker $(\mathbf{S}(k) - I)$, to be called *algebraic multiplicity*, may be different from the dimension $m_s(0)$ of the zero eigensubspace of $L(\Gamma)$, to be called *spectral multiplicity*.

Theorem 12. (*Trace formula*) Let Γ be a compact finite metric graph with the total length \mathcal{L} and let L be the Laplace operator in $L_2(\Gamma)$ determined by properly connecting non-resonant boundary conditions at the vertices. Then the following two trace formulae establish the relation between the spectrum $\{k_n^2\}$ of $L(\Gamma)$ and the set \mathcal{P} of closed paths on the metric graph Γ

$$u(k) \equiv 2m_s(0)\delta(k) + \sum_{k_n \neq 0} \left(\delta(k - k_n) + \delta(k + k_n)\right)$$
(31)

 $= (2m_s(0) - m_a(0))\delta(k) + \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\pi} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} l(\operatorname{prim}(p)) (S(p)e^{ikl(p)} + S^*(p)e^{-ikl(p)}),$

and

$$\sqrt{2\pi}\hat{u}(l) = 2m_s(0) + \sum_{k_n \neq 0} 2\cos k_n l$$
(32)

$$=2m_s(0)-m_a(0)+2\mathcal{L}\delta(l)+\sum_{p\in\mathcal{P}}l(\operatorname{prim}\left(p\right))\Big(S(p)\delta(l-l(p))+S^*(p)\delta(l+l(p))\Big),$$

where

- $m_s(0)$ and $m_a(0)$ are spectral and algebraic multiplicities of the eigenvalue zero;
- p is a closed path on Γ ;
- l(p) is the length of the closed path p;
- prim (p) is one of the primitive paths for p;
- *S*(*p*) *is the product of all vertex scattering coefficients along the path p*.

Proof. The proof follow step by step the proof of Theorem 2 from [11].

This theorem shows, that both spectral and algebraic multiplicities of the eigenvalue zero may be calculated from the spectrum of the Laplace operator: the spectral multiplicity is trivially equal to the multiplicity of $\lambda = 0$, the algebraic multiplicity is determined by the spectral asymptotics. Therefore in the following section we are going to study spectral and algebraic multiplicites for different types of boundary conditions.

8. Spectral and algebraic multiplicities of the ground state for hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet conditions

8.1. On the ground state eigenfunction

We show first, that every eigenfunction corresponding to the zero eigenvalue is piecewise constant. **Lemma 13.** Let *L* be the Laplace operator on a metric graph defined on the functions satisfying non-resonant boundary conditions. Then every eigenfunction corresponding to $\lambda = 0$ is a piecewise constant function.

Proof. Every such function is a solution to the equation $-\psi''(x) = 0$ and therefore is a piecewise linear function on every edge

$$\psi(x) = \alpha_j x + \beta_j, \quad x \in \Delta_j.$$

Consider the corresponding Dirichlet integral

$$\int_{\Gamma} |\psi'(x)|^2 dx = \sum_{j=1}^{N} |\alpha_j|^2 d_j \ge 0,$$

where d_j denotes the length of the edge Δ_j . On the other hand integrating by parts we get

$$\int_{\Gamma} \psi'(x)\overline{\psi'(x)}dx = -\int_{\Gamma} \psi''(x)\overline{\psi(x)}dx - \sum_{x_j} \partial_n \psi(x_j)\overline{\psi(x_j)}$$
$$= -\sum_{m=1}^M \sum_{x_j \in V_m} \partial_n \psi(x_j)\overline{\psi(x_j)}$$
$$= -\sum_{m=1}^M \langle \partial_n \psi^m, \psi^m \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{v_m}} = 0,$$

since for every V_m the vectors ψ^m and $\partial_n \psi^m$ belong to two mutually orthogonal subspaces. Hence $\alpha_j = 0$ and every such function is piecewise constant.

8.2. Hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions

In this subsection we will investigate in more details the hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions defined as (18). We shall calculate the spectral and algebraic multiplicities of the eigenvalue 0. Moreover we will need to consider two cases of hyperplanar boundary conditions: consistent and inconsistent.

Consider a closed path p of discrete length n(p). Every such path can be uniquely defined by a sequence of endpoints $(x_{l_1}, x_{l_2}, \ldots, x_{l_{2n(p)}})$ that the path comes across, where $x_{l_{2k}}$ and $x_{l_{2k+1}}$ as well as $x_{l_{2n(p)}}$ and x_{l_1} belong to the same vertex while $x_{l_{2k-1}}$ and $x_{l_{2k}}$ are endpoints of the same edge.

Definition 14. We say that hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions are consistent iff for every closed path $p = (x_{l_1}, x_{l_2}, \dots, x_{l_{2n(p)}})$ it holds

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n(p)} w(x_{l_{2k}}) = \prod_{k=0}^{n(p)-1} w(x_{l_{2k+1}}).$$
(33)

Lemma 15. The spectral multiplicity of the eigenvalue $\lambda = 0$ of the Laplace operator with consistent hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions is equal to the number C of connected components of Γ . *Proof.* Consider any connected graph Γ and assume that (33) holds. Let ψ be any zero energy eigenfunction. Lemma 13 implies that ψ is piecewise constant and therefore the second condition in (18) for every vector \boldsymbol{w} is trivially satisfied.

Choose any edge Δ_j and let $\psi(x)|_{x \in \Delta_j} = 1$. Let V_l be one of the two vertices that Δ_j connects. Then the values of ψ on all the edges connected at V_l can be calculated since the vector $\psi(V_l)$ is proportional to w^l and one of the coordinates is known. In this way the values of the function ψ on all neighboring edges may be calculated and hence on the whole graph, since it is connected.Condition (33) guarantees that no contradiction occurs. Constructed in this way ψ is unique for any connected Γ . It is clear that such ψ cannot vanish on any edge, since all components of vectors w^m are different from zero.

For any not necessarily connected Γ the number of linearly independent vectors is then equal to the number of connected components C.

Lemma 16. The algebraic multiplicity of the eigenvalue $\lambda = 0$ of the Laplace operator with consistent hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions is equal to 2C + N - M

Proof. The algebraic multiplicity of $\lambda = 0$ is equal to the dimension of the space of solutions to the system of equations (26) and (25) with

$$S_e^j(0) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, N.$$

First of all the vector **b** can be excluded leading to the following system on **a**:

$$\begin{cases} a_j + a_{j-(-1)^j} = \alpha_m w^m(x_j), & x_j \in V_m \\ \sum_{x_j \in V_m} (a_j - a_{j-(-1)^j}) w^m(x_j) = 0 & m = 1, \dots, M. \end{cases}$$
(34)

The equations can be separated by introducing new N-dimensional vectors \mathbf{f} and \mathbf{s} where $f_j = a_{2j} - a_{2j-1}$ and $s_j = a_{2j} + a_{2j-1}$. The values f_j and s_j can be interpreted as flows and values of the eigenfunction on the edge Δ_j .

The equations on s_j are just the same as the equations determining the function ψ in Lemma 15. Therefore the dimension of corresponding set of solutions is just C as before, since the conditions are consistent.

The equations on f_j can be written as a "balance of flows" (see footnote 1 in [11]):

$$\sum_{(x_{2j} \in V_m)} f_j \,\overline{w}^m(x_{2j}) = \sum_{(x_{2j-1} \in V_m)} f_j \,\overline{w}^m(x_{2j-1}).$$
(35)

Consider the case when Γ is a tree. Then on all loose edges $f_j = 0$, since hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions at loose endpoints are nothing else than usual Neumann conditions. Considering the balance equation at any vertex V_m connecting together $v_m - 1$ loose edges, we conclude that f_j is equal to zero on every edge connected only to the loose edges (remember that all $w^m(x_j)$ are different from zero). Continuing in this way we conclude that l_j are zero.

Consider now an arbitrary graph Γ . It can be turned into a forest (a sum of several trees) T with the same number of connected components by deleting exactly

j

g = N - M + C edges. Let us denote those edges by $\Delta_1, \Delta_2, \ldots, \Delta_g$. For every such edge denote by p_j the shortest closed path on $T \cup \Delta_j$. Let us prove that there exists a solution \mathbf{f}^j supported just by p_j . Assume for the sake of simplicity that $p_j = (x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{2n(p)})$. and it runs through the vertices $V_1, V_2, \ldots, V_{n(p)}$. Then boundary conditions at these vertices build a system of equations:

$$\begin{cases} f_1 \overline{w}^1(x_2) &= f_2 \overline{w}^1(x_3) \\ f_2 \overline{w}^2(x_4) &= f_3 \overline{w}^2(x_5) \\ & \dots \\ f_{n(p)} \overline{w}^{n(p)}(x_{2n(p)}) &= f_1 \overline{w}^{n(p)}(x_1) \end{cases}$$

Multiplying both sides we get the following relation

$$\frac{w^1(x_2)w^2(x_4)\dots w^{n(p)-1}(x_{2n(p)-2})w^{n(p)}(x_{2n(p)})}{w^1(x_3)w^2(x_5)\dots w^{n(p)-1}(x_{2n(p)-1})w^{n(p)}(x_1)} = 1,$$

which is exactly the consistency relation (33) for the hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions. Therefore there exists a unique (up to multiplication by a constant) solution f^{j} of (35) for each basic cycle p_{j} in the graph Γ . Consider now

$$\boldsymbol{f} - \sum_{j=1}^{g} s_j \, \boldsymbol{f}^j. \tag{36}$$

Obviously this function is supported by T and satisfies equation (26). Therefore it is zero and it follows that every f can be written as a combination of f^{j} which are of course linearly independent.

Thus the algebraic multiplicity of $\lambda = 0$ is equal to the number of basic cycles in Γ plus the number of connected components C. Hence the algebraic multiplicity is equal to (N - M + C) + C = 2C + N - M.

The algebraic multiplicity can be characterized by the Euler characteristic $\chi = M - N$, $m_a^N(0) = 2C - \chi$.

8.3. Hyperplanar Dirichlet boundary conditions

Consider now N_{-1} spanned by one vector $\mathbf{u}^m = (u_1, u_2, \dots, u_{v_m})$ with all components different from zero. Then we obtain the hyperplanar Dirichlet boundary conditions described before by (19). To calculate the spectral and algebraic multiplicities one has to perform the same steps as for hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions arriving at the following system (instead of (34)) :

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{a}_j - \tilde{a}_{j-(-1)^j} = \beta_m u^m(x_j), & x_j \in V_m \\ \sum_{x_j \in V_m} (\tilde{a}_j + \tilde{a}_{j-(-1)^j}) u^m(x_j) = 0 & m = 1, \dots, M, \end{cases}$$
(37)

where \tilde{a}_j denote the corresponding amplitudes in representation (24).

Consider the following mapping:

$$\begin{cases} a_k = (-1)^k \tilde{a}_k \\ w(x_k) = (-1)^{k+1} u(x_k), \end{cases}$$
(38)

89

which establishes a one-to-one correspondence between solutions to (34) and (37). In the case of hyperplanar Neumann boundary conditions the spectral and algebraic multiplicities satisfy

$$m_s^N(0) = C, \qquad m_a^N(0) - m_s^N(0) = C + N - M.$$
 (39)

As a result of mapping (38) we get the following relations between spectral $m_s^D(0)$ and algebraic $m_a^D(0)$ multiplicities of the zero eigenvalue for hyperplanar Dirichlet boundary conditions:

$$m_s^D(0) = m_a^N(0) - m_s^N(0) = C + N - M, m_a^D(0) - m_s^D(0) = m_s^N(0) = C.$$
(40)

Therefore $m_s^D(0) = C + N - M$ and $m_a^D(0) = 2C + N - M$. We have proven the following theorem.

Theorem 17. The spectral and algebraic multiplicities of the ground state eigenvalue $\lambda = 0$ for the Laplace operator with consistent hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet boundary conditions are equal to:

$$m_s^N(0) = C, \qquad m_a^N(0) = m_a^D(0) = 2C - \chi, m_s^D(0) = C - \chi,$$
(41)

where C is the number of connected components and $\chi = M - N$.

Formulas (31) and (32) show that the knowledge of the spectrum allows one to calculate $m_s(0)$ and $2m_s(0) - m_a(0)$ following ideas of [11] and [12]. This means that the algebraic multiplicity $m_a(0)$ is determined by the spectrum of the Laplacian. Observe that $m_a(0)$ for both hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet conditions is equal to $2C - \chi$. In particular for connected graphs the Euler characteristics is determined by the spectrum for both hyperplanar Neumann and Dirichlet boundary conditions without knowing a priori which class of conditions occurs.

References

- [1] S. Datta, *Electronic transport in mesoscopic systems* (1997) Cambridge, Cambridge Univ. Press
- [2] P. Exner, Contact interactions on graph superlattices, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. bf 29 (1996) 87–102
- [3] P. Exner and P. Šeba, Free quantum motion on a branching graph, *Rep. Math. Phys.* 28 (1989) 7–26.
- [4] N. Gerasimenko and B. Pavlov, Scattering problems on noncompact graphs *Teoret*. *Mat. Fiz.* **74** (1988) 345–59 (Eng. transl. *Theoret. and Math. Phys.* **74** (1988) 230–40)

- [5] B. Gutkin and U. Smilansky, Can one hear the shape of a graph? J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 34 (2001) 6061–8
- [6] M. Harmer, Hermitian symplectic geometry and extension theory, J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 33 (2000) 9193–203
- [7] V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader, Kirchoff's rule for quantum wires J. Phys A. Math. Gen. 32 (1999) 595–630
- [8] V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader, Kirchoff's rule for quantum wires. II: The inverse problem with possible applications to quantum computers, *Fortschr. Phys.* 48 (2000) 703–16
- [9] V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader, The inverse scattering problem for metric graphs and the traveling salesman problem, arXiv:math-ph/0603010
- [10] P. Kuchment, Quantum graphs. I. Some basic structures. Special section on quantum graphs Waves Random Media 14 (2004) S107–28
- [11] P. Kurasov, Graph Laplacians and Topology, accepted for publication in *Arkiv för Matematik*.
- [12] P. Kurasov, Schrödinger Operators on Graphs and Geometry I: Essentially Bounded Potentials, Report N9, Dept. of Math., Lund Univ., 2007.
- [13] P. Kurasov and M. Nowaczyk, Inverse spectral problem for quantum graphs, J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 38 (2005) 4901–15
- [14] P. Kurasov and F. Stenberg, On the inverse scattering problem on branching graphs J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 35 (2002) 101–21
- [15] J-P. Roth, Le spectre du laplacien sur un graphe Lectures Notes in Mathematics: Theorie du Potentiel 1096 (1984) 521-39
- [16] T. Taniguchi and M. Büttiker, Friedel phases and phases of transmission amplitudes in quantum scattering systems, *Phys. Rev. B* 60 (1999) 13814–23

DEPT. OF MATHEMATICS, LTH, LUND UNIV., BOX 118, 221 00 LUND, SWEDEN; *E-mail address:* kurasov@maths.lth.se

DEPT. OF MATHEMATICS, LTH, LUND UNIV., BOX 118, 221 00 LUND, SWEDEN; *E-mail adress*: marlena@maths.lth.se

Paper IV

On the Reconstruction of the Boundary Conditions for Star Graphs *

Sergei Avdonin, Pavel Kurasov and Marlena Nowaczyk

ABSTRACT. The Laplace operator on a star graph is considered. The problem to recover the vertex matching boundary conditions from a part of the scattering matrix is investigated.

1. Introduction

Differential operator on geometric graphs have been studied from the beginning of 80-ies [8; 11], but recent interest in nano-structures has led to enormous interest in mathematical studies of the problem [14; 16; 17; 19]. In this article we discuss the possibility to reconstruct the matching (boundary) conditions at the unique vertex of a star graph from the corresponding scattering matrix. This problem can easily be solved if the total scattering matrix is known (see [15]), and it has been shown recently that the scattering matrix at a particular value of the energy can effectively be used to uniquely parameterize the matching conditions [18]. The problem we are interested in is the possibility to reconstruct the matching conditions if only a part of the scattering matrix is known, more precisely the principal $(v - 1) \times (v - 1)$ block $(S_v(k_0))_{v;v}$, where v is the valency of the vertex. This problem can be considered as the first step towards reconstruction of the vertex matching conditions for trees from the corresponding scattering matrix.

The problem of reconstructing the Schrödinger operator on a star graph was first discussed by N.I. Gerasimenko and B.S. Pavlov [11; 12] using the Gelfand-Levitan-Marchenko method. The inverse spectral and scattering problems for trees have intensively been studied in recent years by M. Belishev, M. Brown, R. Carlson, G. Freiling, A. Vakulenko, R. Weikard, V. Yurko, and the authors [1; 2; 4; 5; 6; 7; 9; 10; 21]. It has been proven that the knowledge of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann map, or Titchmarsh-Weyl matrix function allows one to calculate the potential for standard boundary conditions at the vertices. The case of more general boundary conditions has

^{*}Submitted to Proceedings of *Quantum Graphs, their Spectra and Applications* 2-5 April 2007, Cambridge.

¹⁹⁹¹ Mathematics Subject classification. Primary 81C05, 35R30, 35L05, 93B05, 49E15.

Key words and phrases. quantum graphs, inverse problems, matching conditions.

S.A.'s research is supported in part by the National Science Foundation, grants OPP 0414128, ARC 0724860 and DMS 0648786; P.K.'s research is supported in part by the grants from Swedish Research Council and The Swedish Royal Academy of Sciences. The authors would like to thank V. Ufnarovski for helpful discussions.



been discussed in [10], but the whole family of boundary conditions has not been investigated yet.

In the current article we consider the most general family of properly connecting self-adjoint boundary conditions. It is discovered that so-called *asymptotically properly connecting* conditions play a very important role. Such boundary conditions correspond to vertex scattering matrices $S_v(k)$ tending to the limit matrix S_v^{∞} as $k \to \infty$, which cannot be written in the blockdiagonal form (after a certain permutation of the coordinates). It appeared that for such boundary conditions the principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block of the scattering matrix known for one particular value of the energy essentially determines the boundary conditions (up to one real parameter, which in principle cannot be recovered and provided one additional easily checked condition is satisfied). Explicit interpretation of this free parameter is given using unitary equivalent operators. In the second part of the paper it is shown that knowing in addition the diagonal elements of the principal block for a finite number of energies one may reconstruct the boundary conditions even in the case of just *properly connecting* boundary conditions.

All results are proven so far for the Laplace operator on the star graph with most general self-adjoint matching conditions at the vertex, but it is not hard to generalize these conditions to include potentials with compact support using Boundary Control method [3] following ideas already developed in [1]. It is our future aim to apply these results to solve the most general inverse problem for trees consisting of recovering the geometric tree, potential on it and boundary conditions at the vertices.

The paper is organized as follows. In the following section main notations and definitions are given. The cases of asymptotically properly connecting and just properly connecting matching conditions are considered in sections 3. and 4..

2. Scattering on a star graph

Let us denote by Γ_{star} the star graph formed by v edges $\Delta_j = [x_{2j-1}, \infty)$ joined together at one vertex $V = \{x_{2j-1}\}_{j=1}^{v}$. Consider the Laplace operator $L = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2}$ in $L_2(\Gamma_{\text{star}})$ defined on the set of functions from $W_2^2(\Gamma_{\text{star}} \setminus V)$ satisfying the following matching conditions at the vertex

$$i(S-I)\boldsymbol{\psi}(V) = (S+I)\partial_n\boldsymbol{\psi}(V),\tag{1}$$

where S is a $v \times v$ unitary matrix and $\psi(V)$ and $\partial_n \psi(V)$ are v-dimensional vectors of the values of ψ and its normal derivative at the vertex V. The unitary matrix appearing in (1) is just the vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k), k^2 = E$ for k = 1. The vertex scattering matrix may be defined by considering scattering waves on Γ_{star} . Every solution to the equation $-\psi''(k,x) = k^2\psi(k,x)$ can be written as a combination of the incoming $e^{-ik|x-x_{2j-1}|}$ and outgoing $e^{ik|x-x_{2j-1}|}$ waves:

$$\psi(k,x) = b_j e^{-ik|x-x_{2j-1}|} + a_j e^{ik|x-x_{2j-1}|}, \ x \in \Delta_j.$$

Substitution into the matching conditions (1) determines connection between the amplitudes of incoming and outgoing waves

a

$$=S_{v}(k)\boldsymbol{b},\tag{2}$$

where $S_v(k)$ is the vertex scattering matrix

$$S_v(k) = \frac{(k+1)S + k - 1}{(k-1)S + k + 1}, \ k \neq 0.$$
(3)

This formula allows one to establish explicit connection between vertex scattering matrices for different values of the energy parameter (see [15])

$$S_{v}(k) = \frac{(k+k_{0})S_{v}(k_{0}) + k - k_{0}}{(k-k_{0})S_{v}(k_{0}) + k + k_{0}}, \ k, k_{0} \neq 0.$$

$$\tag{4}$$

The unitary matrix S parameterizes the boundary conditions in the unique way and therefore encodes all information concerning these conditions. In particular, one may understand whether the boundary conditions connect all edges properly or not. In what follows we shall need the notion of asymptotically properly connecting boundary conditions. It is possible to prove that for $k \to \infty$ the vertex scattering matrix $S_v(k)$ tends to a certain limit. If the boundary conditions are properly connecting there is no guarantee, that the limit scattering matrix corresponds to properly connecting conditions. In other words it may happen that the connection between certain channels becomes weak and therefore for large energies the corresponding vertex is seen as two (or more) independent vertices. Let us therefore use the following

Definition 1. Vertex boundary conditions are called **properly connecting** if the vertex cannot be divided into two (or more) vertices so that the boundary conditions connect together only boundary values belonging to each of the new vertices. Vertex boundary conditions are called **asymptotically properly connecting** if the limit scattering matrix S_v^{∞} corresponds to certain properly connecting boundary conditions.

It is clear that every asymptotically properly connecting boundary condition is properly connecting. In the rest of this article we consider first asymptotically properly connecting and then just properly connections matching conditions.

Criteria for S to be properly connecting is rather simple: the matching conditions are properly connecting if and only if the matrix S cannot be transformed into a block-diagonal form by a permutation of the indices. To understand whether S is asymptotically properly connecting or not one has to use its spectral representation as a unitary matrix. Let us denote by $N_{e^{i\theta_j}}$ the eigensubspace corresponding to the eigenvalue $e^{i\theta_j}$. Then it is possible to prove that the limit scattering matrix $S_v^{\infty} = \lim_{k \to \infty} S_v(k)$ has eigenvalues ± 1 with the following eigensubspaces [13, 18]

$$N_{-1}^{\infty} = N_{-1} \text{ and } N_1^{\infty} = \mathbb{C}^v \ominus N_{-1} = N_{-1}^{\perp}.$$
 (5)

Then it is not hard to prove the following

Proposition 2 (Theorem 6.5 from [18]). The boundary conditions are asymptotically properly connecting if and only if N_{-1} is not perpendicular to any coordinate subspace.

By coordinate subspace we mean any subspace in \mathbb{C}^n spanned by one or several vectors from the standard basis, but doesn't coincide with \mathbb{C}^n

3. Recovering of the asymptotically properly connecting matching conditions

In this section we discuss the possibility to reconstruct the matching conditions from the principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block $(S_v(k))_{v;v}$ of the vertex scattering matrix. This part of the matrix is obtained when we send plane waves along the first v-1 edges and measure the reflected waves coming along the same edges. Let us discuss first whether this reconstruction is unique or not. Consider the following unitary transformation in $L_2(\Gamma_{\text{star}})$

$$(T_{\theta}f)(x) = \begin{cases} f(x), & x \in \Delta_j, j = 1, 2, ..., v - 1; \\ e^{i\theta}f(x), & x \in \Delta_v. \end{cases}$$
(6)

This transformation does not change the differential operator but do change the matching conditions at the vertex, i. e. the operator $L^{\theta} = T_{\theta}^{-1}LT_{\theta}$ is given by the same differential expression $-d^2/dx^2$, but the matrix S in boundary conditions (1) has to be substituted with

$$S^{\theta} = R_{\theta} S^0 R_{-\theta}, \quad S^0 = S, \tag{7}$$

where R_{θ} is the following $v \times v$ matrix:

$$R_{\theta} = \operatorname{diag}\left\{1, 1, ..., 1, e^{i\theta}\right\} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots\\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & e^{i\theta} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8)

It is clear that this transformation does not change the block $(S_v(k))_{v,v}$ of the matrix S. The same holds for the vertex scattering matrix, since (3) implies that

$$S_v^{\theta}(k) = R_{\theta} S_v^0(k) R_{-\theta}, \tag{9}$$

where $S_v^{\theta}(k)$ is the vertex scattering matrix corresponding to the new conditions.

The following theorem implies that the knowledge of the principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block of the vertex scattering matrix allows one to reconstruct the whole matrix up to one real parameter corresponding to the transformation T_{θ} , provided the boundary conditions at the vertex are asymptotically properly connecting.

Theorem 3. Consider the set of $v \times v$ vertex scattering matrices S_v determined by certain asymptotically properly connecting vertex boundary conditions and having the same principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block $(S_v(k_0))_{v;v}$ with $det((S_v(k_0))_{v;v} + 1) \neq 0$. This family of matrices can be described by one real phase parameter so that

$$S_v^{\theta}(k) = R_{\theta} S_v^0(k) R_{-\theta}, \tag{10}$$

where R_{θ} is given by (8) and $S_v^0(k)$ is a certain particular member of the family.

Proof. Reconstruction of an unitary matrix from its principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block in general contains two arbitrary phase parameters and can be carried out using the fact that the entries of an unitary matrix satisfy the normalization and orthogonality conditions:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{v} \frac{|s_{ij}|^2}{|s_{ij}|^2} = 1, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{v} \frac{|s_{ij}|^2}{|s_{ij}|^2} = 1;$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{v} \frac{|s_{ij}|^2}{|s_{ij}|^2} = 0, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{v} \frac{|s_{ij}|^2}{|s_{ij}|^2} = 0.$$

Assume that the principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block $(S_v(k_0))_{v;v}$ of the matrix $S_v(k_0)$ is known. Consider the last row in $S_v(k_0)$. The absolute values of $s_{vj}(k_0)$, j = 1, 2, ..., v - 1 can be calculated from the normalization conditions. At least one of these numbers is different from zero, otherwise the matrix $S_v(k_0)$ is block-diagonal and does not correspond to asymptotically properly connecting boundary conditions. Consider any such different from zero element, say with the index v1. All possible values of this element can be described by one real phase parameter α as follows $s_{v1} = |s_{v1}|e^{i\alpha}$. Then all other elements s_{vj} , j = 2, ..., v - 1 can be reconstructed using orthogonality conditions. In the same way one may consider the last column and introduce a parameter $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $s_{1v} = |s_{1v}|e^{i\beta}$. Then the element s_{vv} is uniquely determined.**

Let us summarize our calculations by stating the following result: the family of vertex scattering matrices having the same principal $(v - 1) \times (v - 1)$ block can be described by two real parameters so that

$$S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k_0) = R_\alpha S_v^0(k_0) R_\beta,\tag{11}$$

where $S_v^0(k_0)$ is a certain particular member of the family. It remains to prove that the subfamily corresponding to asymptotically properly connecting matching conditions is described by just one parameter using (10). Assume that $S_v^0(k_0)$ is a particular member of the subfamily. Every vertex scattering matrix corresponding to asymptotically properly connecting boundary conditions has eigenvalue -1, which implies that

$$\det(S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k_0)+I) = 0 \Rightarrow \det(S_v^0(k_0)+R_{-(\alpha+\beta)}) = 0.$$

In the last equality we may use that the determinant is linear with respect to the entry with the index vv to get

$$0 = \det(S_v^0(k_0) + I) + (e^{-i(\alpha+\beta)} - 1)\det(S_v(k_0))_{v;v} = (e^{-i(\alpha+\beta)} - 1)\det(S_v(k_0))_{v;v}$$

where we have taken into account that $\det(S_v^0(k_0) + I) = 0$. It follows that $\alpha = -\beta$, since $\det(S_v(k_0))_{v;v} \neq 0$. We have proven that all possible $S_v(k)$ satisfy (10) for $k = k_0$. Then formula (4) implies that (10) holds for any real k.

It follows that in the case of asymptotically properly connecting matching conditions the vertex scattering matrix for all values of the energy can be recovered from its principal $(v - 1) \times (v - 1)$ block given for a certain value of the energy parameter k up to one real parameter connected with the unitary transformation given by (9) (provided det $((S_v(k_0))_{v;v} + I) \neq 0)$). The corresponding Laplace operators are all unitary equivalent to each other.

We would like to mention that the result just proven is an extension of Theorem 1 from [15], where it is shown that the knowledge of the (whole) scattering matrix for a certain energy allows one to reconstruct the boundary conditions at the vertex and therefore determine the vertex scattering matrix for all other values of the energy.

4. Recovering of the properly connecting matching conditions

In the rest of this article we discuss the possibility to recover the matching conditions from the principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block of the scattering matrix given for different energies, but without assuming that the boundary conditions are asymptotically properly connecting. It is assumed that the boundary conditions are just properly connecting. This restriction is not essential, since in

^{**}Only if the matrix $S_v(k_0)$ is block-diagonal, the element s_{vv} has to be chosen with unit absolute value but otherwise arbitrarily, but this case cannot occur under our assumptions.

the case of not properly connecting conditions one may solve the inverse problem for each block separately. The only case that has to be excluded is where the last edge is not connected to the rest of the star graph. It is clear that in this case no information concerning the boundary condition for edge number v is contained in the principal $(v - 1) \times (v - 1)$ block of the scattering matrix.

In the following theorem we are proving that the knowledge of the principal block $(S_v(k))_{v;v}$ for several energies allows one to reconstruct the boundary conditions at the vertex up to the unitary transformation given by (7) and (8).

Theorem 4. Consider the set of $v \times v$ vertex scattering matrices S_v determined by certain properly connecting vertex boundary conditions and having the same principal $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block $(S_v(k_0))_{v;v}$, $k_0 > 0$. Assume in addition that these matrices have the same diagonal elements $s_{jj}(k_n)$, j = 1, 2, ..., v-1 for certain different $k_n > 0$, $k_n \neq k_0$, n = 1, 2, ..., 2v-3. Then this family of matrices can be described by one real phase parameter so that

$$S_v^{\theta}(k) = R_{\theta} S_v^0(k) R_{-\theta}, \qquad (12)$$

where R_{θ} is given by (8) and $S_v^0(k)$ is a certain particular member of the family.

Proof. Assume that one particular unitary matrix $S_v^0(k_0)$ has been calculated from the value of its principal $(v - 1) \times (v - 1)$ block. Then any other unitary matrix with the same principal block is given by (11). This formula includes two arbitrary parameters and it remains to show, that the knowledge of v - 1 diagonal elements allows one to eliminate one of these parameters.

Consider one of the matrices $S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k_0)$ from the two-parameter family described by (11). Then the scattering matrix for all values of the energy parameter k can be calculated using (4)

$$S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k) = \frac{(k+k_0)S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k_0) + k - k_0}{(k-k_0)S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k_0) + k + k_0}.$$
(13)

In particular, its element with the index 11 is

$$\left(S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k) \right)_{11} = \frac{k+k_0}{k-k_0} - \frac{4kk_0}{k^2-k_0^2} \left(S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k_0) + \frac{k+k_0}{k-k_0} \right)_{11}^{-1}$$

$$= \frac{k+k_0}{k-k_0} - \frac{4kk_0}{k^2-k_0^2} \left(S_v^0(k_0) + \frac{k+k_0}{k-k_0} R_{-\alpha-\beta} \right)_{11}^{-1},$$
(14)

where we used the fact that the matrices R_{θ} do not change the principle $(v-1) \times (v-1)$ block and, in particular, the element with the index 11. In what follows we are going to use the notion of rejected minor. Let A be any quadratic $n \times n$ matrix, then the rejected minor $A_{i;j}$ is the quadratic matrix of dimension $(n-1) \times (n-1)$ obtained from A by rejecting the row i and the column j. Similarly the rejected minor $A_{i_1,i_2;j_1,j_2}$ is obtained from the matrix A by rejecting the rows i_1, i_2 and the columns j_1, j_2 [20]. With these notations the diagonal element of the scattering matrix can be calculated

$$\left(S_{v}^{\alpha,\beta}(k)\right)_{11} = \sigma - \left(\sigma - \frac{1}{\sigma}\right) \frac{\det(S_{v}^{0}(k_{0}) + \sigma)_{1;1} + \sigma(e^{-i\gamma} - 1)\det(S_{v}^{0}(k_{0}) + \sigma)_{1,v;1,v}}{\det(S_{v}^{0}(k_{0}) + \sigma) + \sigma(e^{-i\gamma} - 1)\det(S_{v}^{0}(k_{0}) + \sigma)_{v;v}},$$
(15)

where $\sigma = \frac{k+k_0}{k-k_0}$, $\gamma = \alpha + \beta$ and $k \neq k_0$. All determinants appearing in this formula are different from zero, since the matrix $S_v^0(k_0)$ is unitary and $\sigma > 1$ (remember that k > 0). This formula shows that in general situation the knowledge of $(S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k))_{11}$ for a certain $k \neq k_0$ allows one to calculate γ (up to unessential factor 2π). This is impossible if and only if $(S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k))_{11}$ does not depend on γ , *i.e.* the equality

$$\det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma) \det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{1,v;1,v} - \det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{1;1} \det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{v;v} = 0$$
(16)
holds. It might happen that γ cannot be recovered even if the element 11 of $S_v^{\alpha,\beta}(k)$ is known for all k > 0. This occurs if (16) holds for all $\sigma > 0$ (remember that $\sigma = \frac{k+k_0}{k-k_0}$). Using Jacobi identity (Section 3.6.1 from [20])

$$\det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma) \det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{1,v;1,v}$$

=
$$\det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{1;1} \det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{v;v} - \det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{1;v} \det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{v;1}$$
(17)

condition (16) can be written as

$$\det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{1;v} \det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{v;1} = 0,$$
(18)

and it holds for $\sigma = \frac{k_n + k_0}{k_n - k_0}$, n = 1, 2, ..., 2v - 3. This implies that at least one of the determinants, say $\det(S_v^0(k_0) + \sigma)_{v;1}$ is equal to zero for v - 1 different values of σ . But this determinant is a polynomial in σ of order v - 2 with the zero and leading coefficients equal to $\det(S_v^0(k_0))_{v;1}$ and $(S_v^0(k_0))_{1v}$ respectively. It follows that $\det(S_v^0(k_0))_{v;1} = 0 = (S_v^0(k_0))_{1v}$, but taking into account that $S_v^0(k_0)$ is unitary $\det(S_v^0(k_0))_{v;1} = 0$ implies that $(S_v^0(k_0))_{v;1} = 0$. Summing up we see that the parameter γ cannot be recovered from $(S_v(k))_{11}$ only if $(S_v^0(k_0))_{1v} = (S_v^0(k_0))_{v;1} = 0$.

Consider now any element $(S_v(k))_{mm}$, m = 2, ..., v - 1. Similar analysis implies that the parameter γ can be recovered from $(S_v(k_n))_{mm}$, n = 1, 2, ..., 2v - 3 unless the entries $(S_v^0(k_0))_{1m}$ and $(S_v^0(k_0))_{m1}$ are equal to zero. In other words the parameter γ can be calculated from one of the diagonal elements $(S_v(k))_{mm}$, m = 1, ..., v - 1, unless all entries $(S_v^0(k_0))_{1m}$ and $(S_v^0(k_0))_{m1}$ m = 1, ..., v - 1 are equal to zero. But this means that $S_v^0(k_0)$ has a block diagonal form and hence the corresponding boundary conditions are not properly connecting.

This theorem can be improved, which we would like to illustrate by the following example. Let v = 3. Then the parameter γ cannot be recovered from $(S_v(k_n))_{11}$, n = 1, 2, 3 only if $(S_v^0(k_0))_{13} = 0$ and $\det(S_v^0(k_0))_{3;1} = 0$, which implies that at least one of the entries $(S_v^0(k_0))_{12}$ and $(S_v^0(k_0))_{23}$ is equal to zero. Hence $S_v(k_0)$ is block-diagonal and the boundary conditions are not properly connecting.

References

- S.A. Avdonin and P. Kurasov, *Inverse problems for quantum trees*, to appear in *Inverse Problems and Imaging* (Report Ni07022, Isaac Newton Institute for Mathematical Sciences, 2007).
- [2] M. I. Belishev, Boundary spectral inverse problem on a class of graphs (trees) by the BC method, *Inverse Problems*, 20 (2004), 647–672.
- [3] M.I. Belishev, Recent progress in the boundary control method, *Inverse Problems*, 23 (2007), R1–R67.
- [4] M.I. Belishev and A.F. Vakulenko, Inverse problems on graphs: recovering the tree of strings by the BC-method, J. Inv. Ill-Posed Problems, 14 (2006), 29–46.
- [5] B.M. Brown, R. Weikard, A Borg-Levinson theorem for trees, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci., 461 (2005), no. 2062, 3231–3243.

- [6] B.M. Brown, R. Weikard, On inverse problems for finite trees, to be published in *Proc.* OTAMP 2006.
- [7] R. Carlson, Inverse eigenvalue problems on directed graphs, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 351 (1999), 4069–88.
- [8] P. Exner and P. Šeba, Free quantum motion on a branching graph, *Rep. Math. Phys.*, **28** (1989), 7-26.
- [9] G. Freiling and V. Yurko, Inverse problems for Strum-Liouville operators on noncompact trees, *Results Math.*, 50 (2007), no. 3-4, 195–212.
- [10] G. Freiling and V. Yurko, Inverse problems for differential operators on trees with general matching conditions, *Applicable Analysis*, 86 (2007), no. 6, 653–667.
- [11] N.I. Gerasimenko and B. Pavlov, Scattering problems on noncompact graphs, *Teoret. Mat. Fiz.*, 74 (1988), 345–59 (Eng. transl. *Theoret. and Math. Phys.*, 74 (1988), 230–40).
- [12] N.I. Gerasimenko, Inverse scattering problem on a noncompact graph, *Teoret. Mat. Fiz.*, 75 (1988), 187–200 (Eng. transl. *Theoret. and Math. Phys.*, 75 (1988), 460–70).
- [13] M. Harmer, Inverse scattering on matrices with boundary conditions, J. Phys. A, 38 (2005), no. 22, 4875–4885.
- [14] V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader, Kirchoff's rule for quantum wires, J. Phys A:Math. Gen., 32 (1999), 595–630.
- [15] V. Kostrykin and R. Schrader, Kirchhoff's rule for quantum wires. II. The inverse problem with possible applications to quantum computers, Fortschr. Phys. 48 (2000), no. 8, 703– 716.
- [16] P. Kuchment, Waves in periodic and random media. Proceedings of the AMS-IMS-SIAM Joint Summer Research Conference held at Mount Holyoke College, South Hadley, MA, June 22–28, 2002 Contemporary Mathematics 339 (2003) (Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society).
- [17] P. Kuchment, Quantum graphs. I. Some basic structures. Special section on quantum graphs Waves Random Media 14 (2004), S107–28.
- [18] P. Kurasov and M. Nowaczyk, Geometric properties of quantum graphs and vertex scattering matrices, Preprint 2007:21, Center for Mathematical Sciences, Lund University.
- [19] P. Kurasov and F. Stenberg, On the inverse scattering problem on branching graphs, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen., 35 (2002), 101–21.
- [20] R. Vein and P. Dale, Determinants and their applications in mathematical physics, *Applied Mathematical Sciences* 134 Springer-Verlag, New York, 1999.
- [21] V. Yurko, Inverse spectral problems for Sturm–Lioville operators on graphs, *Inverse Problems*, 21 (2005) 1075–1086.
- 102

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS, UNIVERSITY OF ALASKA, FAIRBANKS, AK 99775-6660, USA *E-mail address:* ffsaa@uaf.edu

DEPT. OF MATHEMATICS, LTH, LUND UNIV., BOX 118, 221 00 LUND, SWEDEN; *E-mail address:* kurasov@maths.lth.se

DEPT. OF MATHEMATICS, LTH, LUND UNIV., BOX 118, 221 00 LUND, SWEDEN; *E-mail adress*: marlena@maths.lth.se

PAPER IV